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Forward Looking Statements

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements include, without limitation, any statement that may predict, forecast, indicate or
imply future results, performance or achievements, and may contain the words “believe,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “estimate,” “intend,”
“project,” “will be,” “will likely continue,” “will likely result,” or words or phrases of similar meaning. These forward-looking
statements are based largely on the expectations of management and are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties including, but
not limited to, the following:

•       the risks and other factors described under the heading “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report;

•       expansion and growth of our operations generally or of specific products or services;

•       our ability to attract and retain key personnel, including highly qualified brokerage personnel;

•       our entrance into new brokerage markets, investments in establishing new brokerage desks;

•       competition from current and new competitors;

•       future results of operations and financial condition;

•       the success of our business strategies;

•       economic, political and market factors affecting trading volumes, securities prices, or demand for our brokerage services;

•       financial difficulties experienced by our customers or key participants in the markets in which we focus our brokerage
services;

•       risks associated with potential acquisitions by us of businesses or technologies;

•       our ability to manage our international operations;

•       uncertainties associated with currency fluctuations;

•       our failure to protect or enforce our intellectual property rights;

•       our ability to keep up with rapid technological change;

•       changes in laws and regulations governing our business and operations or permissible activities and our ability to comply with
such laws and regulations;

•       uncertainties relating to litigation; and

•       changes in the availability of capital.

The foregoing risks and uncertainties, as well as those risks discussed under the headings “Item 1A—Risk Factors”; “Item
7—Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Item 7A—Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” and elsewhere is this Annual Report, may cause actual results to differ materially from
the forward-looking statements. The information included herein is given as of the filing date of this Form 10-K with the Securities
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and future events or circumstances could differ significantly from
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these forward-looking statements. The Company does not undertake to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements,
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

PART I.

ITEM 1.                BUSINESS

Our Business

Introduction

We are a leading inter-dealer broker specializing in over-the-counter derivatives products and related securities. We founded our
business in 1987 and were incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in 2001 to be a holding company for our subsidiaries.
We provide brokerage services and data and analytics products to institutional clients in markets for a range of credit, financial, equity
and commodity instruments. We function as an intermediary on behalf of our brokerage clients by matching their trading needs with
counterparties having reciprocal interests. We focus on the more complex, and often less liquid, markets for sophisticated financial
instruments, primarily over-the-counter derivatives, that offer an opportunity for strong growth and higher commissions per
transaction than the markets for more standardized financial instruments. We have been recognized by various industry publications as
a leading provider of inter-dealer brokerage services for certain products in the credit, financial, equity and commodity markets on
which we focus.

We offer our clients a hybrid brokerage approach, combining a range of telephonic and electronic trade execution services,
depending on the needs of the individual markets. We complement our hybrid brokerage capabilities with decision support products,
such as value-added data and analytics software. We earn revenues for our brokerage services and charge fees for certain of our data
and analytics products.

At December 31, 2005, we had 150 brokerage desks and 777 brokerage personnel (consisting of brokers, trainees and clerks)
serving over 1,700 brokerage and data and analytics clients, including leading commercial and investment banks, through our
principal offices in New York, Englewood (NJ), London, Paris, Hong Kong, Tokyo, Singapore and Sydney. As of December 31,
2005, we employed 694 brokers.

Website Access to Reports

Our Internet website address is www.gfigroup.com. Through our Internet website, we make available, free of charge, the
following reports as soon as reasonably practicable after electronically filing them with, or furnishing them to, the SEC: our annual
report on Form 10-K; our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q; our current reports on Form 8-K; Forms 3, 4 and 5 filed on behalf of
directors and executive officers; and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Our Proxy Statements for our Annual Meetings will also be available
through our Internet website.

Information relating to corporate governance of the Company is also available on our website including information concerning
our directors, board committees, including committee charters, our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for all employees and for
senior financial officers and our compliance procedures for accounting and auditing matters. In addition, the Investor Relations
page of our website includes supplemental financial information that we make available from time to time.

Our Internet website and the information contained therein or connected thereto are not intended to be incorporated into this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Our Industry

On most business days, trillions of dollars in securities, commodities, currencies and derivative instruments are traded around the
world. These products range from standardized financial instruments, such as common equity securities and futures contracts, that are
typically traded on exchanges, to more complex, less standardized instruments, such as over-the-counter derivatives, that are typically
traded between institutional dealers, which are primarily global investment banks and money center banks. Buyers and sellers of
exchange-traded financial instruments benefit from the price transparency and enhanced liquidity provided by liquidity facilitators,
such as market makers and specialists, who participate in those markets. Buyers and sellers of many over-the-counter instruments, on
the other hand, frequently rely on an inter-dealer broker to facilitate liquidity by gathering pricing information and identifying
counterparties with reciprocal interests.

Market Evolution

We define a liquid financial market as one in which a financial instrument is easy to buy or sell quickly with minimal price
disturbance. The liquidity of a market for a particular financial product or instrument depends on several factors, including:  the
presence of a number of market participants and facilitators of liquidity, the availability of pricing reference data, and the availability
of standardized terms. Liquid markets are characterized by substantial price competition, efficient execution and high trading volume.
While a market for an exchange-traded instrument is ordinarily liquid, some large over-the-counter markets, such as the market for
U.S. treasury securities, are also highly liquid. In such liquid, over-the-counter markets, commissions are generally lower because
there are often numerous, readily identifiable buyers and sellers causing the traditional telephonic brokerage services of inter-dealer
brokers to be less essential and to command less of a premium.

Less liquid markets are characterized by fewer participants, less price transparency and lower trading volumes. Complex
financial instruments that are traded over-the-counter are often less liquid and are traded primarily by more sophisticated institutional
buyers and sellers. In a less liquid market, an inter-dealer broker can provide greater value to the efficient execution of a trade by
applying its market knowledge to locate a number of bids and offers so that buyers and sellers may find counterparties with which to
trade, which can be especially helpful for large or non-standardized transactions. An inter-dealer broker ordinarily accomplishes this
by contacting potential counterparties directly by telephone or electronic messaging and, in some cases, with proprietary trading
technology. In addition, in a less liquid market with fewer participants, disclosure of the intention of a participant to buy or sell could
disrupt the market and lead to poor pricing. By using an inter-dealer broker, the identities of the transaction parties are not disclosed in
many transactions until the trade is consummated and, therefore, market participants better preserve their anonymity. For all these
reasons, in a less liquid market, an inter-dealer broker can offer important value to market participants.

As a market for a particular financial instrument develops and matures, more buyers and sellers enter the market, resulting in
more transactions and more pricing information. In addition, the terms of such financial instrument tend to become more standardized,
generally resulting in a more liquid market. In this way, a relatively illiquid market for an instrument may evolve over a period of time
into a more liquid market. As this evolution occurs, the characteristics of trading, the preferred mode of execution and the size of
commissions that inter-dealer brokers charge, may also change. In some cases, as the market matures, an inter-dealer broker may
provide a client with an electronic screen or system that displays the most current pricing information. In addition, a market may have
some characteristics of both more liquid and less liquid markets, which requires an inter-dealer broker to offer integrated telephonic
and electronic brokering. We refer to this integrated service as hybrid brokerage. In some cases, hybrid brokerage involves coupling
traditional broker-executed services with various electronic enhancements, such as
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electronic communications, price discovery tools and order entry. In other cases, hybrid brokerage involves full electronic execution
supported by telephonic communication between the broker and its clients.

The Derivatives Market

Derivatives are increasingly being used by financial institutions, hedge funds and large corporations to manage risk or take
advantage of an anticipated direction of a market by allowing holders to guard against gains or declines in the price of underlying
financial assets, indices or other investments, without having to buy or sell such underlying assets, indices or other investments. The
underlying asset, index or other investment may be, among other things, a physical commodity, an interest rate, a stock, an index or a
currency. Derivatives are commonly used to mitigate the risks associated with interest rate movements, equity ownership, changes in
the value of foreign currency, credit defaults by large corporate and sovereign debtors and changes in the prices of commodity
products. Common types of derivatives include futures, options and swaps. They derive their value based on the inherent value of the
underlying asset. According to a survey of its members conducted in 2003 by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association,
which we refer to as ISDA, over 90% of the world’s 500 largest companies use derivative instruments to manage and hedge their risks
more effectively.

Derivatives are traded both over-the-counter and on exchanges. According to a recent report of the Bank for International
Settlements, over-the-counter derivatives accounted for over 82% of the total outstanding global derivatives transactions as of
June 2005 (as measured by notional amount). The liquidity of markets for particular over-the-counter derivative instruments varies
from highly liquid, such as the market for Eurodollar interest rate derivatives, to illiquid, such as the market for certain customized
credit derivatives which are structured to meet specific investor needs.

ISDA also reported in a recent survey of its members that in the second half of 2005, among the derivative instruments surveyed,
credit derivatives were the fastest growing segment of the derivatives market with notional amounts outstanding growing 39% over
that six month period. The survey stated that at year-end 2005, notional amounts outstanding of credit derivatives grew to
approximately $17.3 trillion from approximately $8.4 trillion at year-end 2004. This increase represented period-over-period growth
of over 105%. Credit derivatives are currently traded entirely in over-the-counter transactions, either directly or through inter-dealer
brokers and other financial institutions.

Furthermore, the number of different derivative instruments is growing as companies and financial institutions develop new and
innovative derivative instruments to meet industry demands for sophisticated risk management and complex financial arbitrage. In its
2005 annual survey, Risk magazine identified 146 categories of derivatives, excluding commodity derivatives. Novel derivative
instruments often have distinct terms and little or no trading history with which to estimate a price. Markets for new derivative
instruments therefore require market intelligence and the services of highly skilled and well-informed brokers and reliable market data
and pricing tools.

An example of more novel, over-the-counter derivative instruments would be credit default swaps on asset-backed securities
(referred to as ABCDS). These instruments allow investors to take or offset risk of default in the asset-backed securities market, which
includes securities backed by home equity and commercial real estate loans, credit card receivables and loans for automobiles,
recreational vehicles and boats. Another example of an innovative and complex over-the-counter derivative instrument is carbon
emissions options, which allow trading houses and other market participants to take or offset their exposure in the fast growing
European market for carbon dioxide emissions allowances under the European Union Emissions Trading Scheme, or ETS. The ETS
permits European-based companies that exceed individual carbon dioxide emissions targets to purchase emissions allowances from
companies that emit less than their emissions targets.
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Our Market Opportunity

We believe the markets for financial instruments, especially the markets for derivative instruments, present us with the following
opportunities to provide value to our clients:

Need for efficient execution in both liquid and less liquid markets.   While the use of execution technology is becoming more
common in the inter-dealer brokerage industry, only certain highly liquid and standardized financial instruments may be fully traded
electronically in an efficient manner. More complex over-the-counter products, such as derivatives, typically require telephonic
brokerage to provide market intelligence to clients and to aid the execution process. We believe that inter-dealer brokers who provide
a combination of telephonic and electronic brokerage services are better positioned to meet the particular needs of the markets in
which they operate than competitors that cannot offer this combination of services.

Need for expertise in the development of new markets.   In order to better support their clients’ evolving investment and risk
management strategies, our dealer clients create new products, including new derivative instruments. Dealers also modify their trading
techniques in order to better support their clients’ needs, such as by integrating the trading of derivative instruments with the trading of
related underlying or correlated financial assets, indices or other investments. We believe the markets for these new products and
trading techniques create an opportunity for those inter-dealer brokers who, through market knowledge and extensive client
relationships, are able to identify these new product opportunities and to focus their brokerage services appropriately.

Need for market intelligence.   Inter-dealer brokers that execute a higher volume of trades of a particular financial product and
have access to more market participants are better positioned to provide valuable pricing information than brokers who less frequently
serve that market. In less liquid financial markets, including markets for novel and complex financial instruments, market leadership
becomes more important because reliable pricing information is scarce. Market participants in these less liquid markets utilize the
services of the leading inter-dealer brokers in order to gain access to the most bids and offers for a particular product. Similarly,
inter-dealer brokers who have a leading market share can offer superior market data and analytics tools based on their access to the
broadest selection of transaction and pricing information. For example, market participants are increasingly pursuing trading strategies
that combine credit default swaps with convertible bonds and equity derivatives of securities of a single issuer or a basket of issuers.
Inter-dealer brokers that have high volumes of bids and offers in the credit derivative markets and have access to technology which
allows them to track such market data against activity in the bond and equity markets are well positioned to provide market
participants with analytical insight into correlated movements in related securities of a single issuer or related issuers or indexes.

Increasing industry consolidation.   Historically, the inter-dealer brokerage industry consisted of a number of small and
mid-sized private companies that used traditional telephonic brokerage methods to serve their clients and to compete against each
other in various product categories. The industry has begun to consolidate in recent years, in part, due to the increasing importance of
technology, including electronic execution, integrated trade processing and analytics and market data. Through acquisitions, larger
inter-dealer brokers with access to capital have been better positioned to make the investments necessary to supply their clients with
this technology. As a result of these trends, smaller inter-dealer brokers may find it harder to compete and several have been acquired
by larger inter-dealer brokers with developed technological capabilities and better access to capital. We believe that the continued
consolidation of the industry provides an opportunity for these larger inter-dealer brokers to strategically expand their businesses to
better serve evolving client demands.

Our Competitive Strengths

We believe our principal competitive strengths are the following.
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Leading Position in Key Markets and Strong Brand.   We believe that over our eighteen year history, we have successfully
created value in our brand that our clients associate with high quality services in the markets on which we focus. Our leadership in
these markets, such as the markets for certain credit and equity derivatives, foreign exchange options and commodity products, has
been recognized by rankings in industry publications such as Risk magazine, FX Week and Energy Risk magazine. In an annual
survey conducted by Risk magazine, we have been named the leading broker in more categories of credit derivatives than any other
inter-dealer broker in each of the last seven years. In its 2005 annual survey, Risk magazine also named us as a leading broker in
numerous currency and equity options markets. The Risk magazine rankings are based on an annual survey of dealers and brokers in
the various markets covered by the magazine. In addition, our Fenics® FX option analysis product is a leading analytic tool in the
foreign exchange market. We believe our leading positions in these markets provide us with greater access to market and pricing
information in those markets, including a broad selection of proprietary market data that we are able to provide to our clients. In
addition, we believe that our leading market share in key over-the-counter markets, such as credit derivatives, and our ability to use
technology to track such market data, enables us to provide market participants with better analytical insight into correlated
movements in related securities of a single issuer or related issuers or indexes in the credit derivative, bond and equity markets than
other inter-dealer brokers can offer. We further believe our leadership positions in these areas and our well-developed relationships
with leading financial institutions better enables us to identify and exploit market opportunities resulting from the introduction of new
or evolving financial instruments in those markets.

Ability to Identify and Develop High Growth, Less Liquid Markets.   We focus on complex and innovative financial markets
where liquidity is harder to achieve and, therefore, our services are more valuable to market participants. We believe these markets
offer an opportunity for growth to inter-dealer brokers that move early to foster liquidity. We seek to anticipate the development and
growth of markets for evolving, innovative financial products in which we believe we can garner a leading market position and enjoy
higher commissions. For example, we entered the credit derivatives market in 1996, at a time when we believed the market showed
promise but had only modest activity. According to the British Bankers’ Association, the size of the global credit derivatives market
was only $180 billion in 1997 (measured by notional amount outstanding). According to ISDA, notional amounts outstanding of credit
derivatives have grown to $17.3 trillion at year-end 2005, a compounded annual growth rate of over 77% for that eight year period.
We believe our familiarity with the needs of such rapidly growing markets and our experience with complex product structures allow
us to better serve clients in high-growth, less liquid markets than many of our competitors.

Hybrid Brokerage Platforms.   Most of the trading in our markets was historically performed over the telephone between
individual brokers and clients. However, in an increasing number of the markets in which we participate, telephonic brokerage
services are being supplemented by electronic trading systems. While we expect this trend to continue, we believe that the more
complex, less liquid markets on which we focus often require significant amounts of personal and attentive service from our brokers.
We seek to tailor our use of technology to the trading nuances of each specific market. To the extent we identify a need for it in a
market, we offer a hybrid approach to our clients that combines a range of telephonic and electronic trade execution services
depending on the needs of the individual markets. For example, our clients may choose between utilizing our GFI CreditMatch®
electronic trading platform to trade credit derivatives entirely on screen or may execute the same transaction over the telephone
through our brokers. We also believe we add value for clients who trade in the complex financial markets in which we specialize by
offering data and Fenics® analytics products for decision support as well as our MarketHub analytics product for analytical insight
into correlated movements in related securities of a single issuer or related issuers or indexes. We seek to establish data
communication and “straight-through-processing” connections with our clients’ settlement, risk management and compliance
operations in order to better serve their needs and to strengthen our relationships with them. Straight-through-processing generally

8

Source: GFI Group Inc., 10-K, March 24, 2006



involves the use of technology to automate the processing of financial transactions, from execution to settlement, in order to minimize
human error, reduce operational costs and time, and enhance transaction information and reporting. We believe our hybrid brokerage
approach provides us with a competitive advantage over competitors who do not offer this technology.

Quality Data and Analytics Products.   We are one of the few inter-dealer brokers that offer a broad array of data and analytics
products to participants in the complex financial markets in which we specialize. Our data products are derived from the trade data
compiled from our brokerage services in our key markets. For example, our MarketHub analytics product is a cross-asset application
which combines our detailed credit default swaps data with exchange-traded equity and equity options data and news, commentary
and analytics in a single web-based application. Our MarketHub product is designed to give our brokers and clients a cross-asset view
of different securities in a company’s capital structure in order to identify and analyze correlated movements or other relationships
among financial instruments and markets. Our analytics products also benefit from the reputation of the Fenics® brand for reliability,
ease of use and independence from any large dealer. Our Fenics® tools are used, not only by our traditional brokerage clients, but also
by their clients, such as national and regional financial institutions and large corporations worldwide. These products are designed to
serve the needs of certain markets for reliable data and trusted analytics tools and are leveraged to enhance our brokerage revenues
across market products. We believe that our ability to offer these products helps to support our leadership in our key markets.

Experienced Senior Management and Skilled Brokers and Technology Developers.   We have a senior management team that
is experienced in identifying and exploiting markets for evolving, innovative financial instruments. We also employ over 690 skilled
and specialized brokers, many of whom have extensive product and industry experience. Working with our senior management, our
brokers have shown an ability to identify future trading markets and take advantage of opportunities they may present, which provides
us with a competitive advantage over firms that emphasize electronic trading in relatively mature markets. Although the competition
for brokers is intense, we have historically experienced low broker turnover, and have been able to effectively hire new brokers and
establish new brokerage desks in areas in which we seek to expand our operations. In addition, our in-house technology developers are
experienced at developing electronic trading platforms and commercial quality software that are tailored to the needs of certain select
markets in which we focus. Our brokers utilize this technology and market information to provide their clients with enhanced services.
We believe that the combination of our experienced senior management, skilled brokers and technology developers gives us a
competitive advantage in executing our business strategy.

Diverse Product and Service Offerings.   We offer our products and services in a diverse array of financial markets and
geographic regions. Historically, the markets on which we focus have volume and revenue cycles that are relatively distinct from each
other and have generally not been correlated to movements in the broad equity indices. Further, our decision support products,
including our market data and analytical tools, give us an opportunity to leverage and expand our client base, providing revenue
sources beyond our traditional brokerage clients. We believe our diverse product and service offerings provide us with a competitive
advantage over many of our competitors that may have more limited product and service offerings and, therefore, may be more
susceptible to downturns in a particular market or geographic region.

Our Strategy

We intend to continue to grow our business by being a leading provider of brokerage services and data and analytics to the
markets on which we focus. We intend to employ the following strategies to achieve our goals.
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Maintain and enhance our leading positions in key markets.   We intend to maintain our position as a leading provider of
brokerage services and data and analytics products to the markets on which we focus. We plan to continue leveraging the market
strength and brand recognition that we have developed for a range of derivative instruments and underlying securities in the credit,
financial, equity and commodity markets. We will also continue deploying our specialized brokers in higher-margin product areas and
improve their productivity through technological innovation. We intend to continue to leverage both our leading market share in key
over-the-counter markets, such as credit derivatives, and our technological ability to track such market data. This allows us to provide
market participants with analytical insight into correlated movements in related securities of a single issuer or related issuers or
indexes in the credit derivative, corporate bond and equity markets. We also intend to continue offering quality data and analytics
products in certain select products requiring reliable decision-support tools. Through these means, we seek to enhance our services in
existing markets and deepen long-standing relationships with our global institutional clients.

Continue to expand through hiring new brokers and identifying and developing less liquid, high-growth markets.   We
increased our number of brokerage desks by 49 desks to 150 desks at December 31, 2005 from 101 desks from December 31, 2004
and by 23 desks in 2004 to 101 desks at December 31, 2004 from 78 desks at December 31, 2003. Many of these brokerage desks
cover the less liquid, high-growth markets in which we specialize or cover markets that are complementary to those markets.
Combined, the revenue of brokerage desks opened or restructured since the beginning of 2003 represented 39.4% of our total revenues
for the year ended December 31, 2005. In the past, we have primarily established new brokerage desks through the strategic
redeployment of existing brokers from other brokerage desks and the selective hiring of new brokers. Individual brokerage desks are
separately tracked and monitored in an effort to drive performance. We will continue to focus on identifying high growth markets
where liquidity is more valuable and to actively pursue early-mover opportunities. We also intend to continue to expand our presence
in Europe and in the Asia-Pacific markets, where we believe there are opportunities to increase our revenues. As part of this effort, in
2005, we expanded our operations in Tokyo and entered into a lease for office space in Paris. In the first quarter of 2006, our Paris
office commenced operations.

Continue to pursue diverse revenue opportunities.   We offer our products and services in a diverse array of financial markets
and geographic regions, which we believe can lessen the impact to us of a downturn in any particular market or geographic region. We
intend to continue managing our business with the goal of maintaining the diversity of our revenues. On a geographic basis,
approximately 42.2% of our total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2005 was generated by our European operations, 50.2%
was generated by our North American operations and 7.6% was generated by our operations in the Asia-Pacific region. Additionally,
for the year ended December 31, 2005, no one customer accounted for more than approximately 7.5% of our total revenues from all
products, services and regions, and our largest brokerage desk accounted for less than 7.0% of total revenues.

Strategically expand our operations through business acquisitions.   Historically, the inter-dealer brokerage industry was
fragmented and concentrated mainly on country or regional specific marketplaces and discrete product sets, such as foreign exchange
or energy products. Over time, however, the industry has experienced increasing consolidation as larger inter-dealer brokers have
sought to enhance their global brokerage services and offset client commission pressure in maturing product categories by acquiring
smaller competitors that specialized in specific product markets. We plan to continue to selectively seek opportunities to expand our
relationships with large financial dealers into new or existing product areas through the acquisition of complementary businesses. As
part of this strategy, in September 2005, we acquired the North American business of Starsupply Petroleum LLC (“Starsupply”), a
leading broker of oil products and related derivative and option contracts for $15.3 million in cash, including $0.2 million of direct
transaction costs related to the acquisition, consisting primarily of legal and other professional fees. We believe that our increased
presence in the United States oil brokerage market is timely because of
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current volatility and uncertainty in world oil markets. We also believe the acquisition of Starsupply is complementary to our existing
commodity, energy and shipping brokerage services. We added nine energy-related desks from Starsupply, including petroleum
feedstocks, petroleum products, crude oil, petrochemicals, product derivatives, crude derivatives, crude and product options, fuel oil
and gas liquids. By increasing our product offerings, we can increase the number of points of contact with our institutional clients,
which we believe will further institutionalize our client relationships and strengthen the GFI brand.

Leverage infrastructure and technology to improve margins.   Although we will continue to invest in our operational
capabilities and technology, we believe that we are now well positioned to leverage our operations, technology and other support
areas, such as our executive and finance departments, to create cost efficiencies and improve margins. This leverage was demonstrated
in 2005 as total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2005 grew 38.6% over the prior year while income before provision for
income taxes grew 95.3%. Moreover, we will continue to provide technologically enhanced transaction capabilities and, where
possible, install “straight-through-processing” connections with our clients’ settlement, risk management and compliance operations,
in order to better serve their needs and to provide us with additional opportunities to increase our revenue. We will also continue to
seek to further expand our pre-tax margins through management of the cost of our operations and the selective application of
technology to improve broker productivity.

Our Market Focus

Our brokerage operations focus on a wide variety of credit, financial, equity and commodity instruments around the world.
Within these markets, we focus on the more complex, less liquid markets for sophisticated financial instruments, primarily
over-the-counter derivatives. Over-the-counter derivatives are generally structured as forwards, swaps or options. A forward is an
agreement between two parties to exchange an asset or cash flows at a specified future date at a price agreed on the trade date. A swap
is an agreement between two parties to exchange cash flows or other assets or liabilities at specified payment dates during the
agreed-upon life of the contract. An option is an agreement that gives the buyer the right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell a
specified amount of an underlying asset at an agreed upon price on, or until, the expiration of the contract. We also support and
enhance our brokerage operations by providing trading platforms and straight-through processing connections where applicable.

We provide brokerage services to our clients through agency or principal transactions. In agency transactions, we charge a
commission for connecting buyers and sellers and assisting in the negotiation of the price and other material terms of the transaction.
After all material terms of a transaction are agreed upon, we identify the buyer and seller to each other and they then settle the trade
directly. Commissions charged to our clients in agency transactions vary across the products for which we provide brokerage services.

We generate revenue from principal transactions on the spread between the buy and sell price of the security that is brokered. Our
principal transactions revenue is primarily derived from matched principal transactions. In matched principal transactions, we act as a
“middleman” by serving as counterparty for an identified buyer and an identified seller in matching reciprocal back-to-back trades.
These transactions are then settled through clearing institutions with which we have a contractual relationship. Because the buyer and
seller each settle their transactions through us rather than with each other, the parties are able to maintain their anonymity. A limited
number of our brokerage desks are allowed to enter into unmatched principal transactions to facilitate a customer’s execution needs
for transactions initiated by such customers or for the purpose of proprietary trading in order to arbitrage the value between an
exchange traded fund and its component securities. These unmatched positions are intended to be held short term.

Credit Products.   We provide brokerage services in a broad range of credit derivative and cash bond instruments. The most
common credit derivative, a credit default swap, was developed by global banks
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during the early 1990s. A credit default swap is essentially like an insurance contract, in which the insured party pays a periodic
premium until the contract expires or a credit event occurs. In return for this premium, the contract seller makes a payment to the
buyer if there is a credit default or other specified credit event with respect to the issuer of the underlying credit instrument referenced
in the credit default swap. The credit default swap market has evolved from trading simple single-entity credit default swaps to a range
of customized product structures and index products, allowing investors greater flexibility in tailoring credit positions that correspond
to their desired risk level.

Each of our offices in New York, London, Sydney, Hong Kong, Singapore and Tokyo provides brokerage services in a broad
range of credit derivative products that include single-entity credit default swaps, emerging market credit default swaps, credit indices,
options on single-entity credit default swaps, options on credit indices and credit index tranches. We also provide brokerage services
in markets for a range of non-derivative credit instruments, such as investment grade corporate bonds, high yield corporate bonds,
emerging market Eurobonds, bank capital preferred shares, asset-backed bonds and floating rate notes. We have continued to expand
our services in New York and London to better accommodate clients that engage in trading strategies that combine credit default
swaps with corporate bonds and equity derivatives on securities of a single issuer. This expansion allows us increasingly to compile
data on a single issuer from each of the bond, equity and credit derivative markets and to provide investors with analytical insight into
a single issuer or related issuers. We support our credit brokerage with GFI CreditMatch®, an electronic trading system that provides
trading, trade processing and straight-through-processing functionality to our clients. Consistent with our hybrid brokerage model,
clients may choose between utilizing GFI CreditMatch® to trade certain credit derivative products entirely on screen or executing the
same transaction over the telephone through our brokers.

Financial Products.   We provide brokerage services in a range of financial instruments, including foreign exchange options,
exotic options and interest rate swaps. Exotic options include non-standard options on baskets of foreign currencies, forward contracts
and non-deliverable forward contracts, which are forward contracts that do not require physical delivery of the underlying asset. For
these products, we offer telephonic brokerage services in our New York, London, Hong Kong, Singapore and Sydney offices,
augmented in select markets with our GFI FX Trading System, a browser-based electronic trading platform. We also offer a
straight-through-processing capability that automatically reports completed telephonic and electronic transactions directly to our
clients’ position-keeping systems and provides position updates. This processing capability covers currency option trades executed
through our worldwide brokerage desks. Our New York office focuses on providing brokerage services for foreign exchange option
trading among the U.S. Dollar, the Japanese Yen and the Euro, which are referred to as the G3 currencies, as well as foreign exchange
options, forward contracts and non-deliverable forward contracts and interest rate swaps for certain U.S., Canadian and Latin
American currencies. Our New York office also offers bond options, swap options and corporate and emerging market repo brokerage
services. Our London office also covers foreign exchange option trading in the G3 currencies along with nearly all European cross
currencies, including the Russian Rouble and Eastern European currencies, for which we provide brokerage services for forwards and
non-deliverable forwards. In addition, our London office offers European and corporate repo and currency basis and dollar swaps
brokerage services. Our brokers in Singapore provide brokerage services for foreign exchange currency options, non-deliverable
forwards and interest rate swaps for regional and G3 currencies. Our Sydney office brokers foreign exchange currency options for the
Australian dollar for our customers in Australia.

Equity Products.   We provide brokerage services in a range of equity products, including U.S. domestic equity, international
equity, equity derivatives and Global Depositary Receipts (“GDRs”) and American Depositary Receipt (“ADRs”) stocks. We offer
telephonic equity brokerage services from our brokerage desks in New York, London, Paris and Hong Kong and, where appropriate,
our electronic screen-based trading systems. Through our various offices we broker trades in the over-the-counter market
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as well as certain exchange-traded securities. Our London office provides brokerage services in equity index options, single stock
options, global depository receipts, Pan-European equities and Japanese equity derivatives. From our Hong Kong office, we offer
brokerage services in GDRs and ADRs for Hong Kong, Korean and Japanese equity derivatives. Our New York office provides
brokerage services in single stock cash equities, single stock options, index options, sector options, equity default swaps, variance
swaps, total return swaps and ADRs. In the first quarter of 2006, our Paris office began providing brokerage services in financial
futures, cash equities and single stock and equity index options. Through our various subsidiaries, we are members of the following
exchanges: International Securities Exchange, Chicago Mercantile Exchange (non-member firm), London Stock Exchange, Eurex,
Euronext.liffe, Baltic Exchange and Intercontinental Exchange.

Commodity Products.   We provide brokerage services in a wide range of commodity products, including oil, natural gas,
electricity, wet and dry freight derivatives, precious metals, coal, weather derivatives, emissions and pulp and paper. As a result of our
acquisition of Starsupply, based in Englewood, New Jersey, we added nine energy-related desks, including petroleum feedstocks,
petroleum products, crude oil, petrochemicals, product derivatives, crude derivatives, crude and product options, fuel oil and gas
liquids. Through a partnership with A.C.M. Shipping Limited, we offer hybrid telephonic and electronic brokerage of wet freight
derivatives in London, Singapore and New York. Wet freight derivatives allow oil companies, ship owners and other users of wet
freight cargo capacity to better manage volatile shipping costs for their products by effectively locking in the cost of shipping future
product. We provide extensive brokerage services for both cash-based and derivative instruments in energy products such as
electricity, natural gas and weather derivatives. Weather derivatives allow utilities, agri-businesses and other weather-affected
businesses to better manage risks associated with changes in weather patterns. For example, a utility may purchase a weather
derivative from a financial institution in order to guard against the risk that unseasonably cool summer weather will result in lower
energy consumption by its clients. Our London office provides energy product brokerage services in many European national markets,
including for electricity, oil, coal and emissions. In London, our telephonic brokerage capabilities are augmented with electronic
brokerage capabilities that enable our clients to trade electricity, coal, and wet and dry freight derivatives on a trading system we
license from a third party. From our New York office, we provide brokerage services in natural gas, oil and electricity in numerous
U.S. regional electricity markets. Our Singapore office brokers dry freight derivatives and oil derivatives.

We provide both telephonic and electronic brokerage in pulp, recycled, printing, writing and packaging paper products, including
a full range of derivative instruments for such products, such as physical forwards, financial swaps, options, caps, floors and collars.
From our brokerage desks in New York, London and Sydney, we also serve the global precious metals markets with brokerage in spot,
forward, swap and options contracts focusing on gold, silver, platinum and palladium.

Data and Analytics.   In selected markets, we license market data and analytics products that are used to build pricing models,
develop trading strategies and to manage, price and revalue derivative portfolios. These products are sold on a subscription basis
through a dedicated sales team. We also sell our MarketHub analytics product, which combines our detailed credit default swaps data
with exchange-traded equity and equity options data and news, commentary and analytics in a single web-based application, on a
subscription basis.

We provide market data in the following product areas:  foreign exchange options, credit derivatives, European repurchase
agreements, emerging market bonds, European energy and North American energy. We make our data available through a number of
channels including streaming web portals, file transfer protocol downloads, Fenics analytical tools and data vendors. Revenue from
market data products consists of up-front license fees and monthly subscription fees and individual large database sales. In addition,
we have data distribution relationships with Reuters, Telerate, Bloomberg, Quick and Comstock who license our data for distribution
to their global users.
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We currently offer our Fenics® analytics products primarily for the foreign exchange option markets, and, to a lesser extent, for
certain precious metals, credit derivative, energy derivative and wet and dry freight markets. Fenics FX is a leading foreign exchange
option pricing and analysis tool that is licensed for use at hundreds of sites globally. Fenics FX provides an array of tools, math
models and independent market data that permits clients to quickly and accurately price and revalue both standard and exotic foreign
exchange options. Fenics FX can also be integrated with most aspects of a client’s trading infrastructure, and allows clients to control,
monitor and more effectively oversee each stage of foreign exchange option trading.

Recently we extended our foreign exchange option products to include an e-commerce foreign exchange execution platform
called Fenics DealFX. Built in conjunction with one of the world’s leading foreign exchange dealers, this trading solution is now in
use and facilitates on-line trading of foreign exchange options between our clients and their customers. We retained certain of the
intellectual property rights on this product and are in discussions with other dealers to implement this solution. This project brought
together our Fenics FX capability with our experience in developing on-line trading platforms. In addition, we recently introduced our
MarketHub analytics product, a cross-asset application which combines our detailed credit default swaps data with exchange-traded
equity and equity options data and news, commentary and analytics in a single web-based application. Our MarketHub product is
designed to give our clients a cross-asset view of different securities in a company’s capital structure in order to identify and analyze
correlated movements or other relationships among financial instruments and markets.

We also offer Fenics Credit, a tool for pricing and managing credit derivatives. Fenics Credit allows clients to price and manage
credit default swaps, credit options and baskets of credit derivatives. Fenics Energy is an advanced option pricing and risk analysis
tool for the over-the-counter electricity and gas markets which allows users to price a broad range of option contracts. Fenics Freight
provides market data, analytical tools and option pricing for freight derivatives.

Our Clients

As of December 31, 2005, we provide brokerage services and data and analytics products to over 1,700 institutional clients,
including leading investment and commercial banks, large corporations, insurance companies and hedge funds. Notwithstanding our
large number of clients, several dozen large financial institutions generate the majority of our brokerage revenues. The dealers that are
our principal brokerage clients are many of the leading financial institutions in the world, including:  Barclays Bank, Citigroup, Credit
Suisse, Deutsche Bank, Goldman Sachs, JPMorgan Chase, Lehman Brothers, Merrill Lynch, Morgan Stanley and UBS. Despite the
importance of these large financial institutions to our brokerage business, no one client accounted for more than approximately 7.5%
of our total revenues from all products and services globally for the year ended December 31, 2005.

Sales and Marketing

In order to promote new and existing brokerage, data and analytics software services, we utilize a combination of our own
marketing and public relations expertise and external advisers  in implementing selective advertising and media campaigns. We
participate in numerous trade-shows to reach potential brokerage, data and technology clients. We also utilize speaking opportunities
to position key brokers and specialists as market experts and help promote our core products and services. Additionally, we market our
brokerage services through the direct interaction of our brokers with their clients. This direct interaction also permits our brokers to
discuss new product and market developments with our clients. Our data and analytics products are actively marketed through a
dedicated sales and support team. As of December 31, 2005, we employed 45 sales, marketing and customer support professionals,
consisting of 28 sales employees and executives, 4 marketing employees and 13 customer support employees. Our sales force calls on
a broad range of clients including traders, risk managers, sales staff, analysts and e-commerce
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specialists at banks, hedge funds, fund managers, insurance companies and treasurers in large corporations.

Technology

Brokerage Technology.   We employ a technology development philosophy that emphasizes state-of-the-art technology with cost
efficiency in both our electronic brokerage systems and data and analytics products. We take a flexible approach by developing
in-house, purchasing or leasing technology products and services and by outsourcing support and maintenance where appropriate to
manage technology expense more effectively. For each market in which we operate, we seek to provide the optimal mix of electronic
and telephonic brokerage.

We offer our products and services through a global communications network that is designed to ensure secure, reliable and
timely access to the most current market information. We provide our clients with a variety of means to connect to our brokers and
trading systems, including dedicated point-to-point data lines, virtual private networks and the Internet.

We are working with a small but increasing number of our clients to implement straight-through-processing between our trading
systems and the systems used by our clients to record, report and store transaction data. These efforts seek to automate large parts of
the trade reporting and settlement process, thereby reducing errors, risks and costs traditionally associated with post-trade activities.
We may also develop or customize trading systems for our customers.

Market Data and Analytics Products Technology.   Our market data and analytics products are developed internally using
advanced development methodologies and computer languages. Through years of developing Fenics products, our in-house software
development team is experienced in creating simple, intuitive software for use with complex derivative instruments. Our MarketHub
analytics product is a web-based, cross-asset application combining our detailed credit default swaps data with exchange-traded equity
and equity options data and news, commentary and analytics in a single web-based application.

Support and Development.   At December 31, 2005, we employed a team of 148 computer, telecommunication, network,
database, client support, quality assurance and software development specialists. The activities of our development staff are split
approximately evenly between infrastructure support services and software development. We devote substantial resources to the
continuous development and support of our electronic brokerage capabilities, the introduction of new products and services to our
clients and the training of our employees. Our software development capabilities allow us to be flexible in our decisions to either
purchase or license technology from third parties or to develop it internally.

Disaster Recovery.   We have contingency plans in place to protect against major carrier failures, disruption in external services
(market data and Internet service providers), server failures and power outages. All critical services are connected via redundant and
diverse circuits and, where possible, we employ site diversity. Production applications are implemented with a primary and back-up
server, and all data centers have uninterruptible power source and generator back-up power. Our servers are backed-up daily, and
back-up tapes are sent off-site weekly.

Intellectual Property

We seek to protect our internally developed and purchased intellectual property through a combination of patent, copyright,
trademark, trade secret, contract and fair business practice laws. Where appropriate, we also license software and technology that is
protected by intellectual property rights belonging to third parties. Our proprietary technology, including our Fenics software, is
generally licensed to clients under written license agreements.
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We pursue registration of some of our trademarks in the United States and in other countries. “GFI Group,” “GFInet,” “Fenics,”
“GFI CreditMatch” and “Starsupply” are registered trademarks in the United States and/or numerous overseas jurisdictions. We have
also applied for registration of various other trademarks, including multiple derivations of the “GFI Group,” “GFInet” and “GFI
CreditMatch” names.

We have applied for several patents related to our products and services. We believe that no single patent or application or group
of patents or applications will be of material importance to our business as a whole.

Competition

Competition in the inter-dealer brokerage industry is intense. Our primary competitors with respect to our over-the-counter
brokerage services are currently other inter-dealer brokers and a few electronic brokerage platforms. Additional competition may arise
from multi-dealer trading consortia and securities and futures exchanges. Our primary competitors for our data and analytics products
are currently other inter-dealer brokers and data and technology vendors.  Certain of our larger competitors have announced their
intention to offer enhanced electronic trading platforms for specific products.

Inter-Dealer Brokers.   The current size of the wholesale brokerage market is difficult to estimate as there is little third party,
external data on the industry and several participants are private companies and do not publicly report revenues. Historically, the
inter-dealer brokerage industry has been characterized by fierce competition for clients and brokers. Over the past several years, the
industry has been characterized by the consolidation of well-established, smaller firms into five principal, global inter-dealer brokers:
GFI Group Inc., ICAP Plc, the Tullett Prebon division of Collins Stewart Tullett Plc, Tradition Financial Services (a subsidiary of Cie
Financiere Tradition) and Cantor Fitzgerald/BGC Partners L.P. and its publicly traded subsidiary, eSpeed, Inc. We believe this
consolidation has resulted from a number of factors, including:  the consolidation of primary institutional dealer clients; pressure to
reduce brokerage commissions, particularly in more commoditized products; greater dealer demand for costly technological
capabilities; the need to leverage relatively fixed administrative and regulatory costs and, increasingly, greater client demand for
market information about correlated financial products. Nevertheless, a number of smaller, privately held firms that tend to specialize
in niche products or specific geographical areas remain in the market.

Consortia and Exchanges.   The Internet boom resulted in the establishment of many electronic brokerage or trading platform
start-ups. Only a limited number of these firms, with either backing from groups that have organized themselves as a consortium of
major dealers or from one or more inter-dealer brokers, have survived. Dealer firms within a consortium platform could elect to
conduct a disproportionate or increased share of their business between other member firms, or even to deal directly with each other,
thus reducing liquidity in the traditional inter-dealer markets and potentially reducing the size of our market.

Certain derivatives exchanges allow participants to trade standardized futures and options contracts. Major derivative exchanges
include the Chicago Mercantile Exchange, the Chicago Board of Trade, The Chicago Board of Options, Eurex and Euronext.liffe.
Exchange-traded products, unlike the over-the-counter products we focus on, typically contain more standardized terms, are more
commoditized, and are typically traded in contracts representing smaller notional amounts. We believe that exchanges will continue to
seek to leverage their platforms and attempt to grow by introducing products designed to compete with certain of the products covered
by inter-dealer brokers in the over-the-counter marketplace.

Data and Analytics.   Several large market data and information providers compete for a presence on virtually every trading desk
in our industry. Some of these entities currently offer varying forms of electronic trading of the types of financial instruments in which
we specialize. Some of these entities have
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announced their intention to expand their electronic trading platforms or to develop new platforms. In addition, these entities are
currently competitors to, and in some cases clients of, our data and analytical services. Further, we face competition for certain sales
of our data products from data vendors formed as a consortium of major financial institutions.

Regulation

Certain of our subsidiaries, in the ordinary course of their business, are subject to extensive regulation by government and
self-regulatory organizations both in the United States and abroad. As a matter of public policy, these regulatory bodies are
responsible for safeguarding the integrity of the securities and other financial markets. These regulations are designed primarily to
protect the interests of the investing public generally and thus cannot be expected to protect or further the interests of our company or
our stockholders and may have the effect of limiting or curtailing our activities, including activities that might be profitable.

U.S. Regulation and Certain Clearing Arrangements.   GFI Securities LLC, one of our subsidiaries, is registered as a
broker-dealer with the SEC, and the State of New York, and is a member of the National Association of Securities Dealers (“NASD”).
Broker-dealers are subject to regulations and industry standards of practice that cover many aspects of their business, including initial
licensing requirements, sales and trading practices, safekeeping of clients’ funds and securities, capital structure, record keeping,
supervision and the conduct of affiliated persons, including directors, officers and employees. GFI Securities LLC also operates an
electronic trading system that is regulated pursuant to Regulation ATS under the Securities Act.

We face the risk of significant intervention by regulatory authorities, including extensive examination and surveillance activity.
The SEC, the NASD and other governmental regulatory authorities (including state securities commissions) and self-regulatory
organizations that supervise and regulate us generally have broad oversight and enforcement powers. If we fail to remain in
compliance with laws, rules and industry standards of practice, we could face investigations and judicial or administrative proceedings
that may result in substantial fines. Alternatively, or in addition to being fined, our regulators could institute administrative
proceedings that can result in censure, the issuance of cease and desist orders, the suspension or expulsion of a broker-dealer and its
affiliated persons, officers or employees or other similar consequences.

In addition, the businesses that GFI Securities LLC may conduct are limited by its membership agreement with the NASD. The
membership agreement may be amended by application to include additional businesses. This application process is time-consuming
and may not be successful. As a result, GFI Securities LLC may be prevented from entering new businesses that may be profitable in a
timely manner, or at all.

As a member of the NASD, GFI Securities LLC is subject to certain regulations regarding changes in control of its ownership.
NASD Rule 1017 generally provides that NASD approval must be obtained in connection with any transaction resulting in a change in
control of a member firm. The NASD defines control as ownership of 25% or more of the firm’s equity by a single entity or person
and would include a change in control of a parent company. As a result of these regulations, our future efforts to sell shares or raise
additional capital may be delayed or prohibited by the NASD.

Several of GFI Securities LLC’s equity and corporate bond brokerage desks have experienced issues relating to reporting trades
to the NASD on a timely basis, which is required by NASD rules. In February 2006, this subsidiary was fined $25,000 for issues
relating to late trade reporting of trades in 2004 and in October 2005, this subsidiary was fined $35,000 for issues relating to late trade
reporting in 2003. This subsidiary has also paid similar fines in prior years and is currently being examined by the NASD for similar
issues relating to late trade reporting  in 2004 and 2005. As a result of the foregoing, and after
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discussion with the NASD, this subsidiary has taken steps designed to improve its ability to report trades in a timely manner. While
we believe that these efforts will be effective and diminish or eliminate this problem, we cannot make any assurance that our efforts
will be effective. In connection with its current examinations, the NASD may seek to impose further fines on us or seek to take other
corrective action.

GFI Securities LLC is also an introducing broker with the National Futures Association, which we refer to as the NFA, and the
Commodity Futures Trading Commission, which we refer to as the CFTC. The NFA and CFTC require their members to fulfill certain
obligations, including the filing of quarterly and annual financial reports. Failure to fulfill these obligations in a timely manner can
result in disciplinary action against the firm.

The SEC, NASD, CFTC and various other regulatory agencies within and outside of the United States have stringent rules and
regulations with respect to the maintenance of specific levels of net capital by regulated entities. Generally, a broker-dealer’s capital is
net worth plus qualified subordinated debt less deductions for certain types of assets. The Net Capital Rule under the Exchange Act
requires that at least a minimum part of a broker-dealer’s assets be maintained in a relatively liquid form.

If these net capital rules are changed or expanded, or if there is an unusually large charge against our net capital, our operations
that require the intensive use of capital would be limited. A large operating loss or charge against our net capital could adversely affect
our ability to expand or even maintain these current levels of business, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and
financial condition.

The SEC and the NASD impose rules that require notification when net capital falls below certain predefined criteria. These
rules also dictate the ratio of debt to equity in the regulatory capital composition of a broker-dealer, and constrain the ability of a
broker-dealer to expand its business under certain circumstances. If a firm fails to maintain the required net capital, it may be subject
to suspension or revocation of registration by the applicable regulatory agency, and suspension or expulsion by these regulators could
ultimately lead to the firm’s liquidation. Additionally, the Net Capital Rule and certain NASD rules impose requirements that may
have the effect of prohibiting a broker-dealer from distributing or withdrawing capital and requiring prior notice to the SEC and the
NASD for certain capital withdrawals.

GFI Securities LLC has been, and currently is, in compliance with the net capital rules and has net capital in excess of the
minimum requirements. We do not believe that we are currently subject to any regulatory inquiries that, if decided adversely, would
have any material adverse effect on us and our subsidiaries taken as a whole.

GFI Securities LLC is also a member of the Mortgage-Backed Securities Clearing Corporation, which we refer to as the MBSCC,
for the purpose of clearing certain mortgage-backed securities. This membership requires GFI Securities LLC to maintain minimum
net capital of $5.0 million in excess of the minimum amount prescribed in its membership agreement, including a minimum deposit
with the MBSCC of $250,000.

We maintain clearing arrangements with selected financial institutions in order to settle our matched principal transactions and
maintain deposits with such institutions in support of those arrangements.

Foreign Regulation and Certain Clearing Arrangements.   Our overseas businesses are also subject to extensive regulation by
various foreign governments and regulatory bodies. In the United Kingdom, the Financial Services Authority (“FSA”) regulates our
subsidiaries, GFI Brokers Limited and GFI Securities Limited. The regulatory framework applicable to our U.K. regulated subsidiaries
is extensive and broadly similar to that described above for our U.S. regulated subsidiaries.

As with those U.S. subsidiaries subject to NASD rules, the ability of our regulated U.K. subsidiaries to pay dividends or make
capital distributions may be impaired due to applicable capital requirements. Our
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regulated U.K. subsidiaries are subject to “consolidated” regulation, in addition to being subject to regulation on a legal entity basis.
Consolidated regulation impacts the regulated entity and its parent holding companies in the U.K, including the regulated entity’s
ability to pay dividends or distribute capital.

Our regulated U.K. subsidiaries are also subject to regulations regarding changes in control similar to those described above for
GFI Securities LLC. Under FSA rules, regulated entities must obtain prior approval for any transaction resulting in a change in control
of a regulated entity. Under applicable FSA rules, control is broadly defined as a 10% interest in the regulated entity or its parent or
otherwise exercising significant influence over the management of the regulated entity. As a result of these regulations, our future
efforts to sell shares or raise additional capital may be delayed or prohibited by the FSA.

GFI Securities Limited is a member of Euroclear for the purpose of clearing certain debt and equity transactions. This
membership requires GFI Securities Limited to deposit collateral or provide a letter of credit to Euroclear so that Euroclear will extend
a clearing line to GFI Securities Limited.

In Hong Kong, the Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC”) regulates our subsidiary, GFI (HK) Securities LLC, as a
Securities Dealer. The compliance requirements of the SFC include, among other things, net capital requirements (known as the
Financial Resources Rule) and stockholders’ equity requirements. The SFC regulates the activities of the officers, directors,
employees and other persons affiliated with GFI (HK) Securities LLC and requires the registration of such persons.

In Tokyo, the Japan Securities Dealers Association (“JSDA”) regulates GFI Securities Limited’s Japanese branch. The JSDA
regulates the activities of the officers, directors, employees and other persons affiliated with the branch. This branch is required to
maintain “brought-in” capital, as defined, of 50,000,000 Japanese Yen as part of its licensing requirement, in accordance with the
Foreign Securities Firms Law. The branch is also subject to the JSDA’s financial requirement that revenue plus “brought-in” capital
exceed a ratio of 120.0% of relevant expenditure.

In Paris, a branch of GFI Securities Limited was established through the exercise of its passport right to open a branch in an
European Economic Area (“EEA”) state. This branch commenced operation on February 1, 2006. The establishment of the branch
was approved by the FSA and acknowledged by Banque de France in France. The branch will be subject to the conduct of business
rules of the Autorite Des Marches Financiers (“AMF”) when dealing with resident customers of France and will be regulated, in part,
by the FSA.

In Singapore, the Monetary Authority of Singapore (“MAS”) regulates our subsidiary GFI Group PTE Ltd. The applicable
compliance requirements of the MAS include, among other things, maintaining stockholders’ equity of 3 million Singapore dollars
and monitoring GFI Group PTE Ltd.’s trading practices and business activities. The MAS regulates the activities of certain of the
officers and employees of GFI Group PTE Ltd, and requires regular reports of our financial condition.

In Sydney, our brokerage operations are conducted through a branch of GFI Brokers Limited. GFI Brokers Limited is registered
as a foreign corporation in Australia and is conditionally exempt from the requirement to hold an Australian financial services license
under the Australian Securities and Investments Commission Corporations Act 2001 in respect of the financial services it provides in
Australia. This exemption applies to foreign companies regulated by the FSA in accordance with UK regulatory standards.

All of our subsidiaries that are subject to foreign net capital rules have been, and currently are, in compliance with those rules and
have net capital in excess of the minimum requirements. We do not believe that we are currently subject to any foreign regulatory
inquiries that, if decided adversely, would have any material adverse effect on us and our subsidiaries taken as a whole. As we expand
our foreign businesses, we will also become subject to regulation by the governments and regulatory bodies in other
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countries. The compliance requirements of these different overseer bodies may include, but are not limited to, net capital or
stockholders’ equity requirements.

Changes in Existing Laws and Rules.   Additional legislation and regulations, changes in rules promulgated by the government,
regulatory bodies or clearing organizations described above or changes in the interpretation or enforcement of laws and regulations
may directly affect the manner of our operation, our net capital requirements or our profitability. In addition, any expansion of our
activities into new areas may subject us to additional regulatory requirements that could adversely affect our business, reputation and
results of operations.

Employees

At December 31, 2005, we employed 1,151 people. Of these, 777 are brokerage personnel (consisting of 694 brokers and 83
trainees and clerks), 148 are technology and telecommunications specialists and 45 comprise our data and analytics sales, marketing
and customer support professionals. Approximately 45% of our employees are based in North America, 40% are based in Europe and
the remaining 15% are based in Asia-Pacific. None of our employees are represented by a labor union. We consider our relationships
with our employees to be good and have not experienced any interruption of operations due to labor disagreements.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Economic, political and market factors beyond our control could reduce trading volumes, securities prices and demand for
our brokerage services, which could harm our business and our profitability.

In each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, over 94% of our revenues were generated by our brokerage
operations. As a result, our revenues and profitability are likely to decline significantly during periods of low trading volume in the
financial markets in which we offer our services, which are directly affected by many national and international factors. Any one of
the following factors, among others, may cause a substantial decline in the financial markets in which we offer our services, resulting
in reduced trading volume. These factors include:

•       economic and political conditions in the United States, Europe and elsewhere in the world;

•       concerns about terrorism and war;

•       concerns over inflation and wavering institutional and consumer confidence levels;

•       the availability of cash for investment by our dealer clients and their clients;

•       the level and volatility of interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates;

•       the level and volatility of trading in certain equity and commodity markets;

•       the level and volatility of the difference between the yields on corporate securities being traded and those on related
benchmark securities (which difference we refer to as credit spreads); and

•       legislative and regulatory changes.

Declines in the volume of trading in the markets in which we operate generally result in lower revenue from our brokerage
business. In addition, although less common, some of our brokerage revenues are determined on the basis of the value of transactions
or on credit spreads. Our profitability would be adversely affected by a decline in revenue because a portion of our costs are fixed. For
these reasons, decreases in trading volume or declining prices or credit spreads could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition or results of operations.
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We face substantial competition that could negatively impact our market share and our profitability.
The financial services industry generally, and the inter-dealer brokerage businesses in which we are engaged in particular, are

very competitive, and we expect competition to continue to intensify in the future. Some of the companies with which we compete are
better capitalized than we are and have greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we have. Our current and
prospective competitors include:

•       other inter-dealer brokerage firms;
•       electronic multi-dealer trading companies or consortia;
•       other providers of data and analytics products; and
•       securities, futures and derivatives exchanges and electronic communications networks.
Some of our competitors offer a wider range of services, have broader name recognition and have larger client bases than we do.

Some of them may be able to respond more quickly to new or evolving opportunities, technologies and client requirements than we
can, and may be able to undertake more extensive marketing activities. Our competitors may also seek to hire our brokers, which
could result in a loss of brokers by us or in increased costs to retain our brokers. In addition to the competitors described above, our
large institutional clients may increase the amount of trading they do directly with each other rather than through us, in which case our
revenues could be adversely affected. In particular, several large market data and information providers currently offering varying
forms of electronic trading of the types of financial instruments in which we specialize have announced their intention to expand their
electronic trading platforms or to develop new platforms. If we are not able to compete successfully in the future, our business,
financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected.

We have experienced intense price competition in our brokerage business in recent years. Some competitors may offer brokerage
services to clients at lower prices than we are offering, which may force us to reduce our prices or to lose market share and revenue. In
addition, we focus on providing brokerage services in less liquid markets for complex financial instruments. As the markets for these
instruments become more liquid, we could lose market share to other inter-dealer brokers and electronic multi-dealer brokers who
specialize in providing brokerage services in more liquid markets. If a financial instrument for which we provide brokerage services
becomes listed on an exchange, the need for the services of an inter-dealer broker for that instrument may be severely diminished and,
as a result, the need for our services in relation to that instrument could be significantly reduced.
Because competition for the services of brokers is intense, we may not be able to attract and retain the highly skilled brokers
we need to support our business or we may be required to incur additional expense to do so.

We strive to provide high-quality brokerage services that allow us to establish and maintain long-term relationships with our
clients. Our ability to continue to provide these services and maintain these relationships depends, in large part, upon our brokers. As a
result, we must attract and retain highly qualified brokerage personnel. Competition for the services of brokers is intense, especially
for brokers with extensive experience in the specialized markets in which we participate or may seek to enter. If we are unable to hire
highly qualified brokers, we may not be able to enter new brokerage markets or develop new products. If we lose one or more of our
brokers in a particular market in which we participate, our revenues may decrease and we may lose market share in that particular
market.

We may not be successful in our efforts to recruit and retain brokerage personnel. If we fail to attract new personnel or to retain
and motivate our current personnel, or if we incur increased costs associated with attracting and retaining personnel (such as sign-on
bonuses to attract new personnel), our business, financial condition and results of operations may suffer.
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In addition, recruitment and retention of qualified staff could result in substantial additional costs. We have been party to, or
otherwise involved in, several litigations and arbitrations involving competitor claims in connection with new employee hires and
claims from former employees in connection with the termination of their employment. We may also pursue our rights through
litigation when competitors hire our employees who are under contract with us. We are currently involved in several litigations and
arbitrations with our competitors relating to new employee hires or departures. We believe such proceedings are common in our
industry due to its highly competitive nature. An adverse settlement or judgment related to these or similar types of claims could have
a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations. Regardless of the outcome of these claims, we generally
incur significant expense and management time dealing with these claims.

We are dependent on our management team, and the loss of any key member of our team may prevent us from executing our
business strategy effectively.

Our future success depends, in large part, upon our management team. In particular, we are highly dependent on the continued
services of our chief executive officer and founder, Michael Gooch, and other executive officers who possess extensive financial
markets knowledge and management skills. Neither Michael Gooch nor Colin Heffron, our president, are bound by employment
contracts to remain with us for a specified period of time. We may not be able to find an appropriate replacement for Michael Gooch,
Colin Heffron or any other executive officer if the need should arise. In addition, due to the regulated nature of some of our
businesses, some of our executive officers, or other key personnel could become subject to suspensions or other limitations on the
scope of their services to us from time to time. If we lose the services of any executive officers or other key personnel, we may not be
able to manage and grow our operations effectively, enter new brokerage markets or develop new products. We maintain “key person”
life insurance policies on Michael Gooch, but we do not have any such policies for our other officers or personnel.

If we are unable to continue to identify and exploit new market opportunities, our ability to maintain and grow our business
may be adversely affected.

As more participants enter our markets, the resulting competition often leads to lower commissions. This may result in a decrease
in revenue in a particular market even if the volume of trades we handle in that market has increased. As a result, our strategy is to
broker more trades and increase market share in existing markets and to seek out new markets in which we can charge higher
commissions. Pursuing this strategy may require significant management attention and broker expense. We may not be able to attract
new clients or successfully enter new markets. If we are unable to continue to identify and exploit new market opportunities on a
timely and cost-effective basis, our revenues may decline, which would adversely affect our profitability.

If we are unable to manage the risks of international operations effectively, our business could be adversely affected.
We provide services and products to clients in Europe, Asia and Australia through offices in London, Paris, Hong Kong,

Singapore, Sydney and Tokyo and we may seek to further expand our operations throughout these regions in the future. On a
geographic basis, approximately 42% and 50% of our total revenues for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively,
were generated by our European operations, 50% and 44%, respectively, were generated by our North America operations and 8% and
6%, respectively, were generated by our operations in the Asia-Pacific region. There are certain additional risks inherent in doing
business in international markets, particularly in the regulated brokerage industry. These risks include:

•       additional regulatory requirements;
•       tariffs and other trade barriers;
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•       difficulties in recruiting and retaining personnel, and managing international
•       operations;
•       potentially adverse tax consequences; and
•       reduced protection for intellectual property rights.
If we are unable to manage any of these risks effectively, our business could be adversely affected.
Our international operations also expose us to the risk of fluctuations in currency exchange rates. For example, a substantial

portion of our revenue from our European operations is received in Euros and U.S. Dollars, whereas many of our expenses from our
European operations are payable in British Pounds. Our risk management strategies relating to exchange rates may not prevent us
from suffering losses that would adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations.

Our clients’ financial or other problems could adversely affect our business.
We generally provide brokerage services to our clients in the form of either agency or matched principal transactions. As

described in further detail below, we also engage in unmatched principal transactions. In agency transactions, we charge a commission
for connecting buyers and sellers and assisting in the negotiation of the price and other material terms of the transaction. After all
material terms of a transaction are agreed upon, we identify the buyer and seller to each other and leave them to settle the trade
directly. We are exposed to credit risk for commissions we bill to clients for our agency brokerage services. Our clients may default on
their obligations to us due to disputes, bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, operational failure or other reasons. Any losses arising from such
defaults could adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations.

We have adopted policies and procedures to identify, monitor and manage our credit risk, in both agency and principal
transactions, through reporting and control procedures and by monitoring credit standards applicable to our clients. These policies and
procedures, however, may not be fully effective. Some of our risk management methods depend upon the evaluation of information
regarding markets, clients or other matters that are publicly available or otherwise accessible by us. That information may not, in all
cases, be accurate, complete, up-to-date or properly evaluated. If our policies and procedures are not fully effective or we are not
always successful in monitoring or evaluating the risks to which we are, or may, be exposed, our financial condition or results of
operations could be adversely affected. In addition, our insurance policies may not provide adequate coverage for these risks.

The securities settlement process exposes us to risks that may impact our liquidity and profitability. In addition, liability for
unmatched trades could adversely affect our results of operations and balance sheet.

Through our subsidiaries, we provide brokerage services by executing transactions for our clients. An increasing number of these
are “matched principal” transactions in which we act as a “middleman” by serving as a counterparty to both a buyer and a seller in
matching reciprocal back-to-back trades. These transactions are then settled through clearing institutions with whom we have a
contractual relationship.

In executing matched principal transactions, we are exposed to the risk that one of the counterparties to a transaction may fail to
fulfill its obligations, either because it is not matched immediately or, even if matched, one party fails to deliver the cash or securities
it is obligated to deliver. Our focus on less liquid markets exacerbates this risk for us because transactions in these markets tend to be
more likely not to settle on a timely basis. Adverse movements in the prices of securities that are the subject of these transactions can
increase our risk. In addition, widespread technological or communication failures, such as those which occurred as a result of the
terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001 and the blackout in the eastern portion of the United States in August 2003, as well as actual or
perceived credit difficulties or the insolvency of one or more large or visible market participants, could cause market-wide credit
difficulties
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or other market disruptions. These failures, difficulties or disruptions could result in a large number of market participants not settling
transactions or otherwise not performing their obligations.

We are subject to financing risk in these circumstances because if a transaction does not settle on a timely basis, the resulting
unmatched position may need to be financed, either directly by us or through one of our clearing organizations at our expense. These
charges may be recoverable from the failing counterparty, but sometimes are not. Finally, in instances where the unmatched position
or failure to deliver is prolonged or widespread due to rapid or widespread declines in liquidity for an instrument, there may also be
regulatory capital charges required to be taken by us, which depending on their size and duration, could limit our business flexibility
or even force the curtailment of those portions of our business requiring higher levels of capital. Credit or settlement losses of this
nature could adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations.

In the process of executing matched principal transactions, miscommunications and other errors by our clients or us can arise
whereby a transaction is not completed with one or more counterparties to the transaction, leaving us with either a long or short
unmatched position. These unmatched positions are referred to as “out trades,” and they create a potential liability for the involved
subsidiary of ours. If an out trade is promptly discovered and there is a prompt disposition of the unmatched position, the risk to us is
usually limited. If the discovery of an out trade is delayed, the risk is heightened by the increased possibility of intervening market
movements prior to disposition. Although out trades usually become known at the time of, or later on the day of, the trade, it is
possible that they may not be discovered until later in the settlement process. When out trades are discovered, our policy is to have the
unmatched position disposed of promptly, whether or not this disposition would result in a loss to us. The occurrence of out trades
generally rises with increases in the volatility of the market and, depending on their number and amount, such out trades have the
potential to have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We have market risk exposure from unmatched principal transactions entered into by some of our equity and credit product
brokerage desks.

We allow certain of our brokerage desks to enter into unmatched principal transactions in the ordinary course of business for the
purpose of facilitating clients’ execution needs and, in a limited number of instances and subject to risk management limits, for the
purpose of proprietary trading to arbitrage the value between an exchange traded fund and its component securities. As a result, we
have market risk exposure on these unmatched principal transactions. Our exposure varies based on the size of the overall positions,
the terms and liquidity of the instruments brokered, and the amount of time the positions are held before we dispose of the position.

We do not track our exposure to unmatched positions on an intra-day basis. These unmatched positions are intended to be held
short term. Due to a number of factors, including the nature of the position and access to the market on which it trades, we may not be
able to match the position or effectively hedge our exposure and often may be forced to hold a position overnight that has not been
hedged. To the extent these unmatched positions are not disposed of intra-day, we mark these positions to market. Adverse
movements in the securities underlying these positions or a downturn or disruption in the markets for these positions could result in a
substantial loss. In addition, any principal gains and losses resulting from these positions could on occasion have a disproportionate
effect, positive or negative, on our financial condition and results of operations for any particular reporting period.

Financial problems experienced by third parties could affect the markets in which we provide brokerage services.

Problems experienced by third parties could also affect the markets in which we provide brokerage services. For example, in
recent years, hedge funds have increasingly begun to make use of credit and other
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derivatives as part of their trading strategies. Hedge funds typically employ a significant amount of leverage to achieve their results
and, in the past, certain hedge funds have had difficulty managing this leverage, which has resulted in market-wide disruptions. If one
or more hedge funds that was a significant participant in a derivatives market experienced similar problems in the future, that
derivatives market could be adversely affected and, accordingly, our brokerage revenues in that market could decrease.

We operate in a highly regulated industry and we may face restrictions with respect to the way we conduct certain of our
operations.

Our business is subject to increasingly extensive government and other regulation and our relationships with our broker-dealer
clients may subject us to increasing regulatory scrutiny. These regulations are designed to protect the interests of the investing public
generally rather than our stockholders. The SEC, the NASD, and other agencies extensively regulate the U.S. financial services
industry, including certain of our operations in the United States. Some of our international operations are subject to similar
regulations in their respective jurisdictions, including regulations overseen by the FSA in the United Kingdom, the AMF in France, the
SFC in Hong Kong, the MAS in Singapore and the JSDA in Japan. These regulatory bodies are responsible for safeguarding the
integrity of the securities and other financial markets and protecting the interests of investors in those markets. Some aspects of our
business are subject to extensive regulation, including:

•       the way we deal with clients;
•       capital requirements;
•       financial and reporting practices;
•       required record keeping and record retention procedures;
•       the licensing of employees;
•       the conduct of directors, officers, employees and affiliates;
•       systems and control requirements;
•       restrictions on marketing; and
•       client identification and anti-money laundering requirements.

If we fail to comply with any of these laws, rules or regulations, we may be subject to censure, fines, cease-and-desist orders,
suspension of business, suspensions of personnel or other sanctions, including revocation of our registrations with the NASD, FSA or
other similar international agencies to whose regulation we are subject. In the past, we have been fined by the NASD for issues
relating to late trade reporting. For more details, see “Item 1—Business—Regulations.”  Our authority to operate as a broker in a
jurisdiction is dependent on continued registration in that jurisdiction or the maintenance of a proper exemption from such registration.
Our ability to comply with all applicable laws and rules is largely dependent on our compliance, credit approval, audit and reporting
systems and procedures, as well as our ability to attract and retain qualified compliance, credit approval, audit and risk management
personnel. Our systems and procedures may not be effective.

Some of our subsidiaries are subject to regulations regarding changes in control of their ownership. These regulations generally
provide that regulatory approval must be obtained in connection with any transaction resulting in a change in control of the subsidiary,
which may include changes in control of GFI Group Inc. As a result of these regulations, our future efforts to sell shares or raise
additional capital may be delayed or prohibited in circumstances in which such a transaction would give rise to a change in control as
defined by the applicable regulatory body.
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Changes in laws or regulations or in governmental policies could cause us to change the way we conduct our business, which
could adversely affect us. The government agencies that regulate us have broad powers to investigate and enforce compliance and
punish noncompliance with their rules, regulations and industry standards of practice. We or our directors, officers and employees
may not comply with the rules and regulations of, and may be subject to claims or actions by, these agencies. In addition, because our
industry is heavily regulated, regulatory approval may be required prior to expansion of business activities. We may not be able to
obtain the necessary regulatory approvals for any desired expansion. Even if approvals are obtained, they may impose restrictions on
our business or we may not be able to continue to comply with the terms of the approvals or applicable regulations. The
implementation of unfavorable regulations or unfavorable interpretations of existing regulations by courts or regulatory bodies could
require us to incur significant compliance costs or cause the development or continuation of business activities in affected markets to
become impractical.

For a further description of the regulations which may limit our activities, see “Item 1—Business—Regulation.”

Our regulated subsidiaries are subject to risks associated with net capital requirements, and we may not be able to engage in
operations that require significant capital.

The SEC, NASD, FSA, JSDA and various other domestic and international regulatory agencies have stringent rules and
regulations with respect to the maintenance of specific levels of net capital by broker-dealers. Generally, a broker-dealer’s net capital
is defined as its net worth plus qualified subordinated debt less deductions for certain types of assets. If we fail to maintain the
required net capital, we may be subject to suspension or revocation of registration by the NASD or FSA, which would have a material
adverse effect on our business. If these net capital rules are changed or expanded, or if there is an unusually large charge against net
capital, operations that require the intensive use of capital would be limited. Also, our ability to withdraw capital from our regulated
subsidiaries is subject to restrictions, which in turn could limit our ability to pay dividends, repay debt and redeem or purchase shares
of our common stock. A large operating loss or charge against net capital could adversely affect our ability to expand or even maintain
our present levels of business, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, we may become subject to net
capital requirements in other foreign jurisdictions in which we currently operate or which we may enter. We cannot predict our future
capital needs or our ability to obtain additional financing. For a further discussion of our net capital requirements, see “Item
1—Business—Regulation.”

We are subject to new requirements that we evaluate our internal controls over financial reporting under Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and other corporate governance initiatives that may expose us to certain risks.

As of December 31, 2006, we will be subject to the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Securities
and Exchange Commission rules and regulations require an annual management report on our internal controls over financial
reporting, including, among other matters, management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting, and an attestation report by our independent registered public accounting firm addressing these assessments.

We cannot be certain as to the timing of the completion of our evaluation, testing and remediation actions or the impact of the
same on our operations. If we are not able to implement the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner or with adequate
compliance, we may be subject to sanctions or investigation by regulatory authorities, including the SEC or the Nasdaq National
Market. Moreover, if we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective in any future period (or if our
auditors are unable to express an opinion on the effectiveness of our internal controls), we could lose investor confidence in the
accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which may have an a material adverse effect on our Company.
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Our compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act may require significant expenses and management resources that would need to be
diverted from our other operations and could require a restructuring of our internal controls over financial reporting. Any such
expenses, time reallocations or restructuring could have a material adverse effect on our operations. The applicability of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act to us could make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and
also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified individuals to serve on our boards of directors, or to serve as executive
officers.

Our investments in expanding our brokerage and market data and analytics services may not produce substantial revenue.

We have made, and expect to continue to make, significant investments in our brokerage and market data and analytics services,
including investments in technology and infrastructure, in order to pursue new growth opportunities. With respect to our brokerage
services, we may not receive significant revenue and profit from the hiring of a new broker or the development of a new brokerage
desk. With respect to our market data and analytics services, we may incur substantial development, sales and marketing expenses and
expend significant management effort to create a new product or service. Even after incurring these costs, we ultimately may not sell
any or only small amounts of these products or services. Consequently, if revenue does not increase in a timely fashion as a result of
these expansion initiatives, the up-front costs associated with expansion may exceed revenue and reduce our working capital and
income.

We may have difficulty managing our growth effectively.

We have experienced significant growth in our business activities over the last several years, which has placed, and is expected to
continue to place, a significant strain on our management and resources. Continued growth will require continued investment in
personnel, facilities, information technology infrastructure and financial and management systems and controls. We may not be
successful in implementing all of the processes that are necessary to support our growth, which could result in our expenses increasing
faster than our revenues, causing our operating margins and profitability to be adversely affected.

The expansion of our international operations, particularly our Asia-Pacific and European operations, involves additional
challenges that we may not be able to meet, such as the difficulty in effectively managing and staffing these operations and complying
with the increased regulatory requirements associated with operating in new jurisdictions. This expansion, if not properly managed,
could have a material adverse effect on our business.

If we acquire other companies or businesses, or if we hire new brokerage personnel, we may have difficulty integrating their
operations.

To achieve our strategic objectives, we have acquired or invested in, and in the future may seek to acquire or invest in, other
companies and businesses. We also may seek to hire brokers for new or existing brokerage desks. These acquisitions or new hires may
be necessary in order for us to enter into or develop new product areas. Acquisitions and new hires entail numerous risks, including:

•       difficulties in the assimilation of acquired personnel, operations, services or products;

•       diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns;

•       assumption of unknown material liabilities of acquired companies or businesses;

•       commercial litigation;
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•       the up-front costs associated with recruiting brokerage personnel, including when establishing a new brokerage desk;

•       failure to achieve financial or operating objectives; and

•       potential loss of clients or key employees of acquired companies, businesses or newly hired brokerage personnel.

If we fail to manage these risks as we make acquisitions or make new hires, our profitability may be adversely affected, and we
may never realize the anticipated benefits of the acquisitions or hires. In addition, entering into new businesses may require prior
approval from our regulators. Our ability to obtain timely approval from our regulators may hinder our ability to successfully enter
new businesses.

In the event of employee misconduct or error, our business may be harmed.

Employee misconduct could subject us to financial losses and regulatory sanctions and could seriously harm our reputation and
negatively affect our business. It is not always possible to deter employee misconduct and the precautions taken to prevent and detect
employee misconduct may not always be effective. Misconduct by employees could include engaging in unauthorized transactions or
activities, failure to properly supervise other employees, engaging in improper or unauthorized activities on behalf of clients or
improperly using confidential information.

Employee errors, including mistakes in executing, recording or reporting transactions for clients, could cause us to enter into
transactions that clients may disavow and refuse to settle, which could expose us to the risk of material losses until the errors are
detected and the transactions are unwound or reversed. If our clients are not able to settle their transactions on a timely basis, the time
in which employee errors are detected may be increased and our risk of material loss can be increased. Several of our clients are
currently experiencing delays in settling credit derivative transactions that we broker on an agency basis. As with any unsettled
transaction, adverse movements in the prices of the securities involved in these transactions before they are unwound or reversed can
increase this risk. The risk of employee error or miscommunication may be greater for products that are new or have non-standardized
terms.

Our credit agreement contains restrictive covenants which may limit our working capital and corporate activities.

We are a party to an amended and restated credit agreement with Bank of America N.A. and certain other lenders dated
February 24, 2006 (the “2006 Credit Agreement”) which imposes operating and financial restrictions on us, including restrictions
which may, directly or indirectly, limit our ability to:

•       merge, acquire or dispose of assets;

•       incur liens, indebtedness or contingent obligations;

•       make investments;

•       engage in certain transactions with affiliates and insiders;

•       enter into sale and leaseback transactions;

•       pay dividends and other distributions;

•       and enter into new lines of businesses that are substantially different from our current lines of business.

In addition, our 2006 Credit Agreement contains covenants that require us to maintain specified financial ratios and satisfy
specified financial tests. As a result of these covenants and restrictions, we may be limited in how we conduct our business, and we
may be unable to raise additional financing, to compete
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effectively or to take advantage of new business opportunities. We may not be able to remain in compliance with these covenants in
the future.

Our 2006 Credit Agreement also contains several events of default, including for non-payment, certain bankruptcy events,
covenant or representation breaches or a change in control.

Computer systems failures, capacity constraints and breaches of security could increase our operating costs and cause us to
lose clients.

We internally support and maintain many of our computer systems and networks. Our failure to monitor or maintain these
systems and networks or, if necessary, to find a replacement for this technology in a timely and cost-effective manner, would have a
material adverse effect on our ability to conduct our operations.

We also rely and expect to continue to rely on third parties to supply and maintain various computer and communications
systems, such as telephone companies, online service providers, data processors, clearing organizations, software and hardware
vendors and back-up services. Our systems, or those of our third party providers, may fail or operate slowly, causing one or more of
the following:

•       unanticipated disruptions in service to our clients;

•       slower response times;

•       delays in our clients’ trade execution;

•       failed settlement of trades;

•       decreased client satisfaction with our services;

•       incomplete, untimely or inaccurate accounting, recording, reporting or processing of trades;

•       financial losses;

•       litigation or other client claims; and

•       regulatory sanctions.

We may experience systems failures from power or telecommunications outages, acts of God, war, terrorism, human error,
natural disasters, fire, sabotage, hardware or software malfunctions or defects, computer viruses, intentional acts of vandalism or
similar events. Any system failure that causes an interruption in service or decreases the responsiveness of our service, including
failures caused by client error or misuse of our systems, could damage our reputation, business and brand name. In addition, if security
measures contained in our systems are breached as a result of third-party action, employee error, malfeasance or otherwise, our
reputation may be damaged and our business could suffer.

If systems maintained by us or third parties malfunction, our clients or other third parties may seek recourse against us. We could
incur significant legal expenses defending these claims, even those which we may believe to be without merit. An adverse resolution
of any lawsuits or claims against us could result in our obligation to pay substantial damages and could have a material adverse effect
on our financial condition or results of operations.

We depend on third-party software licenses. The loss of any of our key licenses could adversely affect our ability to provide
our brokerage services.

We license software from third parties, some of which is integral to our business. These licenses are generally terminable if we
breach our obligations under the licenses or if the licensor gives us notice in advance of the termination. If any of these relationships
were terminated, or if any of these third parties
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were to cease doing business, we may be forced to spend significant time and money to replace the licensed software. These
replacements may not be available on reasonable terms, if at all. A termination of any of these relationships could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

We must keep up with rapid technological changes in order to compete effectively.

To remain competitive, we must continue to enhance and improve the responsiveness, functionality, accessibility and other
features of our software, network distribution systems and technologies. The financial services industry is characterized by rapid
technological change, changes in use and client requirements and preferences, frequent product and service introductions employing
new technologies and the emergence of new industry standards and practices that could render our existing technology and systems
obsolete. Development by our competitors of new electronic trade execution or market information products that gain acceptance in
the market could give those competitors a “first mover” advantage that may make it difficult for us to overcome with our own
technology. Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to:

•       develop and license technologies useful in our business;

•       enhance our existing services;

•       develop or acquire new services and technologies that address the increasingly sophisticated and varied needs of our existing
and prospective clients; and

•       respond to technological advances and emerging industry standards and practices on a cost-effective and timely basis.

The development of technology to support our business entails significant technological, financial and business risks. Further, the
adoption of new Internet, networking or telecommunications technologies may require us to devote substantial resources to modify
and adapt our services. We may not successfully implement new technologies or adapt our technology and transaction-processing
systems to client requirements or emerging industry standards. We may not be able to respond in a timely manner to changing market
conditions or client requirements. If we are unable to anticipate and respond to the demand for new services, products and
technologies on a timely and cost-effective basis, and to adapt to technological advancements and changing standards, we may be
unable to compete effectively, which could negatively affect our business.

We may not be able to obtain additional financing, if needed, on terms that are acceptable.

Our business is dependent upon the availability of adequate funding and sufficient regulatory and clearing capital. Clearing
capital is the amount of cash, guarantees or similar collateral that we must provide or deposit with our third party clearing
organizations in support of our obligations under our contractual clearing arrangements with these organizations. Historically, these
needs have been satisfied from internally generated funds, investments from our stockholders and lines of credit made available by
commercial banking institutions. We believe that, based on current levels of operations and anticipated growth, our cash from
operations, together with cash currently available, and available financing under our 2006 Credit Agreement, will be sufficient to fund
our operations for the foreseeable future. However, if for any reason we need to raise additional funds, including meeting increased
clearing capital requirements arising from growth in our brokerage business, we may not be able to obtain additional financing when
needed. If we cannot raise additional funds on acceptable terms, we may not be able to develop or enhance our business, take
advantage of future opportunities or respond to competitive pressure or unanticipated requirements.
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Seasonal fluctuations in trading may cause our quarterly operating results to fluctuate.

In the past, our business has experienced seasonal fluctuations, reflecting reduced trading activity during summer months,
particularly in August. We also generally experience reduced activity in December due to seasonal holidays. As a result, our quarterly
operating results may not be indicative of the results we expect for the full year. Our operating results may also fluctuate quarter to
quarter due to a variety of factors beyond our control such as conditions in the global financial markets, terrorism, war and other
economic and political events. Furthermore, we may experience reduced revenues in a quarter due to a decrease in the number of
business days in that quarter.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights or may be prevented from using intellectual property necessary
for our business.

We rely primarily on trade secret, contract, copyright, trademark and patent law to protect our proprietary technology. It is
possible that third parties may copy or otherwise obtain and use our proprietary technology without authorization or otherwise infringe
on our rights. We may also face claims of infringement that could interfere with our ability to use technology that is material to our
business operations. We may face limitations or restrictions on the distribution of some of the market data generated by our brokerage
desks. This may limit the comprehensiveness and quality of the data we are able to distribute or sell.

In the future, we may have to rely on litigation to enforce our intellectual property rights, protect our trade secrets, determine the
validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others or defend against claims of infringement or invalidity. Any such litigation,
whether successful or unsuccessful, could result in substantial costs and the diversion of resources and the attention of management,
any of which could negatively affect our business.

Consolidation among our clients may cause our revenue to be dependent on a smaller number of clients and may result in
additional pricing pressure.

Our primary clients are leading financial services institutions. The number of these clients may decrease as a result of large
financial institution mergers. While no client accounted for more than approximately 8% and 7% of our total revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, if our existing clients consolidate and new clients, such as national and regional
banks, insurance companies and large hedge funds, do not generate offsetting volumes of transactions, our revenues may become
concentrated in a relatively small number of clients. In that event, our revenues may be dependent on our relationships with those
clients to a material extent. Furthermore, continued consolidation in the financial services industry could lead to the exertion of
additional pricing pressure by our primary clients impacting the commissions we generate from our brokerage services.

Jersey Partners has significant voting power and may take actions that may not be in the best interest of our other
stockholders.

Jersey Partners Inc. (“JPI”), together with its subsidiaries, in which our chief executive officer and founder, Michael Gooch, is
the controlling shareholder, owns approximately 50% of our outstanding common stock. Our president, Colin Heffron, is also a
minority shareholder of JPI. As a result, through JPI, Michael Gooch has the ability to exert substantial influence over all matters
requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election and removal of directors and any proposed merger, consolidation or sale
of all or substantially all of our assets and other corporate transactions. This concentration of control could be disadvantageous to
other stockholders with interests different from those of Michael Gooch. This concentration of voting power may have the effect of
delaying or impeding actions that could be beneficial to our other stockholders, including actions that may be supported by our board
of directors. The trading
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price for our common stock could be adversely affected if investors perceive disadvantages to owning our stock as a result of this
significant concentration of share ownership.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, agreements to which we are a party, regulations to which we are
subject and provisions of our stock option plans could delay or prevent a change in control of our company and entrench
current management.

Our second amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws may be deemed to have an anti-takeover effect and may
delay, deter or prevent a change of control of us, such as a tender offer or takeover proposal that might result in a premium over the
market price for our common stock. In addition, certain of these provisions make it more difficult to bring about a change in the
composition of our board of directors, which could result in entrenchment of current management. For example, our second amended
and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws:

•       provide for a classified board of directors;

•       do not permit our stockholders to remove members of our board of directors other than for cause;

•       do not permit stockholders to act by written consent or to call special meetings;

•       require certain advance notice for director nominations and other actions to be taken at annual meetings of stockholders;

•       require supermajority stockholder approval with respect to extraordinary transactions such as mergers and certain amendments
to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws (including in respect of the provisions set forth above); and

•       authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock by our board of directors without stockholder approval, which could
discourage a takeover attempt.

Under our 2006 Credit Agreement, a change in control may lead the lenders to exercise remedies such as acceleration of the loan
and termination of their obligations to fund additional advances under the revolving credit portion of that facility.

Our brokerage businesses are heavily regulated and some of our regulators require that they approve transactions which could
result in a change of control, as defined by the then-applicable rules of our regulators. The requirement that this approval be obtained
may prevent or delay transactions that would result in a change of control.

In addition, our stock option plans contain provisions pursuant to which options that are unexercisable or unvested may
automatically become exercisable or vested as of the date immediately prior to certain change of control events. These provisions
could have the effect of dissuading potential acquirors from pursuing merger discussions with us.

We do not expect to pay any dividends for the foreseeable future.

We do not anticipate that we will pay any dividends to holders of our common stock in the foreseeable future. We expect to
retain all future earnings, if any, for investment in our business. In addition, our 2006 Credit Agreement limits our ability to pay
dividends without the approval of our lenders and any instruments governing our future indebtedness may also contain various
covenants that limit our ability to pay dividends.
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The market price of our common stock may fluctuate in the future, and future sales of our shares could adversely affect the
market price of our common stock.

The market price of our common stock may fluctuate in the future depending upon many factors, including our actual results of
operations and perceived prospects and the prospects of the financial marketplaces in general, differences between our actual financial
and operating results and those expected by investors and analysts, changes in analysts’ recommendations or projections, seasonality,
changes in general valuations for companies in our business segment, changes in general economic or market conditions and broad
market fluctuations.

Future sales of our shares also could adversely affect the market price of our common stock. If our existing stockholders sell a
large number of shares, or if we issue a large number of shares of our common stock in connection with future acquisitions, strategic
alliances or otherwise, the market price of our common stock could decline significantly. Moreover, the perception in the public
market that these stockholders might sell shares of common stock could depress the market price of our common stock.

As of December 31, 2005 we had registered under the Securities Act an aggregate of 1,612,099 shares of our common stock,
which are reserved for issuance upon exercise of outstanding options under our 2000 and 2002 Stock Option Plans. In addition, as of
December 31, 2005, we had registered under the Securities Act 3,000,000 shares of our common stock issuable under the 2004 Equity
Incentive Plan. These shares can be sold in the public market upon issuance, subject to restrictions under the securities laws applicable
to resales by affiliates. These sales might impact the liquidity of our common stock and might have a dilutive effect on existing
stockholders making it more difficult for us to sell equity or equity-related securities in the future at a time and price that we deem
appropriate.

ITEM 1B.       UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2.                PROPERTIES

Our executive headquarters are located at 100 Wall Street, New York, New York 10005, where we occupy approximately 79,000
square feet of leased space, pursuant to a lease between GFI and Beacon Capital Partners, LLC, as amended, that expires on
September 30, 2013, unless earlier terminated in accordance with the terms of the lease.  Jersey Partners is also liable for our
obligations under this lease. Our U.K. offices are located in London at 1 Snowden Street, EC2 2DQ, where we occupy approximately
44,000 square feet pursuant to a lease between us and Broadgate West T5 Limited and Broadgate West T6 Limited that expires on
March 31, 2015.  We also lease office space totaling approximately 21,000 square feet to support our brokerage operations in New
Jersey, Texas, New York, Connecticut, Paris, Hong Kong, Singapore, Tokyo and Sydney with various lease expirations through 2016.

We believe our facilities will be adequate for our operations for the next twelve months.

ITEM 3.                LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the normal course of business, we are and have been party to, or otherwise involved in, litigations, claims and arbitrations that
involve claims for substantial amounts. These proceedings have generally involved either competitor claims in connection with new
employee hires, or claims from former employees in connection with the termination of their employment from us. We are also
involved, from time to time, in examinations, investigations or proceedings by government agencies and self-regulatory organizations.
These examinations or investigations could result in substantial fines or administrative proceedings that could result in censure, the
issuance of cease and desist orders, the suspension or expulsion of a broker-dealer and its affiliated persons, officers or employees or
other similar consequences.
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There is also potential for client claims alleging the occurrence of errors in the execution of brokerage transactions.

We believe proceedings of these types are common in the inter-dealer brokerage industry due to its highly competitive nature.
Although the ultimate outcome of these proceedings cannot be ascertained at this time, we believe that damages, if any, resulting from
such proceedings will not, in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, but may be material to our
operating results for any particular period.

ITEM 4.                SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.

PART II

ITEM 5.                MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
REPURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Common Stock

Our common stock has been traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol GFIG since our initial public offering on
January 26, 2005. Prior to that time there was no established public trading market for our common stock. The closing share price for
our common stock on February 28, 2006, as reported by Bloomberg Financial Markets, was $60.06.

As of February 28, 2006, we had approximately 54 holders of record of our common stock.

Set forth below, for each of the last four fiscal quarters, is the low and high sales prices per share of our common stock as
reported by Bloomberg Financial Markets.

  High  Low  

Year Ended December 31,
2005

     

First Quarter
 
$28.04

 
$25.00

 

Second Quarter
 

35.60
 

23.05
 

Third Quarter
 

41.57
 

32.37
 

Fourth Quarter
 

51.36
 

37.75
  

Use of Proceeds of Initial Public Offering

The effective date of our registration statement (Registration No. 333-116517) filed on Form S-1 relating to our IPO was
January 25, 2005. In our IPO, we sold 3,947,369 shares of Common Stock at a price of $21.00 per share and the selling stockholders
sold 2,788,439 shares (including shares sold pursuant to the underwriters’ over-allotment option) of Common Stock at a price of
$21.00 per share. Our IPO was managed on behalf of the underwriters by Citigroup, Merrill Lynch & Company, Banc of America
Securities LLC, JP Morgan, and Jefferies & Company, Inc. The offering closed on January 31, 2005. Proceeds to us from our IPO,
after deduction of the underwriting discounts and commissions of approximately $5.8 million and offering costs of approximately
$3.4 million, totaled approximately $73.7 million.

Of the $73.7 million raised, approximately $9.7 million was used to repay the outstanding principal amount plus accrued interest,
of our senior subordinated term loan with Jersey Partners. This note was to mature on June 15, 2011, and had an interest rate of
LIBOR + 5.00%, or 7.40%, at December 31, 2004. Pursuant to the terms of the senior subordinated loan agreement, upon the
consummation of our IPO, we were required to pay the loan back in full. In February 2005, we used a portion of the net proceeds from
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the IPO to pay down in full the then current outstanding balances plus accrued interest of $52.6 million under our credit agreement
with Bank of America N.A. and certain lenders dated August 23, 2004, which we amended and restated on February 24, 2006. We
refer to our credit agreement, prior to its amendment and restatement, as the 2004 Credit Agreement. We also used $4.2 million of the
net proceeds from the IPO to purchase the shares of capital stock of Fenics Limited not owned by us. Further, we used $3.2 million of
the net proceeds from the IPO in connection with newly-hired brokerage personnel in Singapore to buy-out their employment
contracts with their former employers and $4.0 million for capital contributions to certain subsidiaries in Asia to be used for
investments in key personnel recruitment and for working capital purposes. As of September 30, 2005, we had fully utilized our net
proceeds from the IPO.

Dividend Policy

We do not anticipate paying any dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. We currently expect to retain all
future earnings, if any, for investment in our business. In addition, our 2006 Credit Agreement limits our ability to pay dividends
without the approval of our lenders and the instruments governing our future indebtedness may also contain various covenants that
limit our ability to pay dividends.

Any declaration and payment of dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon, among other
things, our earnings, financial condition, capital requirements, level of indebtedness, contractual restrictions with respect to the
payment of dividends, and other considerations that our board of directors deems relevant. The board’s ability to declare a dividend is
also subject to limits imposed by Delaware corporate law. In addition, our subsidiaries are permitted to pay dividends to us subject to
(i) certain regulatory restrictions related to the maintenance of minimum net capital in those of our subsidiaries that are subject to net
capital requirements imposed by the applicable governmental regulators, and (ii) general restrictions imposed on dividend payments
under the jurisdiction of incorporation or organization of each subsidiary.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

For the year ended December 31, 2005, we granted a total of 608,359 restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to officers, directors and
employees pursuant to our 2004 Equity Incentive Plan. The grant prices of these RSUs ranged from $21.00 to $47.80. These RSUs are
to be converted into common stock to be issued to our officers, directors and employees over their respective vesting period, which is
generally over three years. These RSUs were granted pursuant to exemptions from registration provided by Rule 701 and/or
Section 4(2) under the Securities Act.
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ITEM 6.                SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth selected consolidated financial data for the five years ended December 31, 2005. This selected
consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with “Item 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and with our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto contained in this
Form 10-K.

  For the Year Ended December 31,  

  2005  2004  2003  2002  2001  

  (dollars in thousands except share and per share data)  

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data
           

Revenues
           

Brokerage revenues:
           

Agency commissions
 

$ 391,583
 
$ 262,039

 
$ 184,920

 
$ 200,492

 
$ 169,453

 

Principal transactions
 

114,417
 

101,339
 

65,237
 

59,359
 

42,709
 

Total brokerage revenues
 

$ 506,000
 
$ 363,378

 
$ 250,157

 
$ 259,851

 
$ 212,162

 

Analytics and market data
 

17,395
 

16,081
 

13,143
 

9,615
 

6,077
 

Interest income
 

4,637
 

1,578
 

1,167
 

1,401
 

1,543
 

Other income (1)
 

5,560
 

3,983
 

1,377
 

4,353
 

576
 

Total Revenues
 

$ 533,592
 
$ 385,020

 
$ 265,844

 
$ 275,220

 
$ 220,358

 

Expenses:
           

Compensation and employee benefits
 

327,345
 

241,847
 

166,276
 

174,011
 

142,574
 

Impairment of goodwill and intangible
asset (2)

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
—

 
38,968

 

Other expenses
 

121,958
 

100,019
 

72,219
 

74,465
 

66,226
 

Total expenses
 

449,303
 

341,866
 

238,495
 

248,476
 

247,768
 

Income (loss) before provision for income
taxes and minority interest

 
84,289

 
43,154

 
27,349

 
26,744

 
(27,410)

Provision for income taxes
 

36,186
 

20,031
 

12,885
 

14,470
 

4,436
 

Minority interest
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

—
 

(30)
Net income (loss)

 
$ 48,103

 
$ 23,123

 
$ 14,464

 
$ 12,274

 
($31,816)

Earnings Per Share
           

Basic
 

$ 1.80
 
$ 1.01

 
$ 0.63

 
$ 0.59

 
($3.13)

Diluted
 

$ 1.74
 
$ 0.95

 
$ 0.61

 
$ 0.58

 
($3.13)

Weighted average number of shares
outstanding

           

Basic
 

26,245,628
 

16,049,655
 

16,049,655
 

15,786,933
 

10,153,711
 

Diluted
 

27,699,325
 

24,334,003
 

23,693,418
 

21,231,412
 

10,153,711
 

Dividends (3)
 

$ —
 
$ —

 
$ —

 
$ 4,536

 
$ 33,266

 

Consolidated Statement of Financial
Conditions Data:

           

Cash and cash equivalents
 

$ 144,148
 
$ 105,161

 
$ 87,299

 
$ 63,707

 
$ 33,822

 

Total assets (4)
 

$ 576,137
 
$ 640,223

 
$ 374,809

 
$ 276,756

 
$ 304,293

 

Total debt, including current portion
 

$ 31,247
 
$ 58,841

 
$ 47,997

 
$ 44,966

 
$ 62,815

 

Redeemable convertible preferred stock
 

—
 

$ 30,043
 
$ 30,043

 
$ 30,043

 
—

 

Total stockholders’ equity
 

$ 238,252
 
$ 53,369

 
$ 37,778

 
$ 23,142

 
$ 15,059

 

Selected Statistical Data:
           

Brokerage personnel headcount (5)
 

777
 

560
 

397
 

366
 

341
 

Employees
 

1,151
 

868
 

668
 

655
 

572
 

Number of brokerage desks (6)
 

150
 

101
 

78
 

65
 

64
 

Broker productivity for the period (7)
 

$ 778
 
$ 757

 
$ 648

 
$ 721

 
$ 685

 

Brokerage Revenues by Geographic
Region:

           

North America (8)
 

$ 256,197
 
$ 170,438

 
$ 102,920

 
$ 108,505

 
$ 89,453

 

Europe (8)
 

211,125
 

172,417
 

128,743
 

137,181
 

113,946
 

Asia-Pacific
 

38,678
 

20,523
 

18,494
 

14,165
 

8,763
 

Total
 

$ 506,000
 
$ 363,378

 
$ 250,157

 
$ 259,851

 
$ 212,162

  

(1)            Other income for the year ended December 31, 2002 included $1.4 million from the sale of our treasury repurchase agreement brokerage desk, as well as the
receipt during that period of $1.7 million of insurance proceeds resulting from business interruptions in connection with the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks
in New York City.
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(2)            The impairment charge incurred in 2001 was taken in order to reduce goodwill and an intangible asset associated with the Fenics acquisition to their estimated
fair value.

(3)            In 2002 and 2001, our subsidiary, GFI Group LLC, paid dividends of $4.5 million and $3.3 million, respectively, to Jersey Partners to compensate it for certain
tax liabilities in those periods during which Jersey Partners was the sole member of GFI Group LLC. The amount paid in 2002 related to Jersey Partners’ tax
liabilities for the 11-month period ended November 30, 2001. In addition, on October 1, 2001, GFI Group LLC paid a dividend to Jersey Partners of $30.0 million
in cash and accounts receivable as part of the reorganization. We do not expect that either we or our subsidiaries will pay dividends to our stockholders in the
foreseeable future.

(4)            Total assets included receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations of $208.9 million, $408.2 million, $192.7 million, $118.5 million and
$157.5 million at December 31, 2005, 2004, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. These receivables primarily represent securities transactions entered into in
connection with our matched principal business which have not settled as of their stated settlement dates. These receivables are substantially offset by the
corresponding payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations for these unsettled transactions.

(5)            Brokerage personnel headcount includes brokers, trainees and clerks. As of December 31, 2005, we employed 694 brokers.

(6)            A brokerage desk is defined as one or more individual brokers working together at a single location that provide brokerage services with respect to one or more
specific financial instruments. Brokerage desks in different offices are considered separate desks even if they  focus on the same financial instrument.

(7)            We are presenting broker productivity to show the average amount of revenue generated per broker. Broker productivity is calculated as brokerage revenues
divided by average brokerage headcount for the period.

(8)            The North America region was previously referred to by us as U.S., which includes operations from offices located in the U.S. Europe, which was previously
referred to by us as U.K, includes operations from the U.K. and, in future periods, will include Paris.

ITEM 7.                MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and the notes thereof. This discussion contains forward-looking statements. Actual results could differ materially
from the results discussed in these forward-looking statements. Please see “Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” for a
discussion of some of the uncertainties, risks and assumptions associated with these statements.

Business Environment

Our business generally benefits from robust trading volume and volatility in the markets we serve. Trading volume in many of
our markets is driven by the trading activity of our dealer customers that, in turn, are responsive to the trading activity and demand of
their “buy-side” customers. Those “buy-side” customers include smaller banks, insurance companies and financial institutions,
investment funds, trading firms and, increasingly, hedge funds. In 2005, hedge funds numbered approximately 8,000 globally and
managed more than $1.0 trillion at year-end, up from an estimated $400 million in 2000. However, net inflows to hedge funds slowed
considerably in 2005 to $47.0 billion from $73.6 billion in 2004, as lower 2005 hedge fund returns made investors more selective in
their investment decisions.

During 2005, the global business environment was generally positive for our business, with satisfactory volume levels and
generally modest volatility in global equity and foreign exchange markets, and instances of more pronounced volatility in certain
global credit and energy markets. Market volatility is driven by a range of external and internal factors, some of which are market
specific and some of which are correlated to macro-economic conditions.
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The credit markets experienced some marked volatility events in 2005 including credit downgrades and bankruptcy filings in the
U.S. auto and auto parts, airline and selected industrial sectors; terrorist attacks in London; the devastation from Dennis, Katrina, Rita
and other hurricanes; and the Federal Reserve Bank raising short-term interest rates a total of two percentage points by year-end.
 Despite these events, bond prices remained high and yields remained low. The 10-year Treasury note, a barometer for long-term
interest rates, increased slightly to 4.39% for year-end 2005 versus 4.21% at the beginning of 2004. NASD TRACE, a reporting
system that tracks trading activity in U.S. investment grade, high yield and convertible bonds, reported volumes decreased 19% from
2004. According to The Bond Market Association, corporate bond issuance in the U.S. decreased 6.8% to $678.1 billion in 2005, as
strong corporate results reduced the need for debt financing. However, the size of the markets for over-the-counter (“OTC”) credit
derivatives continued to expand as illustrated by the notional value of global outstanding OTC credit derivatives which increased
105% at year-end 2005 from $8.4 trillion to $17.3 trillion, according to the latest International Swaps and Derivatives Association
(ISDA) market survey. The combination of strong growth in the OTC credit derivatives markets with instances of heightened
volatility in certain corporate bond sectors in which we provide services positively affected both our credit derivatives and corporate
bond revenues in 2005.

More modest volatility in the global foreign exchange markets during 2005 was likely attributable to a number of factors
including: significant economic damage from Hurricanes Dennis, Katrina and Rita which led to a short period of uncertainty regarding
the direction of the U.S. economy and short-term interest rates; the Federal Reserve instituted rate increases throughout the year
raising short-term rates to 4.25% from 2.25%; and inflationary pressure due to high energy costs. Despite these factors and a widening
of the U.S. trade deficit, the U.S. Dollar enjoyed its best performance in four years as foreign capital sought to take advantage of
higher relative interest rates, substantial multinational company profit repatriation supported the currency and decreased the demand
for the Euro due to the European Union’s inability to reach consensus decreased the demand for the Euro. According to the latest
ISDA market survey, the value of notional amounts outstanding for interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps grew 16% to $213.2
trillion at year-end 2005. The U.S. Dollar Index, which tracks U.S. Dollar movements versus a basket of six currencies, rose 12.6%.
 The U.S. Dollar performed particularly well versus the Japanese Yen and the Euro. Substantial volatility worldwide in non-U.S.
currencies worldwide against the U.S. Dollar benefited our business.

Equity market volatility increased in 2005 as evidenced by increases in the Chicago Board Options Exchange (“CBOE”)
Standard & Poor (“S&P) 500 Volatility and CBOE Dow Jones Industrial Average (“DJIA”) Volatility indices. Strong global corporate
earnings gains and low interest rates in 2005 were partially offset by higher oil prices, rising short-term interest rates and the economic
aftermath of strong hurricanes in the U.S. Corporate restructuring in Europe and Japan helped push their stock markets higher, while
strong economic growth benefited Asian emerging markets and Latin American commodity producers capitalized on higher natural
resource prices. International stock markets outperformed the U.S. stock markets with the Dow Jones World Index increasing 14.4%
in 2005 versus 2004. In comparison, the S&P 500 index grew 3% while the DJIA retreated 0.6% over the same period. Trading
volume of S&P 500 and DJIA stocks increased 10% and 14%, respectively. Similar volume increases were witnessed on the major
German and Japanese indices. The latest ISDA survey indicated notional amounts outstanding for equity derivatives grew 34% over
2005 to $5.6 trillion. Our equity business benefited from both the overall positive global corporate results and the increase in the
number of our equities brokerage clients in the hedge fund sector.

More pronounced energy market volatility in 2005 resulted from the combination of oil and natural gas supply disruptions caused
by hurricanes, continued Middle-East tensions, and strong overall demand. These factors drove oil product prices to record highs. Oil,
natural gas and gold futures prices on the New York Mercantile Exchange (“NYMEX”) increased substantially in 2005 versus 2004.
NYMEX crude oil
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futures, crude oil options and natural gas futures contracts increased 12.8%, 21.8% and 283.8%, respectively, in 2005 versus 2004.
Similarly, the Intercontinental Securities Exchange reported Brent crude-oil contract volume up 20% versus 2004. Many of the factors
above contributed to our revenue increases in oil, natural gas, and other commodity products.

Financial Overview

Our revenues have grown from $265.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 to $533.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005. The main factors contributing to our growth were:

•       the net addition of 85 brokerage desks during the three year period ended December 31, 2005, resulting in an increase in
brokerage personnel (consisting of brokers, trainees and clerks) from 366 brokerage personnel at January 1, 2003 to 777
brokerage personnel at December 31, 2005;

•       a continued focus on, and investment in, growing and higher margin product areas, as well as product areas that complement
our existing brokerage services;

•       overall volume growth in the markets in which we provide brokerage services;
•       the introduction and continued expansion of our hybrid brokerage capabilities; and
•       the development of our data and analytical products.

Revenues

We derive our revenues primarily through our inter-dealer brokerage services and the fees we charge for certain of our data and
analytics products.

Brokerage Revenues

Brokerage revenues represent revenues generated from our brokerage transactions. We provide brokerage services to our clients
in the form of either agency or principal transactions. In agency transactions, we charge a commission for connecting buyers and
sellers and assisting in the negotiation of the price and other material terms of the transaction. After all material terms of a transaction
are agreed upon, we identify the buyer and seller to each other and they then settle the trade directly. Commissions charged to our
clients in agency transactions vary across the products for which we provide brokerage services. Commissions from agency
transactions represented approximately 77%, 72%, and 74% of our total brokerage revenue for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2004 and 2003, respectively. Commissions from agency transactions are recognized on the date on which the related trade is made.
However, we do not receive our commissions until our invoice is paid by the client. Clients are invoiced on a monthly basis.

We generate revenue from principal transactions on the spread between the buy and sell price of the security that is brokered. Our
principal transactions revenue is primarily derived from matched principal transactions. In matched principal transactions, we act as a
middleman by serving as counterparty for an identified buyer and an identified seller in matching reciprocal back-to-back trades.
Because the buyer and seller each settle their transactions with us rather than with each other, the parties are able to maintain their
anonymity. A very limited number of our brokerage desks are allowed to enter into unmatched principal transactions to facilitate a
customer’s execution needs for transactions initiated by such customers or for the purpose of proprietary trading to arbitrage the value
between an exchange traded fund and its component securities. These unmatched positions are intended to be held short term.
Revenues from principal transactions are recognized on the date on which the trade is made. Generally, we do not receive our net
proceeds until the settlement date of the transaction, typically one to three business days after the trade date. Revenue from principal
transactions has been growing in total dollars but decreasing as a percentage of our total brokerage revenue and comprised
approximately 23%, 28% and 26% of our total brokerage revenue for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. The decrease in
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principal transactions as a percent of total brokerage revenues in 2005 was primarily due to significant growth in credit derivatives,
financial and commodity revenues, all of which are primarily agency transactions.

The performance of our brokerage desks is largely dependent on a number of factors, including market developments affecting
the products we broker, the size of transactions, the location of the markets, the terms of the instruments brokered, the currency of the
instruments brokered, commission structure, competition, recruitment or departure of key brokers or customers, volatility and the level
of trading activity in the various products that we broker. Additionally, as markets mature and have more participants, the resulting
competition generally leads to lower commissions or spreads. Accordingly, our strategy is to continually seek new markets in which
we can charge higher commissions, increase our market share and trading volumes in existing illiquid markets, and provide electronic
capabilities to more liquid and commoditized markets in order to offset this potential downward pressure on our brokerage revenues.

We offer our brokerage services in four broad product categories: credit, financial, equity and commodity. The charts below
detail our brokerage revenues by product category in dollars and as a percentage of our total brokerage revenues for the indicated
periods.

  For the Year Ended December 31,  

  2005  2004  2003  

  (dollars in thousands)  

BROKERAGE REVENUES:
       

Credit
 
$219,317

 
$153,089

 
$115,371

 

Financial
 

116,137
 

84,709
 

69,101
 

Equity
 

98,795
 

71,473
 

27,226
 

Commodity
 

71,751
 

54,107
 

38,459
 

Total brokerage revenues
 
$506,000

 
$363,378

 
$250,157

 

BROKERAGE REVENUES:
       

Credit
 

43.3% 42.1% 46.1%
Financial

 
23.0

 
23.3

 
27.6

 

Equity
 

19.5
 

19.7
 

10.9
 

Commodity
 

14.2
 

14.9
 

15.4
 

Total brokerage revenues
 

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 

As the chart above indicates, our brokerage operations in the credit product category produced a significant percentage of our
total brokerage revenues in each of the last three years. We expect that revenues from credit brokerage operations will continue to
constitute the largest percentage of our total brokerage revenues for the foreseeable future. For the year ended December 31, 2005, the
percentage of revenues from the credit product category increased slightly from the prior year due to factors including the increase in
the number of brokerage personnel on our credit desks, the robust credit derivative business, our investment in and sectorization of
both credit derivatives and corporate bonds, and continued customer development of correlation trading strategies. We believe that
brokerage revenues from our four brokerage categories will continue to fluctuate year to year based on, among other things,
developments which are outside our control, such as the effects of bankruptcies and credit downgrades in the auto and auto supplies
sectors on our corporate bond and credit derivatives business, and the success of initiatives by us to increase our presence in certain
markets, such as the recent increase in the number of our equity brokerage desks to capitalize on correlation trading opportunities, the
Starsupply transaction and the distribution of our latest CreditMatch® platform in Europe.
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Credit
We provide our brokerage services in a wide range of markets for credit instruments, including credit derivatives, investment

grade corporate bonds, high-yield bonds and emerging market bonds. The markets for credit derivatives, generally, and the market for
credit default swaps, specifically, have experienced strong growth in the last three years. As a result, more competitors have entered
these markets. Increased competition has placed downward pressure on the commissions that we can charge, resulting in lower
commission rates. We expect this trend to continue in the markets for more widely traded credit derivative products, such as
single-entity credit default swaps. Partially in response to this trend, we have sought to establish and increase our presence in markets
for newer credit derivative products that have fewer competitors and allow for higher commissions, and have developed the
CreditMatch® platform to expand our presence in the more liquid existing credit derivatives products. We have also sought to support
an increasing movement among our clients to integrate transactions involving certain credit derivatives with other related or correlated
financial instruments. We believe this trend, together with our existing presence in the credit derivatives market, may permit us to
expand our presence in the markets for these related or correlated financial instruments, some of which are in the credit products area
and others of which are in the financial and equity product areas.

Financial
Our financial products brokerage services cover a wide range of markets for financial instruments, including foreign exchange

options, bond options and repurchase agreements. Our customers increased their trading of foreign exchange options in 2005 due to
the increased volatility from higher short-term interest rates, a stronger than expected U.S. Dollar, and economic and inflationary
uncertainty caused by hurricanes Dennis, Katrina and Rita. Over the past few years, we have expanded our presence in the financial
products area by adding brokerage desks in markets for emerging market foreign exchange options, regional interest rate derivatives
and non-deliverable forwards contracts. In addition, we expanded our operations in Tokyo, in part, to capitalize on the growth trend in
the Asia-Pacific markets for financial products.

Equity
We provide brokerage services in a range of markets for equity products, including U.S. equity, international equity, equity

derivatives and GDRs and ADRs. Recently, our clients have begun to integrate their trading of certain equity and credit derivative
products, in an effort to exploit arbitrage opportunities that may arise from the volatility in price fluctuations of debt and equity
instruments issued by a company. In response to this trend and our relatively light presence in the equity product area compared to our
other product categories, we added thirteen new equity brokerage desks globally during 2005 to increase our presence in the equity
product market and expect our brokerage revenues in this area to increase as a result of the expansion in our product base.

Commodity
We provide brokerage services in a diverse array of markets for commodity products, including electricity, oil and oil products,

natural gas, wet and dry freight derivatives, precious metals, coal, natural gas, weather derivatives, emissions and pulp and paper. Wet
and dry freight derivatives, emissions and pulp and paper are examples of new product markets in which we have participated in the
last few years as we continue to develop new markets.

Enron Corp. and its affiliates were active participants in several of the energy product areas in which we provide brokerage
services. The bankruptcies of Enron Corp. and other energy companies in late 2001 and 2002 caused a disruption in the global energy
markets, which resulted in, among other things, several market participants ceasing or reducing their level of trading activity. This
decrease in energy market
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participants began to fully evidence itself in the second half of 2002 and was primarily responsible for the approximately 37%
decrease in our brokerage revenues from our commodity products area for the year ended December 31, 2003 compared to 2002.
Since 2003, we have seen an increase in activity in the energy markets in the U.S. and Europe as large financial institutions, primarily
investment banks, entered the markets and some of the large energy firms recommended their trading of energy products.

Analytics and Market Data

In addition to revenues from our brokerage services, we also earn revenues from the sale of our analytics and market data
products. We offer our clients analytics and market data products which are used to build pricing models, develop trading strategies
and price and revalue their derivative positions. Our Fenics FX calculator is a widely-used analytical tool in the foreign exchange
markets.

We generate revenues from software licenses, data subscription fees and upgrade/maintenance fees associated with our analytics
and market data products offerings. For software licenses, we charge our clients up-front, one-time license fees and annual and
monthly subscription fees. We also charge upgrade fees that are generally treated as follow-on licenses. We sell our data either on a
subscription fee basis or in customized one-time sales. Our analytics and market data products are marketed to a broader range of
clients than are our brokerage services, including national and regional banks, large corporations and hedge funds.

Interest Income

We generate interest income primarily from the investment of our cash balances and from interest earned on balances held at
third party clearing organizations. We currently invest our cash in highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less.

Other Income

Other income primarily consists of transactional gains (losses) based on foreign currency fluctuations and gains (losses) on
foreign exchange derivative contracts. Additionally, we have historically included income received by us from non-recurring items
such as litigation settlements, insurance settlements, gains on the sale of a non-strategic brokerage desk, and other non-recurring items.
Other income also includes income recognized from technology hosting services we provide to a third party.

Expenses

Compensation and Employee Benefits

Our principal operating cost is our compensation and employee benefits expense, which includes salaries, sign-on bonuses,
incentive compensation and related employee benefits and taxes. Our employees can be allocated into three general categories:
brokerage employees, data and analytics products employees and administrative and support employees, which include our executive
officers. The most significant component of our overall compensation and employee benefits expense is the employment costs of our
brokerage personnel.

Our compensation and employee benefits expense for all employees has both a fixed and variable component. Base salaries and
benefit costs are primarily fixed for all employees. Employees also receive bonuses, which constitute the variable portion of our
compensation and employee benefits expense. Bonuses for brokerage personnel are primarily based on the operating results of their
related brokerage desk as well as their individual performance. For many of our brokerage employees, their bonus constitutes a
significant component of their overall compensation. Bonuses for other employees generally are more broadly based on our overall
performance. For most of these employees, the bonus is typically a smaller component of their overall compensation than is the case
for our brokerage personnel. Accordingly, bonus
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costs, and therefore compensation and employee benefits expense, are variable and normally rise and fall in relation to our brokerage
revenues. A significant portion of brokerage bonuses are typically paid semi-annually in March for the six month period ending
December 31 of the prior year, and in September, for the six month period ending June 30 of that year. Bonuses expensed to all
employees represented 50%, 49% and 45% of total compensation and employee benefits expense for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Included in these amounts are guaranteed bonuses, which represented 5%, 1% and 1% of total
bonuses for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Additionally, we grant sign-on bonuses for certain newly-hired brokers or for certain of our existing brokers who agree to
long-term employment agreements. These sign-on bonuses may be paid in the form of cash, restricted stock units (“RSUs”) or
forgivable loans and are typically amortized over the term of the related employment agreement, which is generally two to four years.
These employment agreements typically contain repayment or forfeiture provisions for unvested RSUs or all or a portion of the
sign-on bonus and forgivable loan should the employee voluntarily terminate his or her employment or if the employee’s employment
is terminated for cause during the initial term of the agreement. Sign-on bonuses expensed to all employees represented 4%, 4% and
2% of total compensation and employee benefits expense for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

We believe that in certain situations, we can expand our business into strategic product areas through recruitment of experienced
brokers who can build successful brokerage desks. Such recruitment may cause us to incur upfront signing bonuses which increase
current and future compensation expense as such compensation expense is generally recognized over a two to four year period. During
2005, we incurred increased compensation expense for sign-on bonuses in order to recruit key brokers for the strategic expansion of
our brokerage operations in the equity and credit product areas. Compensation expenses relating to sign-on bonuses have increased in
2005 to a level that is substantially higher than historical levels as we further expanded into new product areas. In the current period
and the foreseeable future, we intend to continue to pursue strategic expansion opportunities by using our cash or common stock or a
combination thereof to hire brokers or acquire brokerage businesses.

We pay the brokerage personnel in our U.K. office in British Pounds. As a result, we are exposed to movements in foreign
currency exchange rates because most of the revenues associated with our U.K. operations are received in Euros and U.S. Dollars. We
have attempted to mitigate this exposure by introducing a policy in 2004 which provides that bonuses earned for all brokerage
personnel in our U.K. office will be calculated in U.S. Dollars but paid in foreign currency equivalents.

Compensation and employee benefits expense also includes expenses related to employee stock options and RSUs. Options
issued prior to January 1, 2003 under our 2000 Stock Option Plan were accounted for using the intrinsic method with compensation
expense arising upon issuance of options with exercise prices below the fair market value of the stock at the date of grant and totaling
approximately $0.03 million and $0.04 million, for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The options issued
under our 2002 Stock Option Plan were not exercisable until the consummation of the IPO on January 31, 2005. All options issued
prior to January 1, 2003 under our 2002 Stock Option Plan were modified in the second quarter of 2004 to extend the term of each
option. Options issued or modified on or after January 1, 2003 are accounted for using the fair value method provided by Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, pursuant to which we expense the fair value measured at the date of grant, or incremental
fair value measured at the date of modification, over the related vesting period. As these options were not exercisable until
consummation of the IPO, the fair value calculated as of the date of grant or modification was recorded in January 2005 to the extent
vested. For the year ended December 31, 2005, a total non-cash compensation charge of approximately $1.3 million was recorded
related to stock options granted under the 2002 Stock Option Plan. Additionally, during 2005, we issued RSUs to compensate our
employees in connection with certain performance and sign-on bonuses. The RSUs issued were measured at fair value based on the
market value of our common stock at the date of grant and the
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related compensation expenses is recognized over their respective vesting term, which is generally over three years. For the year
ended December 31, 2005, a total non-cash compensation charge of approximately $2.7 million was recorded related to RSUs.

Communications and Quotes

Our communications expense consists primarily of costs for our voice and data connections with our clients and clearing agents.
These costs generally increase as we add new brokerage desks and clients. However, we have seen a general reduction in
telecommunications rates in recent years, which we attribute to competition in the telecommunications industry.

Our quote systems expense consists primarily of fees for access to market data and related services, primarily provided by
Reuters and Bloomberg. Many of these costs are fixed because these systems are required regardless of transaction volume. Further,
many of our quote systems vendors require one- to two-year service contracts. We have expanded our presence in certain equity
products which require greater usage of information data systems and trade reporting systems. As a result, we expect quote systems
expense to increase in the future.

Travel and Promotion

Travel and promotion expenses related to our brokerage clients include travel and client entertainment costs. We have a policy
that seeks to limit travel and promotion expense attributable to each brokerage desk to an amount consistent with the revenue
productivity of that brokerage desk. This is accomplished by deducting any excess travel and promotion expense from the calculation
of bonus compensation for many of our desks.

Rent and Occupancy

Our rent and occupancy expenses include the costs of leasing, furnishing and maintaining our offices in the North America,
Europe and the Asia-Pacific region, including maintaining our technology infrastructure in these offices. During 2005, we
substantially completed the move of our U.K. personnel to the new London office space, assumed Starsupply’s North American
leases, executed a lease for our premises in Paris and expanded our operations in Tokyo. Our rent and occupancy expense increased in
2005 as a result of these new leases. We incurred $2.0 million in duplicate rent and related charges on the new London office space,
which we began occupying in the fourth quarter of 2005. As we expand our business within existing locations or to new locations, our
rent and occupancy expenses will likely increase.

Depreciation and Amortization

Our depreciation and amortization expense arises from the depreciation and amortization of property, equipment and leasehold
improvements, including software internally developed for our trading systems and related support software products, the amortization
of software inventory developed in connection with analytics products to be marketed to third parties and the amortization of acquired
intangible assets with definite lives. Over the past few years, we have incurred significant costs in the development of software for
internal use as well as for software to be marketed externally. As a result, depreciation and amortization expense has increased over
this period. Software developed for internal use is depreciated once the software is ready for its intended use. Software inventory
developed for external sales is amortized once the product is available for general release to clients. We expect that depreciation and
amortization expense will continue to increase because we continue to incur significant costs in the development of software for
internal use as well as software to be marketed externally. Additionally, we expect that depreciation and amortization expense will
increase in connection with purchases of property and equipment and leasehold improvements resulting from the additional leases we
entered into during the year.
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Professional Fees

Our professional fees include fees paid to consultants and other professionals who are engaged to support our strategic
development of new and existing businesses and technologies. Our accounting and legal fees are also included in these costs. As a
public company, we are subject to various reporting and corporate governance requirements, including the requirements of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the SEC rules and regulations implementing that Act, as well as recent changes to the Nasdaq
National Market rules. We expect our professional fees will increase due to our continuous effort to comply with these requirements.

Clearing Fees

Our clearing fees expense relates to expenses for clearing and settlement services and other transaction expenses that support
principal transactions. These amounts also include fees we pay to exchanges and floor brokers in connection with brokering various
equity products. Clearing fees expense generally fluctuates based on transaction volumes and has increased in recent years due to an
increase in the volume of principal transactions that we executed. We expect our clearing fees will increase in the future due to the
new desks that commenced operations in 2005 that largely provide services in the form of principal transactions.

Interest Expense

Our interest expense consists of interest charged by lenders to us in connection with our loans and lines of credit provided by our
2004 Credit Agreement and by our third party clearing organizations. Our credit obligations bear variable rates of interest. As a result,
our interest expense is subject to change based on the prevailing interest rate environment and the amount of variable rate debt we
have outstanding.

Other Expenses

Our other expenses primarily relate to the changes in the fair value of the Fenics purchase obligation (see “Liquidity and Capital
Resources” and Note 16 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for additional detail on the Fenics purchase obligation),
irrecoverable Value Added Tax (“VAT”) incurred in connection with our brokerage and data and analytics operations in the U.K.,
litigation reserves, general office expenses and other miscellaneous operating expenses. In addition, in 2005, other expenses included
a payment in connection with newly-hired brokerage personnel in Singapore to buy-out their employment contracts. Irrecoverable
VAT represents the portion of VAT we pay in connection with purchases of services and products in Europe which cannot be claimed
as a credit on our VAT return. Irrecoverable VAT amounts are determined based on a computed VAT recovery rate.

Lease Termination Costs to Affiliate

Lease termination costs represent the various charges incurred in connection with the termination of the lease for our former
primary office in the U.K, which we leased from an affiliate. See below and Note 23 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for
further details.

Provision for Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes consists of current and deferred tax provisions relating to federal, state and local taxes, as well as
applicable taxes related to foreign subsidiaries. We file a consolidated federal income tax return and combined state and local income
tax returns. The difference between the statutory income tax rate and our effective tax rate for a given period is primarily a reflection
of the tax effects of our foreign operations, general business credits and the non-deductibility of certain expenses.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consolidated results of operations for the periods indicated:

  Year ended December 31,  

  2005  2004  2003  

  (dollars in thousands)  

REVENUES:
       

Brokerage revenues:
       

Agency commissions
 
$391,583

 
$262,039

 
$184,920

 

Principal transactions
 

114,417
 

101,339
 

65,237
 

Total brokerage revenues
 

506,000
 

363,378
 

250,157
 

Analytics and market data
 

17,395
 

16,081
 

13,143
 

Interest income
 

4,637
 

1,578
 

1,167
 

Other income
 

5,560
 

3,983
 

1,377
 

Total revenues
 

533,592
 

385,020
 

265,844
 

EXPENSES:
       

Compensation and employee benefits
 

327,345
 

241,847
 

166,276
 

Communications and quotes
 

25,860
 

20,536
 

16,512
 

Travel and promotion
 

24,652
 

19,511
 

14,301
 

Rent and occupancy
 

15,450
 

10,669
 

10,645
 

Depreciation and amortization
 

15,284
 

13,856
 

10,297
 

Professional fees
 

10,700
 

9,468
 

7,793
 

Clearing fees
 

13,683
 

9,816
 

3,668
 

Interest
 

3,635
 

3,159
 

2,470
 

Other expenses
 

13,890
 

10,353
 

6,533
 

Lease termination costs to affiliate
 

(1,196) 2,651
 

—
 

Total expenses
 

449,303
 

341,866
 

238,495
 

Income before provision for income
taxes

 
84,289

 
43,154

 
27,349

 

Provision for income taxes
 

36,186
 

20,031
 

12,885
 

Net income
 
$ 48,103

 
$ 23,123

 
$ 14,464
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The following table sets forth our consolidated results of operations as a percentage of our total revenues for the periods
indicated:

  Year ended December 31,  

  2005  2004  2003  

REVENUES:
       

Brokerage revenues:
       

Agency commissions
 

73.4% 68.0% 69.6%
Principal transactions

 
21.4

 
26.3

 
24.6

 

Total brokerage revenues
 

94.8
 

94.3
 

94.2
 

Analytics and market data
 

3.3
 

4.2
 

4.9
 

Interest income
 

0.9
 

0.4
 

0.4
 

Other income
 

1.0
 

1.1
 

0.5
 

Total revenues
 

100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
EXPENSES:

       

Compensation and employee
benefits

 
61.3% 62.8% 62.5%

Communications and quotes
 

4.8
 

5.3
 

6.2
 

Travel and promotion
 

4.6
 

5.1
 

5.4
 

Rent and occupancy
 

2.9
 

2.8
 

4.0
 

Depreciation and
amortization

 
2.9

 
3.6

 
3.9

 

Professional fees
 

2.0
 

2.5
 

2.9
 

Clearing fees
 

2.6
 

2.5
 

1.4
 

Interest
 

0.7
 

0.8
 

0.9
 

Other expenses
 

2.6
 

2.7
 

2.5
 

Lease termination costs to
affiliate

 
(0.2) 0.7

 
0.0

 

Total expenses
 

84.2% 88.8% 89.7%
Income before provision for

income taxes
 

15.8% 11.2% 10.3%
Provision for income taxes

 
6.8

 
5.2

 
4.8

 

Net income
 

9.0% 6.0% 5.5%
 

Year ended December 31, 2005 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2004

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2005 was $48.1 million as compared to net income of $23.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2004, an increase of $25.0 million or approximately 108.0%. Total revenues increased by $148.6 million, or
38.6%, to $533.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $385.0 million for the prior year. Our increased revenues were
primarily due to increased brokerage revenues across each of our product categories. Total expenses increased by $107.4 million, or
31.4%, to $449.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $341.9 million for the prior year. Expenses increased primarily
because of increased compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2005, which was attributable to an increase in
performance-based bonus expense as a result of higher revenues, as well as higher sign-on bonus expense.

Revenues

Brokerage Revenues

Total brokerage revenues increased by $142.6 million or 39.2%, to $506.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from
$363.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Agency commissions increased by $129.5 million, or 49.4% to $391.6 million
for the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared to $262.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Principal transactions
increased by $13.1 million, or 12.9%, to $114.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $101.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004. Of the total increase in brokerage revenues of $142.6 million, approximately $119.6 million was attributable to
revenues generated from our existing desks across all product areas. Revenues increased in each of our product categories with most
of the increase in our credit product category.
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The increase in credit product brokerage revenues of $66.2 million was due to a number of factors including robust trading
activity in the credit markets due to specific credit events including auto and auto supplies sector credit downgrades and bankruptcies,
continued overall growth in the credit derivatives market, the development of new credit products, and the investment in and
sectorization of both credit derivatives and corporate bonds. Our existing credit product desks contributed $62.1 million of the total
increase in credit product brokerage revenues. The remaining $4.1 million increase was generated by the addition of fifteen new or
restructured credit product desks since December 31, 2004. A “restructured” brokerage desk generally refers to a brokerage desk that
has been created out of a part of an existing desk in order to allow the brokers on that restructured desk to focus on one or more
specific financial instrument or market sector for which the existing brokerage desk had previously provided brokerage services. Our
investment in and development of credit products was highlighted by a credit product brokerage personnel increase of 39 to 223
employees at December 31, 2005 from 184 employees at December 31, 2004.

The increase in financial product brokerage revenues of $31.4 million was primarily attributable to the combination of increased
revenues from brokerage desks covering emerging markets, interest rate derivatives and exotic foreign exchange options in both the
U.S. and U.K. due to volatility resulting from U.S. interest rate movement, uncertainty in the direction of the U.S. economy and
inflationary fears due to high energy costs, and investment in our foreign exchange and interest rate derivatives business, particularly
in Asia. The increase in our financial product brokerage revenues was generated primarily from our existing financial product desks,
which contributed $29.6 million of the increase in financial product brokerage revenues. The remaining $1.8 million increase in
financial product brokerage revenues was attributable to the addition of seven new or restructured financial product desks since
December 31, 2004. Our investment in financial products was highlighted by a financial product brokerage personnel increase of 98 to
234 employees at December 31, 2005 from 136 employees at December 31, 2004.

The increase in equity product brokerage revenues of $27.3 million was due to the full-year effect of brokerage personnel hires in
2004, new brokerage personnel hires and new desks established in 2005, and our success in marketing equities and equity derivatives
execution to hedge funds. Our existing equity product desks contributed $18.9 million of the total increase in equity product brokerage
revenues. The remaining $8.4 million increase in equity product brokerage revenues was attributable to the addition of thirteen new or
restructured equity product desks since December 31, 2004. Our investment in and development of equity products was highlighted by
an equity product brokerage personnel increase of 24 to 152 employees at December 31, 2005 from 128 employees at December 31,
2004.

The increase in commodity product brokerage revenues of $17.7 million was attributable to the combination of investments in
new or restructured desks, including revenue of $6.7 million from the nine new desks added as a result of the Starsupply acquisition,
the rebound in energy trading and increased volatility in certain energy markets. Our existing commodity desks contributed $9.0
million of the total increase in commodity product brokerage revenue. Our new or restructured commodity product desks contributed
$8.7 million of the increase in commodity product brokerage revenues. Our investment in commodity products was highlighted by a
commodity product brokerage personnel increase of 57 to 169 employees at December 31, 2005 from 112 employees at December 31,
2004.

Analytics and Market Data

Revenues from our analytics and market data products increased by $1.3 million, or 8.1%, to $17.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005 from $16.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This increase was primarily attributable to the increase
in foreign exchange software licenses, energy software subscriptions and other data subscriptions, offset in part by a decrease in
update fees for foreign exchange data services.
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Interest Income

Interest income increased by $3.0 million, or 187.5%, to $4.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared to $1.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase is mainly attributable to the higher level of average cash balances during
the year.

Other Income

Other income increased by $1.6 million, or 40.0%, to $5.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared to $4.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase is primarily related to $8.4 million in gains from one of our foreign
exchange derivative contracts, offset by a loss of $2.5 million reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into earnings
on a foreign exchange derivative contract that was de-designated as a hedge in March 2005, which was offset by the transactional net
losses based on foreign currency fluctuations. Other income for the year ended December 31, 2004 mainly consisted of transactional
net gains (losses) based on foreign currency fluctuations, net gains (losses) on foreign exchange derivative contracts and proceeds
received by us from a litigation settlement related to an employment contract dispute with one of our competitors.

Expenses

Compensation and Employee Benefits

Compensation and employee benefits expenses increased by $85.5 million, or 35.4%, to $327.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005 from $241.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase
in the number of brokerage personnel from 560 at December 31, 2004 to 777 at December 31, 2005, an increase in
performance-related brokerage bonuses of $52.9 million and an increase in expense related to sign-on bonuses of $5.0 million
resulting in large part from our overall higher total brokerage revenues and the increase in brokerage personnel.

Total compensation and employee benefits as a percentage of total revenues decreased slightly to 61.3% at December 31, 2005
from 62.8% at December 31, 2004. Total compensation and employee benefits as a percentage of total revenues, excluding the effect
of new share-based compensation arrangements in 2005 which deferred certain compensation costs, would have been 63.4% for the
year ended December 31, 2005. Although we expect to continue to use share-based compensation arrangements, we expect the
decrease we experienced in total compensation and employee benefits as a percentage of total revenues in 2005 to diminish over the
next several years.

Communications and Quotes

Communications and quotes increased by $5.4 million, or 26.3%, to $25.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from
$20.5 million from the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase was primarily attributable to the increase in brokerage desks and
brokerage personnel.

Travel and Promotion

Travel and promotion increased by $5.2 million, or 26.7%, to $24.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $19.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This expense, as a percentage of our total brokerage revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2005 decreased slightly to 4.9% from 5.4% for the year ended December 31, 2004. This decrease was primarily due to
the Company’s efforts to lower costs and the increase in the Company’s total brokerage revenues.
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Rent and Occupancy

Rent and occupancy increased by $4.8 million, or 44.9% to $15.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $10.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase was primarily due to the lease of additional office space in the U.S. and
U.K. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion of the U.K. lease.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $1.4 million, or 10.1%, to $15.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2005 from $13.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase was partially attributable to the increase in property and
equipment, including software, and the accelerated depreciation of $1.1 million related to certain long-lived assets to be abandoned as
a result of the early termination of the lease of our former primary U.K. office. See Note 23 to our Consolidated Financial Statements
for further discussion of the U.K. lease. Another factor that contributed to the increase in depreciation and amortization expense was
the increase of amortization of intangibles as a result of the acquisition of Starsupply and software development costs.

Professional Fees

Professional fees increased by $1.2 million, or 12.6%, to $10.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $9.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2004. This increase was primarily due to the increase in audit and other consulting services, which
was offset by a decrease in external legal fees.

Clearing Fees

Clearing fees increased by $3.9 million, or 39.8%, to $13.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $9.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004. This increase was due to an increase in the number of principal transactions executed during the
year ended December 31, 2005 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2004. Principal transactions are generally settled through
third party clearing organizations that charge us a fee for their services. We also use the services of floor brokers on certain stock
exchanges to assist in the execution of transactions. Fees paid to floor brokers in these circumstances are included in clearing fees.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased by $0.4 million, or 12.5%, to $3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $3.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase was primarily due to increased interest charges on third party clearing accounts
related to our brokerage operations, offset by a decrease in interest expense under our 2004 Credit Agreement resulting from a
decrease in borrowings.

Other Expenses

Other expenses increased by $3.5 million, or 33.7%, to $13.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 from $10.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase was attributable to a number of factors including a charge of $3.2 million in
connection with the buy-out of employment contracts for our newly-hired brokerage personnel in Singapore and an increase in the fair
value of the Fenics purchase obligations offset by a decrease in irrecoverable VAT relating to purchases in communications and
quotes in the U.K. and a decrease in other general office and miscellaneous expenses.
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Lease Termination Costs to Affiliate

Lease termination costs decreased by $3.9 million, or 144.4%, to a gain of $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005
from $2.7 million in expense for the year ended December 31, 2004. Lease termination costs to affiliate represents the estimated lease
termination costs in connection with the termination of the lease for our former primary office in the U.K., which we leased from an
affiliate. In December 2004, we entered into an agreement to terminate this U.K. lease with the termination date set for September 1,
2005 and as a result accrued an estimate for this obligation of £1.5 million (or approximately $2.9 million). In April 2005, the
Company and the affiliate executed an amendment to the lease termination agreement entered into in December 2004. The amendment
accelerated termination of the lease to April 2005 and required the Company to pay a termination charge of £0.2 million (or $0.4
million). As a result of the amendment, in the second quarter of 2005, the Company reduced its lease termination liability by
approximately £1.2 million (or $2.3 million). Further, the Company signed a new eighteen-month sublease agreement with the
affiliate with rent of £0.5 million (or $0.9 million) per annum plus other related charges. However, in November 2005, the Company
vacated the premise and accrued £0.5 million (or $0.9 million) for the remaining rent plus other related charges at year-end. Included
in this amount was £0.1 million (or $0.2 million) which will be paid to third parties.

Provision for Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes totaled $36.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 and $20.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004. Our effective tax rate was 42.9% for the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared to 46.4% for the year ended
December 31, 2004. The reduction in the effective tax rate was primarily due to decreases in state and local taxes, as well as a
decrease in taxes related to our foreign operations. Additionally, due to a higher level of pre-tax income, the effects of non-deductible
expenses were reduced.

Year ended December 31, 2004 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2003

Overview

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2004 was $23.1 million as compared to net income of $14.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003, an increase of $8.6 million or approximately 59.3%. Total revenues increased by $119.2 million, or 44.8%,
to $385.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $265.8 million for the prior year. Our increased revenues were primarily
due to increased brokerage revenues across each of our product categories. Total expenses increased by $103.4 million, or 43.3%, to
$341.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $238.5 million for the prior year. Expenses increased primarily because of
increased compensation expense, which was attributable to an increase in performance-based bonuses as a result of higher revenues,
and higher sign-on bonuses for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Revenues

Brokerage Revenues

Total brokerage revenues increased by $113.2 million or 45.2%, to $363.4 for the year ended December 31, 2004 from
$250.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Agency commissions increased by $77.1 million, or 41.7% to $262.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to $184.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Principal transactions
increased by $36.1 million, or 55.4%, to $101.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $65.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003. Of the total increase in brokerage revenues of $113.2 million, approximately $52.2 million was attributable to the
addition of thirty-four new or restructured brokerage desks across all
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product areas since the beginning of the year. Revenues increased in each of our product categories with most of the increase in our
equity product category.

The increase in equity products brokerage revenues of approximately $44.2 million was primarily attributable to the addition of
ten new or restructured brokerage desks that generated approximately $25.3 million of brokerage revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2004. The remaining increase of $18.9 million in brokerage revenues for the equity products was generated from our
existing brokerage desks with our equity derivative desks alone accounting for the majority of this increase.

The increase in credit product brokerage revenues of approximately $37.7 million was attributable to $17.9 million in brokerage
revenues generated by the addition of twelve new or restructured brokerage desks and continued revenue generated by our existing
brokerage desks, primarily our credit derivatives and corporate bond desks.

The increase in commodity products brokerage revenues of approximately $15.6 million was primarily due to the increase of four
new brokerage desks that generated $7.2 million in brokerage revenues and increased brokerage revenues generated by existing desks
as a result of the continuing recovery in the energy product markets and the expansion of our wet shipping desk.

The increase in financial products brokerage revenues of approximately $15.6 million was primarily attributable to the
performance from both new or restructured and existing brokerage desks, primarily non-deliverable forward, interest rate and
swaptions desks.

Analytics and Market Data

Revenues from our analytics and market data products increased by $3.0 million, or 22.9%, to $16.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 from $13.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. This increase was primarily attributable to our data
distribution agreement with a third party, which generated $2.7 million in revenues for the year ended December 31, 2004 as
compared to $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Interest Income

Interest income increased by $0.4 million, or 33.3%, to $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to
$1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase was mainly attributable to the higher level of average cash balances
during the year.

Other Income

Other income increased by $2.6 million to $4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to $1.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2003. Other income for the year ended December 31, 2004 mainly consisted of transactional net gains
(losses) based on foreign currency fluctuations, net gains (losses) on foreign exchange derivative contracts and proceeds received by
us from a litigation settlement related to an employment contract dispute with one of our competitors.

Expenses

Compensation and Employee Benefits

Compensation and employee benefits expenses increased by $75.5 million, or 45.4%, to $241.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2004 from $166.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase
in the number of brokerage personnel from 397 at December 31, 2003 to 560 at December 31, 2004, an increase in
performance-related brokerage bonuses of $40.9 million and an increase in expense related to sign-on bonuses of $6.2 million. Total
increase in sign-
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on bonuses for newly hired brokers in 2004 resulted from the expansion of our brokerage operations in equity, credit and commodity
products.

Total compensation and employee benefits as a percentage of total revenues increased slightly to 62.8% at December 31, 2004
from 62.5% at December 31, 2003.

Communications and Quotes

Communications and quotes increased by $4.0 million, or 24.2%, to $20.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from
$16.5 million from the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase was primarily attributable to the increase in brokerage desks and
brokerage personnel.

Travel and Promotion

Travel and promotion increased by $5.2 million, or 36.4%, to $19.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from
$14.3 million for year ended December 31, 2003. This expense, as a percentage of our total brokerage revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2004 decreased slightly to 5.4% from 5.7% for the year ended December 31, 2003. We believe this decrease was due to
the implementation of a policy that seeks to limit travel and promotion expense attributable to each brokerage desk to an amount
consistent with the revenue productivity of that desk.

Rent and Occupancy

Rent and occupancy increased slightly to $10.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $10.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $3.6 million, or 35.0%, to $13.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2004 from $10.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. This increase reflects depreciation of capitalized development costs
of several software projects that we began amortizing at the end of 2003 and the first quarter of 2004 and $0.6 million of accelerated
depreciation related to certain long-lived assets to be abandoned as a result of the early termination of our primary U.K. lease.

Professional Fees

Professional fees increased by $1.7 million, or 21.8%, to $9.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $7.8 million
for the year ended December 31, 2003. This increase was primarily due to the increase in information technology consulting, audit,
tax, internal audit outsourcing and legal fees.

Clearing Fees

Clearing fees increased by $6.1 million, or 164.9%, to $9.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $3.7 million for
the year ended December 31, 2003. This increase was due to a higher volume in the number of principal transactions executed during
the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2003. Principal transactions are generally settled
through third party clearing organizations that charge us a fee for their services. Fees paid to floor brokers are included in clearing
fees.

53

Source: GFI Group Inc., 10-K, March 24, 2006



Interest Expense

Interest expense increased by $0.7 million, or 28.0%, to $3.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $2.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase was primarily due to increased interest charges on third party clearing accounts
related to our brokerage operations.

Other Expenses

Other expenses increased by $3.9 million, or 60.0%, to $10.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $6.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in fair value of the Fenics purchase
obligation, the write-off of certain unrealizable asset balances and an increase in other general office and miscellaneous expenses, such
as charitable contributions, dues and subscriptions and bank charges.

Lease Termination Costs to Affiliate

Lease termination costs to affiliate for the year ended December 31, 2004 were $2.7 million. These costs represent the estimated
lease termination costs in connection with our primary lease in the U.K., which we leased from an affiliate. See above for further
discussion.

Provision for Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes totaled $20.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 and $12.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2003. Our effective tax rate was approximately 46.4% for the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to 47.1% for
the year ended December 31, 2003. The reduction in the effective tax rate was primarily due to decreases in state and local income
taxes and promotion expenses, as well as increases in business tax credits, offset by an increase in taxes related to foreign operations.
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Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, by quarter, our unaudited statement of operations data for the period from January 1, 2004 to
December 31, 2005. Results of any period are not necessarily indicative of results for a full year.

  Quarter Ended  

  

December 31,
2005 

September 30,
2005  

June 30,
2005  

March 30,
2005  

December 31,
2004  

September 30,
2004  

June 30,
2004  

March 30,
2004  

  (dollars in thousands)  

Revenues
                               

Brokerage
revenues:

                               

Agency
commissions (a)

  
$ 104,335

   
$ 98,559

  
$ 100,718

  
$ 87,971

   
$ 73,366

   
$ 69,705

   
$ 60,589

   
$ 58,379

  

Principal
transactions (a)

  
31,250

   
27,420

  
27,635

  
28,112

   
25,627

   
24,977

   
26,978

   
23,757

  

Total brokerage
revenues

  
135,585

   
125,979

  
128,353

  
116,083

   
98,993

   
94,682

   
87,567

   
82,136

  

Analytics and market
data

  
3,388

   
3,894

  
4,711

  
5,402

   
3,732

   
3,664

   
4,012

   
4,673

  

Interest income
  

1,458
   

1,236
  

883
  

1,060
   

776
   

356
   

170
   

276
  

Other income (loss)
  

(145)
  

(420)
 

6,376
  

(251)
  

1,597
   

1,077
   

701
   

608
  

Total revenues
  

140,286
   

130,689
  

140,323
  

122,294
   

105,098
   

99,779
   

92,450
   

87,693
  

Expenses
                               

Compensation and
employee
benefits (b)

  
89,511

   
81,461

  
80,896

  
75,477

   
66,224

   
62,062

   
58,475

   
55,086

  

Communications and
quotes

  
7,064

   
6,656

  
6,341

  
5,799

   
5,341

   
5,196

   
5,325

   
4,674

  

Travel and promotion
  

7,017
   

5,833
  

6,041
  

5,761
   

6,251
   

4,382
   

4,930
   

3,948
  

Rent and occupancy
  

3,447
   

4,662
  

3,913
  

3,428
   

2,479
   

2,861
   

2,756
   

2,573
  

Depreciation and
amortization (b)

  
4,159

   
3,434

  
3,599

  
4,092

   
4,060

   
3,411

   
3,243

   
3,142

  

Professional fees
  

2,507
   

2,797
  

2,927
  

2,469
   

2,676
   

2,848
   

2,178
   

1,766
  

Clearing fees
  

3,858
   

3,480
  

2,974
  

3,371
   

3,623
   

2,743
   

2,385
   

1,065
  

Interest expenses
  

1,016
   

778
  

597
  

1,244
   

1,076
   

838
   

666
   

579
  

Other expenses
  

1,855
   

2,217
  

5,809
  

4,009
   

3,343
   

2,299
   

2,686
   

2,025
  

Lease termination
costs to affiliate

  
1,070

   
—

  
(2,266)

 
—

   
2,651

   
—

   
—

   
—

  

Total expenses
  

121,504
   

111,318
  

110,831
  

105,650
   

97,724
   

86,640
   

82,644
   

74,858
  

Income before
provision for taxes

  
18,782

   
19,371

  
29,492

  
16,644

   
7,374

   
13,139

   
9,806

   
12,835

  

Provision for income
taxes

  
7,363

   
8,523

  
12,810

  
7,490

   
4,017

   
5,266

   
4,716

   
6,032

  

Net income
  

$ 11,419
   

$ 10,848
  
$ 16,682

  
$ 9,154

   
$ 3,357

   
$ 7,873

   
$ 5,090

   
$ 6,803
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The following table sets forth our quarterly results of operations as a percentage of our total revenues for the indicated periods:

  Quarter Ended  

  

December 31,
2005  

September 30,
2005  

June 30,
2005  

March 30,
2005  

December 31,
2004  

September 30,
2004  

June 30,
2004  

March 30,
2004  

Revenues
                                 

Brokerage revenues:
                                 

Agency commissions (a)
  

74.4%
  

75.4%
  

71.8%
  

72.0%
  

69.8%
  

69.9%
  

65.5%
  

66.6%
 

Principal transactions (a)
  

22.3
   

21.0
   

19.7
   

23.0
   

24.4
   

25.0
   

29.2
   

27.1
  

Total brokerage revenues
  

96.7
   

96.4
   

91.5
   

95.0
   

94.2
   

94.9
   

94.7
   

93.7
  

Analytics and market data
  

2.4
   

3.0
   

3.4
   

4.4
   

3.6
   

3.6
   

4.3
   

5.3
  

Interest income
  

1.0
   

0.9
   

0.6
   

0.8
   

0.7
   

0.4
   

0.2
   

0.3
  

Other income (loss)
  

(0.1)
  

(0.3)
  

4.5
   

(0.2)
  

1.5
   

1.1
   

0.8
   

0.7
  

Total revenues
  

100.0%
  

100.0%
  

100.0%
  

100.0%
  

100.0%
  

100.0%
  

100.0%
  

100.0%
 

Expenses
                                 

Compensation and employee
benefits (b)

  
63.8%

  
62.3%

  
57.6%

  
61.7%

  
63.1%

  
62.2%

  
63.3%

  
62.8%

 

Communications and quotes
  

5.0
   

5.1
   

4.6
   

4.8
   

5.1
   

5.2
   

5.8
   

5.3
  

Travel and promotion
  

5.0
   

4.5
   

4.3
   

4.7
   

5.9
   

4.4
   

5.4
   

4.5
  

Rent and occupancy
  

2.5
   

3.6
   

2.8
   

2.8
   

2.4
   

2.9
   

3.0
   

2.9
  

Depreciation and amortization
(b)

  
3.0

   
2.6

   
2.6

   
3.3

   
3.9

   
3.4

   
3.5

   
3.6

  

Professional fees
  

1.8
   

2.1
   

2.1
   

2.0
   

2.5
   

2.9
   

2.4
   

2.0
  

Clearing fees
  

2.8
   

2.7
   

2.1
   

2.8
   

3.4
   

2.7
   

2.6
   

1.2
  

Interest expenses
  

0.7
   

0.6
   

0.4
   

1.0
   

1.0
   

0.8
   

0.7
   

0.7
  

Other expenses
  

1.3
   

1.7
   

4.1
   

3.3
   

3.2
   

2.3
   

2.9
   

2.3
  

Lease termination costs to
affiliate 

  
0.8

   
—

   
(1.6)

  
—

   
2.5

   
—

   
—

   
—

  

Total expenses
  

86.7%
  

85.2%
  

79.0%
  

86.4%
  

93.0%
  

86.8%
  

89.6%
  

85.3%
 

Income before provision for taxes
  

13.3
   

14.8
   

21.0
   

13.6
   

7.0
   

13.2
   

10.4
   

14.7
  

Provision for income taxes
  

5.2
   

6.5
   

9.1
   

6.1
   

3.8
   

5.3
   

5.1
   

6.9
  

Net income
  

8.1%
  

8.3%
  

11.9%
  

7.5%
  

3.2%
  

7.9%
  

5.3%
  

7.8%
 

 

(a)             During the fourth quarter 2005, we became aware that revenues generated by certain desks were not properly classified between agency commissions and 
principal transactions for the first three quarters of 2005. Consequently, we have properly reclassified the agency commissions and principal transactions for these
quarters. Agency commissions, as previously reported, were $89,479, $99,279 and $89,675 for first, second and third quarter of 2005, respectively. Principal
transactions, as previously reported, were $26,604, $29,074 and $36,304 for first, second and third quarter of 2005, respectively. There was no impact on total
brokerage revenues.

(b)            During the fourth quarter 2005, we identified certain software development costs that were expensed as compensation and employee benefits in prior quarters of
2005 rather than capitalized. We have properly capitalized these expenses in the fourth quarter, resulting in a reduction of $1,999 in compensation and employee
benefits expense and an increase in amortization of $136. Of the $1,999 reduction in compensation and employee benefits expense, approximately $416, $752
and $831 was related to the first, second and third quarter of 2005, respectively.
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The tables below detail our brokerage revenues by product category in dollars and as a percentage of our total brokerage revenues
for the indicated periods.

  Quarter Ended  

  

December 31,
2005 

September 30,
2005  

June 30,
2005  

March 30,
2005  

December 31,
2004  

September 30,
2004  

June 30,
2004  

March 30,
2004  

  (dollars in thousands)  

Brokerage
Revenues:

                             

Credit
  

$ 55,443
   

$ 51,472
  
$ 60,749

  
$ 51,653

   
$ 36,304

   
$ 42,315

  
$ 37,247

  
$ 37,223

  

Financial
  

29,213
   

30,804
  

29,835
  

26,285
   

24,870
   

20,377
  

18,922
  

20,540
  

Equity
  

29,931
   

25,993
  

21,869
  

21,002
   

21,753
   

18,656
  

18,515
  

12,549
  

Commodity
  

20,998
   

17,710
  

15,900
  

17,143
   

16,066
   

13,334
  

12,883
  

11,824
  

Total
brokerage
revenues

  
$ 135,585

   
$ 125,979

  
$ 128,353

  
$ 116,083

   
$ 98,993

   
$ 94,682

  
$ 87,567

  
$ 82,136

  

Brokerage
Revenues:

                          

Credit
  

40.9%
  

40.8%
 

47.3%
 

44.5%
  

36.7%
  

44.7%
 

42.6%
 

45.3%
 

Financial
  

21.5
   

24.5
  

23.2
  

22.6
   

25.1
   

21.5
  

21.6
  

25.0
  

Equity
  

22.1
   

20.6
  

17.0
  

18.1
   

22.0
   

19.7
  

21.1
  

15.3
  

Commodity
  

15.5
   

14.1
  

12.4
  

14.8
   

16.2
   

14.1
  

14.7
  

14.4
  

Total
brokerage
revenues

  
100.0%

  
100.0%

 
100.0%

 
100.0%

  
100.0%

  
100.0%

 
100.0%

 
100.0%

 

 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

To date, we have financed our operations through cash flows from operations, proceeds received from sales of our equity
securities and borrowings under our credit facilities. In August 2004, we entered into the 2004 Credit Agreement that provided for a
revolving credit facility in a principal amount of $80.0 million, which included a letter of credit facility that has a sub-limit of $30.0
million. The 2004 Credit Agreement could have been increased to $100.0 million with the consent of the lenders. Borrowings under
the 2004 Credit Agreement were used to repay in full our outstanding borrowings under our previous credit facility (the “2002 Credit
Facility”). In February 2006, we amended and restated our 2004 Credit Agreement. See Note 24 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further details.

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid investments with maturities, when purchased, of three months or less.
At December 31, 2005, we had $144.1 million of cash and cash equivalents compared to $105.2 million and $87.3 million at
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The changes to our cash and cash equivalents balances for these periods are due to our
operating, investing and financing activities as discussed below.

The following table sets forth our cash flows from operating activities, investing activities and financing activities for the years
ended December 31,

  2005  2004  2003  

Cash provided by operating
activities

 
$ 15,653

 
$ 15,212

 
$ 28,924

 

Cash used in investing
activities

 
(35,735) (7,795) (7,804)

Cash provided by financing
activities

 
58,889

 
10,574

 
2,761

 

Effects of foreign currency
translation adjustment

 
180

 
(129) (289)

Increase in cash and cash
equivalents

 
$ 38,987

 
$ 17,862

 
$ 23,592

 

 

Cash provided by operating activities primarily consists of net income adjusted for certain non-cash items including depreciation
and amortization and the effects of changes in working capital. Cash provided by operating activities was $15.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2005 and consisted of net income of $48.1 million adjusted for non-cash items of $23.7 million and $56.1 million
utilized for working capital. The $56.1 million utilized for working capital primarily consisted of changes in net receivables to
brokers, dealers and clearing organizations, accrued commissions receivables and other assets, offset by increases in
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accrued compensation and other liabilities. Cash provided by operating activities was $15.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2004 and consisted of net income of $23.1 million adjusted for non-cash items of $14.0 million and $21.9 million of working capital.
Cash provided by operating activities was $28.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003 and consisted of net income of $14.5
million adjusted for non-cash items of $9.2 million and $5.3 million of working capital.

Cash used in investing activities was $35.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared to $7.8 million for each of
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003. The increase in cash used in investing activities during 2005 as compared to 2004 and
2003 was primarily attributable to the cash used for the acquisition of assets and certain liabilities of Starsupply, the acquisition of the
minority interest in Fenics and the purchase of property, equipment and leasehold improvements, offset by proceeds received from
foreign exchange derivative contracts.

Cash provided by financing activities was $58.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 as compared to $10.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004. The cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2005 reflected net
proceeds of $73.7 million received from the IPO and $13.3 million from the exercise of stock options and warrant, offset by the
repayment of a $9.3 million loan note payable to JPI and $68.5 million of net repayments of amounts under our 2004 Credit Facility.
Cash provided by financing activities was $10.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to $2.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2003. Net borrowing under the revolving portion of our 2002 Credit Facility decreased by $3.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2004 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2003, which was offset by the repayment of the loan
note payable to JPI and the net repayments of amounts under our Credit Facility.

On February 24, 2006, we amended and restated the terms of our 2004 Credit Agreement with the Bank of America and certain
lenders, which we refer to as the 2006 Credit Agreement. The 2006 Credit Agreement provides for maximum borrowings to be
increased from $80.0 million under the 2004 Credit Agreement to $135.0 million under the 2006 Credit Agreement and extends the
expiration date from August 23, 2007 to February 24, 2011. Under the 2006 Credit Agreement, loans will bear interest of the London
Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR plus a margin determined by our consolidated leverage ratio as defined in the 2006 Credit Agreement.
The 2006 Credit Agreement contains covenants which restricts, among other things, our ability to borrow, pay dividends, distribute
assets, guarantee debts of others and lend funds to affiliated companies and contains criteria on the maintenance of certain financial
statement amounts and ratios, all as defined in the agreement. At December 31, 2005, there were $31.8 million in outstanding
borrowings and $6.5 million pursuant to letters of credit under our 2004 Credit Agreement. At December 31, 2005, we had $41.7
million of availability under the 2004 Credit Agreement and we were in compliance with all of our obligations under the 2004 Credit
Agreement, as amended. We are currently in compliance with all of our obligations under the 2006 Credit Agreement.
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Our liquidity and available cash resources are in part restricted by the regulatory requirements of our operating subsidiaries
including GFI Securities LLC, GFI Securities Limited, GFI Brokers Limited, GFI (HK) Securities LLC and GFI Group PTE Ltd.
These operating subsidiaries are subject to minimum capital requirements and/or licensing and financial requirements imposed by
their respective market regulators that are intended to ensure general financial soundness and liquidity based on certain minimum
capital, licensing and financial requirements. U.S. and U.K. regulations prohibit a registered broker-dealer from repaying borrowings
of its parent or affiliates, paying cash dividends, making loans to its parent or affiliates or otherwise entering into transactions that
result in a significant reduction in its regulatory net capital position without prior notification or approval from its principal regulator.
Our non-regulated subsidiaries are not subject to these restrictions. The capital structures of each of our broker-dealer subsidiaries are
designed to provide each with capital and liquidity consistent with its business and regulatory requirements.

GFI Securities LLC is subject to the net capital rules under the Exchange Act and the Commodity Exchange Act in the U.S. As of
December 31, 2005, GFI Securities LLC had Net Capital, as defined under the Exchange Act, of $44.7 million, which was $44.5
million in excess of its required minimum net capital of $0.3 million.

GFI Securities Limited and GFI Brokers Limited are subject to the capital requirements of FSA in the United Kingdom. As of
December 31, 2005, GFI Securities Limited had financial resources, as defined by the FSA, of $23.9 million, which was $9.8 million
in excess of its required financial resources of $14.1 million. As of December 31, 2005, GFI Brokers Limited had financial resources,
as defined by the FSA, of $14.1 million, which was $5.6 million in excess of its required financial resources of $8.5 million.

GFI Securities Limited’s Japanese branch is required to maintain “brought-in” capital, as defined, of 50,000 Japanese Yen as part
of its licensing requirement, in accordance with the Foreign Securities Firms Law. Additionally, GFI Securities Limited is subject to
the JSDA’s financial requirement that revenue plus “brought-in” capital exceed a ratio of 120.0% of relevant expenditure. At
December 31, 2005, GFI Securities Limited met the licensing requirement by maintaining “brought-in” capital of 50,000 Japanese
Yen (approximately $424) as part of the Foreign Securities Firms Law. Additionally, GFI Securities Limited’s revenue plus
“brought-in” capital ratio was 656%, which exceeded the JSDA’s financial requirement by approximately 536%.

GFI Securities Limited’s Paris branch was established through the exercise of its passport right to open a branch in an EEA state.
This branch commenced operation on February 1, 2006. The establishment of the branch was approved by FSA and acknowledged by
Banque de France in France. The branch will be subject to the conduct of business rules of AMF when dealing with resident
customers of France and will be regulated, in part, by the FSA.

GFI Brokers’ Sydney branch is registered as a foreign corporation in Australia and is conditionally exempt from the requirement
to hold an Australian financial services license under the Australian Securities and Investments Commission Corporations Act 2001 in
respect of the financial services it provides in Australia. This exemption applies to foreign companies regulated by the FSA in
accordance with U.K. regulatory standards.

GFI (HK) Securities LLC is subject to the capital requirements of the SFC in Hong Kong. At December 31, 2005, GFI (HK)
Securities LLC had net capital of approximately $1.1 million, which was $0.7 million in excess of its required minimum net capital of
$0.4 million.

In Singapore, the MAS regulates our subsidiary GFI Group PTE Ltd. Our compliance requirements with the MAS include,
among other things, maintaining stockholders’ equity of 3.0 million Singapore dollars and monitoring GFI Group PTE Ltd.’s trading
practices and business activities. At December 31, 2005, GFI Group PTE Ltd had stockholders’ equity of 4.2 million Singapore
dollars (approximately $2.5
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million), which was 1.2 million Singapore dollars (approximately $0.7) in excess of its required stockholders’ equity.

Although we have no material commitments for capital expenditures, we anticipate that we will experience a substantial increase
in our capital expenditures and lease commitments consistent with our anticipated growth in operations, infrastructure and personnel.
We currently anticipate that we will continue to experience significant growth in our operating expenses for the foreseeable future and
that our operating expenses will be a material use of our cash resources.

We believe that, based on current levels of operations and anticipated growth, our cash from operations, together with cash
currently available and our ability to borrow under our 2006 Credit Agreement, will be sufficient to fund our operations for at least the
next twelve months. Poor financial results, unanticipated expenses, unanticipated acquisitions or unanticipated strategic investments
could give rise to additional financing requirements sooner than we expect. There can be no assurance that equity or debt financing
will be available when needed or, if available, that the financing will be on terms satisfactory to us and not dilutive to our then-current
stockholders.

In January 2005, we completed our IPO and received net proceeds of $73.7 million after deducting the underwriting discount and
expenses of the offering. We used a portion of the net proceeds from the IPO to repay in full the outstanding principal plus accrued
interest of $9.7 million on the note held by Jersey Partners. In February 2005, we used a portion of the net proceeds from the IPO to
pay down in full the outstanding balance plus accrued interest of $52.6 million under our 2004 Credit Agreement. We also used $4.2
million of the net proceeds from the IPO to purchase the remaining Fenics Limited shares not currently owned by us. Further, we used
$3.2 million of the net proceeds from the IPO in connection with newly-hired brokerage personnel in Singapore to buy-out their
employment contracts with their former employers and $4.0 million for capital contributions to certain subsidiaries in Asia to be used
for investments in key personnel recruitment and for working capital purposes. As of September 30, 2005, we had fully utilized our
net proceeds from the IPO.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table summarizes certain of our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2005:

  Payments Due by Period  

  Total  Less than 1 year  1-3 years  3-5 years  More than 5 years  

  (dollars in thousands)  

Contractual Obligations
               

Notes Payable (1)
 

$ 31,924
  

$ 31,924
  

$ —
 
$ —

  
$ —

  

Operating Leases (2)
 

48,983
  

4,659
  

15,831
 

13,307
  

15,186
  

Purchase Obligations (3)
 

9,255
  

6,570
  

2,685
 

—
  

—
  

Total
 

$ 90,162
  

$ 43,153
  

$ 18,516
 
$ 13,307

  
$ 15,186

  

(1)          Amounts listed under Notes Payable represent outstanding borrowings under our 2004 Credit Agreement and vary from the notes
payable reflected in our financial statements because our financial statements reflect the total debt net of unamortized loan fees.
Additionally, it included interest due of $119 which was paid in January 2006. In February 2006, we amended and restated our
2004 Credit Agreement. See Notes 10 and 24 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further details regarding the 2004
Credit Agreement and the 2006 Credit Agreement, respectively.

(2)          Amounts listed under Operating Leases include the future minimum rental commitments relating to our Christopher Street lease
in London, which premises we vacated in February 2006. The future minimum rental commitments include obligations for the
period covering January 2006 through February 2008, at which time we can terminate the lease without a penalty. See Note 24 to
the
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Consolidated Financial Statements for further details. Additionally, it includes the future minimum rental commitments relating
to our Hewett Street lease in London. We vacated the Hewett Street premises in November 2005; however, we are obligated to
pay the remaining rent plus other related charges through October 2006. See Note 23 to our Consolidated Financial Statements
for further details.

(3)          Amounts listed under Purchase Obligations include agreements for quotes with various information service providers.
 Additionally, it includes purchase commitments for capital expenditures relating to our primary lease in the U.K. and the lease
for our Tokyo office.

Off-Balance Sheet Entities

We do not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as
structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet
arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

General

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discusses our consolidated
financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, which require us to
make estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, net revenue and expenses, and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other
factors that we believed are reasonable under the circumstances. We believe that the accounting estimates employed and the resulting
balances are reasonable; however, actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

An accounting policy is deemed to be critical if it requires an accounting estimate to be made based on assumptions about matters
that are highly uncertain at the time the estimate is made; if different estimates reasonably could have been used; or if changes in the
estimate that are reasonably likely to occur periodically could materially impact the financial statements. We believe the following
critical accounting policies reflect the significant estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Revenue Recognition

We provide brokerage services to our clients in the form of either agency or principal transactions. In agency transactions, we
charge commissions for executing transactions between buyers and sellers. We earn revenue from principal transactions on the spread
between the buy and sell price of the security that is brokered. Our principal transaction revenue is primarily derived from matched
principal transactions. In matched principal transactions, we simultaneously agree to buy instruments from one party and sell them to
another. Certain of our brokerage desks enter into unmatched principal transactions in the ordinary course of business, primarily for
the purpose of facilitating our clients’ execution needs. These unmatched positions are intended to be held short term. Brokerage
revenues and related expenses from agency and principal transactions are recognized on a trade date basis. We do not receive actual
payment of the commissions or the net spread until the specific account receivable is collected in an agency transaction or until the
specific settlement date in a principal transaction.

We evaluate the level of our allowance for doubtful accounts based on the financial condition of our clients, the length of time
receivables are past due and our historical experience with the particular client.
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Also, if we know of a client’s inability to meet its financial obligations, we record a specific provision for doubtful accounts for
estimated losses resulting from the inability of that client to make payments. The amount of the provision will be charged against the
amounts due to reduce the receivable to the amount we reasonably believe will be collected. If the financial condition of one of our
clients were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of its ability to make payments, an additional provision could be required. Due
to changing economic business and market conditions, we review the provision monthly and make changes to the provision as
appropriate. Our allowance for doubtful accounts at December 31, 2005 was $3.2 million.

Software Development Capitalization

Software Inventory—We capitalize costs related to the development of certain software products or the costs related to the
significant enhancement of existing products that meet the criteria of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 86,
 Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed. SFAS No. 86 provides for the
capitalization of computer software that is to be used as an integral part of a product or process to be sold or leased, after technological
feasibility has been established for the software and all research and development activities for the other components of the product or
process have been completed. We cease capitalizing costs when the product is available for general release to our customers. Software
inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, which is based on projected revenues. We amortize the costs based on
the greater of the ratio of current year revenue to current year revenue plus projected revenue or straight-line, generally over three
years. Amortization begins when a product is available for general release to customers.

The capitalized costs, the estimate of a product’s economic life and the estimate of projected revenues require management’s
judgment. Any changes in key assumptions, market conditions or other circumstances could result in an impairment of the capitalized
asset and a charge to our operating results.

Internal-Use Software—We capitalize certain costs of software developed or obtained for internal use in accordance with the
Statement of Position (“SOP”) 98-1,  Accounting for the Costs of Corporate Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use. We
capitalize software development costs when application development begins and it is probable that the project will be completed and
the software will be used as intended. Costs associated with preliminary project stage activities, maintenance and all other post
implementation stage activities are expensed as incurred. Our policy provides for the capitalization of certain payroll and
payroll-related costs for employees who are directly associated with internal use computer software projects, as well as external direct
costs of materials and services associated with developing or obtaining internal use software. Capitalized personnel costs are limited to
time directly spent on such projects. Capitalized costs are ratably amortized, using the straight-line method, over the estimated useful
lives which are typically over three years. Our judgment as to which costs to capitalize, when to begin capitalizing such costs and what
period to amortize the costs over, may materially affect our results of operations. If management determines that the fair value of the
software is less than the carrying value, an impairment loss would be recognized in an amount equal to the difference between the fair
value and the carrying value.

Goodwill

Under SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, management is required to perform a detailed review, at least
annually, of the carrying value of our intangible assets, which includes goodwill. In this process, management is required to make
estimates and assumptions in order to determine the fair value of our assets and liabilities and projected future earnings using various
valuation techniques, including a discounted cash flow model. Management uses its best judgment and information available to it at
the time to perform this review. Because management’s assumptions and estimates are used in projecting future earnings as part of the
valuation, actual results may differ. If management determines
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that the fair value of the intangible asset is less than its carrying value, an impairment loss would be recognized in an amount equal to
the difference between the fair value and the carrying value.

Contingencies

In the normal course of business, we have been named as defendants in various lawsuits and proceedings and have been involved
in certain regulatory examinations. Additional actions, investigations or proceedings may be brought from time to time in the future.
We are subject to the possibility of losses from these various contingencies. Considerable judgment is necessary to estimate the
probability and amount of any loss from such contingencies. An accrual is made when it is probable that a liability has been incurred
or an asset has been impaired and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. We accrue a liability for the estimated costs of
adjudication or settlement of asserted and unasserted claims existing as of the balance sheet date. We have recorded reserves for
certain contingencies to which we may have exposure, such as reserves for certain income tax and litigation contingencies and
contingencies related to the employer portion of National Insurance Contributions in the U.K. We disclose asserted claims when it is
at least reasonably possible that an asset had been impaired or a liability had been incurred as of the date of the financial statements
and unasserted claims when it is considered probable that a claim will be asserted and there is a reasonable possibility that the
outcome will be unfavorable.

It is not presently possible to determine our ultimate exposure to these matters and there is no assurance that the resolution of
these matters will not significantly exceed the reserves we have accrued. It is management’s opinion that the ultimate resolution of
these matters, while not likely to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, could be material to our
operating results for any particular period.

Income Taxes

In accordance with SFAS No. 109,  Accounting for Income Taxes, we provide for income taxes using the asset and liability
method under which deferred income taxes are recognized for the estimated future tax effects attributable to temporary differences and
carry-forwards that result from events that have been recognized either in the financial statements or the income tax returns, but not
both. The measurement of current and deferred income tax liabilities and assets is based on provisions of enacted tax laws. Valuation
allowances are recognized if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax
assets will not be realized. Our interpretation of complex tax law may impact our measurement of current and deferred income taxes.

We are subject to regular examinations by the Internal Revenue Service, taxing authorities in foreign countries, and states in
which we have significant business operations. We regularly assess the likelihood of additional assessments in each taxing jurisdiction
resulting from on-going and subsequent years’ examinations. Included in our current tax expense are charges to accruals for expected
tax assessments in accordance with SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies. The resolution of these tax matters could have a
material impact on our effective tax rate.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2005, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 107 to provide guidance on SFAS No. 123(R),
Share-Based Payments, (SFAS No. 123(R)). SAB No. 107 provides the staff’s view regarding the valuation of share-based payment
arrangements for public companies. In particular, SAB No. 107 provides guidance related to share-based payment transactions with
non-employees, the transition from non public to public entity status, valuation methods (including assumptions such as expected
volatility and expected term), the accounting for certain redeemable financial instruments issued under share-based payment
arrangements, the classification of compensation expense, non-GAAP financial measures, first time adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the
modification of employee share options prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) and disclosure in Management’s Discussion and
Analysis subsequent to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). SAB No. 107 became effective March 29, 2005. In April 2005, the SEC
modified the effective date of SFAS No. 123(R) to be as of the first reporting period of the first fiscal year beginning after June 15,
2005. The SEC’s modification of the effective date did not change the accounting required by SFAS No. 123(R).

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective application transition method.
The adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) did not have a significant impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. Prior
to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation costs were reported as operating
cash flows. SFAS No. 123(R) requires the excess tax benefits be reported as financing cash flow rather than as a reduction of taxes
paid.

Upon the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company will recognize a net gain of approximately $0.1 million as a cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle in the first quarter of 2006 resulting from the requirement to estimate forfeitures at the date
of grant instead of recognizing them as incurred. The Company estimated the forfeiture rates based on historical experience.

In March 2005, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations (“FIN
47”). FIN 47 clarifies that the term conditional asset retirement obligation as used in SFAS No. 143, refers to a legal obligation to
perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a future event that may or may
not be within the control of the entity. Accordingly, an entity is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset
retirement obligation if the fair value of the liability can be reasonably estimated. The liability for the conditional asset retirement
obligation should be recognized when incurred. This interpretation also clarifies when an entity would have sufficient information to
reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. FIN 47 is effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 15,
2005. The adoption of FIN 47 will not have a significant impact on the Company’s results of operations or financial position.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations related to our international
brokerage operations, changes in interest rates which impact our variable-rate debt obligations, credit risk associated with potential
non-performance by counterparties or customers and market risk associated with our principal transactions. Our risk management
strategy with respect to certain of these market risks includes the use of derivative financial instruments. We use derivatives only to
manage existing underlying exposures of the Company. Accordingly, we do not use derivative contracts for speculative purposes. Our
risks, risk management strategy, and a sensitivity analysis estimating the effects of changes in fair values for exposures relating to
foreign currency and interest rate exposures are outlined below.
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Foreign Currency Exposure Risk

We are exposed to risks associated with changes in foreign exchange rates. As foreign currency exchange rates change, the U.S.
Dollar equivalent of revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currencies change. Our U.K. operations generate a majority of
their revenues in U.S. Dollars and Euros but pay a significant amount of their expenses in British Pounds. We enter into foreign
exchange forward and foreign exchange collar contracts (“Foreign Exchange Derivative Contracts”) to mitigate our exposure to
foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. Certain of these Foreign Exchange Derivative Contracts are designated and qualify as
foreign currency cash flow hedges under SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended.
 The gain or loss on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges is included in other comprehensive income in the period that changes
in fair value occur and is reclassified to income in the same period that the hedged item affects income. At December 31, 2005, we
had outstanding Foreign Exchange Derivative Contracts to purchase and sell foreign currency with notional amounts translated into
U.S. Dollars of $73.9 million. We would have received $2.2 million at December 31, 2005 to settle these contracts, which represents
the fair value. At December 31, 2005, if the Euro strengthened by 10% against the U.S. Dollar, it would decrease the fair value of
these contracts and, as a result, accumulated other comprehensive income would decrease by approximately $3.8 million, net of tax.

We are also exposed to counterparty credit risk for nonperformance of Foreign Exchange Derivative Contracts and in the event of
nonperformance, to market risk for changes in currency rates. The counterparties with whom we trade foreign exchange derivative
contracts are major international financial institutions. We monitor our positions with and the credit quality of these financial
institutions and we do not anticipate nonperformance by the counterparties.

While our international results of operations, as measured in U.S. Dollars, are subject to foreign exchange rate fluctuations, we do
not consider the related risk to be material to our results of operations. If the Euro strengthened by 10% against the U.S. Dollar and the
U.S. Dollar strengthened by 10% against the British Pound, the net impact to our net income would have been a reduction of
approximately $1.5 million as of December 31, 2005.

Interest Rate Risk

We had $31.8 million in variable-rate debt outstanding at December 31, 2005. These debt obligations are subject to fluctuations
in interest rates, which impact the amount of interest we must pay. If variable interest rates were to increase by 0.50% per annum, the
annual impact to our net income would be a reduction of approximately $0.1 million.

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from potential non-performance by counter parties and customers. We have established policies and procedures
to manage our exposure to credit risk. We maintain a thorough credit approval process to limit exposure to counterparty risk and
employ stringent monitoring to control the market and counterparty risk from our matched principal and agency businesses. Our
brokers may only execute transactions for clients that have been approved by our credit committee following review by our credit
department. Our credit approval process generally includes verification of key financial information and operating data and
anti-money laundering verification checks. Our credit review process includes consideration of independent credit agency reports and
a visit to the entity’s premises, if necessary. We have developed and utilize a proprietary, electronic credit monitoring system.

Credit approval is granted by our credit committee, which is comprised of senior management and representatives from our
compliance, finance and legal departments. Credit approval is granted subject to certain trading limits and may be subject to additional
conditions, such as the receipt of collateral or other
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credit support. Counterparties are reviewed for continued credit approval on at least an annual basis, and the results are provided to the
credit committee. Maintenance procedures include reviewing current audited financial statements and publicly available information
on the client, collecting data from credit rating agencies where available and reviewing any changes in ownership, title or capital of
the client. In the last five years, we have had no material losses due to the nonpayment of commissions receivable.

Principal Transactions

Through our subsidiaries, we execute matched principal transactions in which we act as a “middleman” by serving as
counterparty to both a buyer and a seller in matching back-to-back trades. These transactions are then settled through a third-party
clearing organization. Settlement typically occurs within one to three business days after the trade date. Cash settlement of the
transaction occurs upon receipt or delivery of the underlying instrument that was traded. In a limited number of circumstances, we
may settle a principal transaction by physical delivery of the underlying instrument.

Our matched principal trades have continued to grow as compared to the prior years. Matched principal trades in the less liquid
markets on which we focus are less likely to settle on a timely basis than transactions in more liquid markets. Receivables from
brokers, dealers and clearing organizations and payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations on our consolidated statement
of financial condition primarily represent the simultaneous purchase and sale of the securities associated with those matched principal
transactions that have not settled as of their stated settlement dates. Our experience has been that substantially all of these transactions
ultimately settle.

Matched principal transactions expose us to risks. In executing matched principal transactions, we are exposed to the risk that one
of the counterparties to a transaction may fail to fulfill its obligations, either because it is not matched immediately or, even if
matched, one party   fails to deliver the cash or securities it is obligated to deliver. Our focus on less liquid and over the counter
markets exacerbates this risk for us because transactions in these markets are less likely to settle on a timely basis. Adverse
movements in the prices of securities that are the subject of these transactions can increase our risk. In addition, widespread
technological or communication failures, such as those which occurred as a result of the terrorist attacks on September 11, 2001 and
the blackout in the eastern portion of the United States in August 2003, as well as actual or perceived credit difficulties or the
insolvency of one or more large or visible market participants, could cause market-wide credit difficulties or other market disruptions.
These failures, difficulties or disruptions could result in a large number of market participants not settling transactions or otherwise not
performing their obligations.

We are subject to financing risk in these circumstances because if a transaction does not settle on a timely basis, the resulting
unmatched position may need to be financed, either directly by us or through one of our clearing organizations at our expense. These
charges may be recoverable from the failing counterparty, but sometimes are not. Finally, in instances where the unmatched position
or failure to deliver is prolonged or widespread due to rapid or widespread declines in liquidity for an instrument, there may also be
regulatory capital charges required to be taken by us, which depending on their size and duration, could limit our business flexibility
or even force the curtailment of those portions of our business requiring higher levels of capital. Credit or settlement losses of this
nature could adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations.

In the process of executing matched principal transactions, miscommunications and other errors by our clients or us can arise
whereby a transaction is not completed with one or more counterparties to the transaction, leaving us with either a long or short
unmatched position. These unmatched positions are referred to as “out trades,” and they create a potential liability for us. If an out
trade is promptly discovered and there is a prompt disposition of the unmatched position, the risk to us is usually limited. If the
discovery of an out trade is delayed, the risk is heightened by the increased possibility of intervening
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market movements prior to disposition. Although out trades usually become known at the time of, or later on the day of, the trade, it is
possible that they may not be discovered until later in the settlement process. When out trades are discovered, our policy is to have the
unmatched position disposed of promptly, whether or not this disposition would result in a loss to us. The occurrence of out trades
generally rises with increases in the volatility of the market and, depending on their number and amount, such out trades have the
potential to have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Transactions done on an agency basis
may also give rise to such risks.

In addition, liability for unmatched trades could adversely affect our results of operations and balance sheet. We allow certain of
our brokerage desks to enter into unmatched principal transactions in the ordinary course of business, primarily for the purpose of
facilitating clients’ execution needs or for the purpose of proprietary trading to arbitrage the value between an exchange traded fund
and its component securities. As a result, we have market risk exposure on these unmatched principal transactions. Our exposure
varies based on the size of the overall positions, the terms of the instruments brokered, and the amount of time the positions are held
before we dispose of the position. We do not track our exposure to unmatched positions on an intra-day basis; however, we attempt to
mitigate our market risk on these positions by hedging our exposure. These unmatched positions are intended to be held short term. .
However, due to a number of factors, including the nature of the position and access to the market on which it trades, we may not be
able to match the position or effectively hedge our exposure and we may be forced to hold a position overnight that has not been
hedged. To the extent these unmatched positions are not disposed of intra-day, we mark these positions to market.

We attempt to manage our market risk exposure from any proprietary trading activities through the establishment and monitoring
of trading policies, which include limiting those brokerage desks that are authorized to enter into unmatched positions, limiting types
of transactions that may be executed on an unmatched basis and by setting position and capital at risk limits.

Adverse movements in the securities underlying these positions or a downturn or disruption in the markets for these positions
could result in a substantial loss. In addition, principal gains and losses resulting from these positions could on occasion have a
disproportionate effect, positive or negative, on our financial condition and results of operations for any particular reporting period.

We also attempt to mitigate the risks associated with principal transactions through our credit approval and credit monitoring
processes. We maintain a credit approval process as described above under the discussion of “Credit Risk” as a means of mitigating
exposure to counterparty risk. In addition, our credit risk department regularly monitors concentration of market risk to financial
instruments, countries or counterparties and regularly monitors trades that have not settled within prescribed settlement periods or
volume thresholds. We have developed and utilize a proprietary, electronic credit monitoring system, which provides management
with twice daily credit reports that analyze credit concentration.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
GFI Group Inc.
New York, New York

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of GFI Group Inc. and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, cash
flows and changes in stockholders’ equity for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control
over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of GFI Group
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
New York, New York
March 22, 2006
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GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

(Dollars in thousands except share and per share amounts)

  December 31  

  2005  2004  

ASSETS
     

Cash and cash equivalents
 

$ 144,148
 
$ 105,161

 

Deposits with clearing organizations
 

7,824
 

8,833
 

Accrued commissions receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts
 

89,727
 

50,665
 

Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing organizations
 

208,938
 

408,241
 

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements, net
 

31,674
 

25,449
 

Software inventory, net
 

5,687
 

3,495
 

Goodwill
 

26,683
 

11,482
 

Intangible assets, net
 

2,355
 

1,439
 

Other assets
 

59,101
 

25,458
 

TOTAL ASSETS
 

$ 576,137
 
$ 640,223

 

LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

     

LIABILITIES
     

Accrued compensation
 

$ 88,628
 
$ 64,097

 

Accounts payable and accrued expense
 

22,455
 

21,560
 

Payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations
 

165,766
 

376,065
 

Notes payable, net
 

31,247
 

49,591
 

Loan note payable
 

—
 

9,250
 

Income taxes payable
 

—
 

10,336
 

Other liabilities
 

28,914
 

23,041
 

Lease termination payable to affiliate
 

875
 

2,871
 

Total Liabilities
 

$ 337,885
 
$ 556,811

 

Commitments and contingencies
     

Series C redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value; none authorized
and outstanding at December 31, 2005; 35,373,704 shares authorized;
3,723,545 shares outstanding at December 31, 2004 (liquidation value of $41.5
million at December 31, 2004)

 
—

 
30,043

 

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
     

Convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value; none authorized and outstanding at
December 31, 2005; (liquidation value of $29.6 million at December 31, 2004)

 
—

 
29,069

 

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized none outstanding at
December 31, 2005; none authorized or outstanding at December 31, 2004

     

Class A common stock, $0.01 par value; none authorized and outstanding at
December 31, 2005; 100,000,000 authorized; 5,893,846 outstanding at
December 31, 2004

 
—

 
59

 

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized and 27,904,568
shares outstanding at December 31, 2005; 300,000,000 shares authorized;
10,155,809 outstanding at December 31, 2004

 
279

 
102

 

Additional paid in capital
 

195,360
 

35,162
 

Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)
 

44,790
 

(3,313)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss

 
(2,177) (7,710)

Total Stockholders’ Equity
 

238,252
 

53,369
 

TOTAL LIABILITIES, REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK
AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

 
$ 576,137

 
$ 640,223

 

 

See notes to consolidated financial statements
70

Source: GFI Group Inc., 10-K, March 24, 2006



GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

  Year Ended December 31,  

  2005  2004  2003  

REVENUES:
       

Brokerage revenues:
       

Agency commissions
 

$ 391,583
 
$ 262,039

 
$ 184,920

 

Principal transactions
 

114,417
 

101,339
 

65,237
 

Total brokerage revenues
 

506,000
 

363,378
 

250,157
 

Analytics and market data
 

17,395
 

16,081
 

13,143
 

Interest income
 

4,637
 

1,578
 

1,167
 

Other income
 

5,560
 

3,983
 

1,377
 

Total revenues
 

533,592
 

385,020
 

265,844
 

EXPENSES:
       

Compensation and employee benefits
 

327,345
 

241,847
 

166,276
 

Communications and quotes
 

25,860
 

20,536
 

16,512
 

Travel and promotion
 

24,652
 

19,511
 

14,301
 

Rent and occupancy
 

15,450
 

10,669
 

10,645
 

Depreciation and amortization
 

15,284
 

13,856
 

10,297
 

Professional fees
 

10,700
 

9,468
 

7,793
 

Clearing fees
 

13,683
 

9,816
 

3,668
 

Interest
 

3,635
 

3,159
 

2,470
 

Other expenses
 

13,890
 

10,353
 

6,533
 

Lease termination costs to affiliate
 

(1,196) 2,651
 

—
 

Total Expenses
 

449,303
 

341,866
 

238,495
 

INCOME BEFORE PROVISION FOR INCOME
TAXES

 
84,289

 
43,154

 
27,349

 

PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES
 

36,186
 

20,031
 

12,885
 

NET INCOME
 

$ 48,103
 
$ 23,123

 
$ 14,464

 

EARNINGS PER SHARE
       

Basic
 

$ 1.80
 
$ 1.01

 
$ 0.63

 

Diluted
 

$ 1.74
 
$ 0.95

 
$ 0.61

 

WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES
OUSTANDING BASIC

       

Class A common stock
 

484,426
 

5,893,846
 

5,893,846
 

Common stock
 

25,761,202
 

10,155,809
 

10,155,809
 

WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES
OUTSTANDING DILUTED

 
27,699,325

 
24,334,003

 
23,693,418

  

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In thousands)

  Year Ended December 31,  

  2005  2004  2003  

NET INCOME
 

$ 48,103
 
$ 23,123

 
$ 14,464

 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS):
       

Unrealized gain (loss) on foreign derivative exchange
contracts, net
of tax

 
5,353

 
(7,598) 417

 

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax
 

180
 

(129) (289)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

 
$ 53,636

 
$ 15,396

 
$ 14,592

 

 

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

  Year Ended December 31,  

  2005  2004  2003  

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
       

Net income
 

$ 48,103
 
$ 23,123

 
$ 14,464

 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:

       

Depreciation and amortization
 

15,284
 

13,856
 

10,297
 

Amortization of loan fees
 

400
 

270
 

142
 

Provision for doubtful accounts
 

649
 

815
 

(559)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets

 
—

 
—

 
86

 

Deferred compensation
 

4,110
 

195
 

44
 

(Benefit) provision for deferred taxes
 

9,666
 

(4,344) (771)
Loss on foreign currency exchange for notes payable

 
93

 
-

 
128

 

Loss (gain) on Fenics Purchase Obligation
 

2,030
 

570
 

(198)
Gain on foreign exchange derivative contracts

 
(7,344) —

 
—

 

Lease termination payable to affiliate
 

(1,195) 2,651
 

—
 

(Increase) decrease in operating assets:
       

Deposits with clearing organizations
 

1,009
 

(888) (845)
Accrued commissions receivable

 
(40,098) (22,981) 838

 

Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing
organizations

 
199,303

 
(215,562) (74,130)

Software inventory
 

(3,215) (1,584) (1,755)
Other assets

 
(40,788) (6,941) 692

 

Increase (decrease) in operating liabilities:
       

Accrued compensation
 

24,531
 

21,521
 

(3,111)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

 
516

 
(486) 1,995

 

Payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations
 

(210,298) 198,375
 

77,547
 

Income taxes payable
 

(169) 4,070
 

1,651
 

Other liabilities
 

13,769
 

2,552
 

2,409
 

Cash paid to affiliate for lease termination
 

(703) —
 

—
 

Cash provided by operating activities
 

15,653
 

15,212
 

28,924
 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
       

Cash used for business acquisitions and intangible assets
 

(19,631) —
 

(198)
Purchase of property, equipment and leasehold

improvements
 

(18,740) (7,795) (7,626)
Disposal of property and equipment

 
—

 
—

 
20

 

Proceeds from foreign exchange derivative contracts
 

2,636
 

—
 

—
 

Cash used in investing activities
 

(35,735) (7,795) (7,804)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

       

Repayment of notes payable
 

(68,500) (3,000) (7,500)
Proceeds from notes payable

 
49,712

 
14,500

 
18,000

 

Repayment of loan notes payable
 

(9,250) —
 

(7,739)
Payment of loan fees

 
—

 
(926) —

 

Issuance of common stock
 

73,651
 

—
 

—
 

Proceeds from exercises of stock options and a warrant
 

13,276
 

—
 

—
 

Cash provided by financing activities
 

58,889
 

10,574
 

2,761
 

Effects of foreign currency translation adjustment
 

180
 

(129) (289)
INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

 
38,987

 
17,862

 
23,592

 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF
PERIOD

 
105,161

 
87,299

 
63,707

 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD
 

$ 144,148
 
$ 105,161

 
$ 87,299

 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE:
       

Interest paid
 

$ 3,540
 
$ 3,036

 
$ 1,943

 

Income taxes paid, net of refunds
 

$ 33,211
 
$ 20,907

 
$ 12,581

  

See notes to consolidated financial statements

73

Source: GFI Group Inc., 10-K, March 24, 2006



GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands)

  

Convertible
Preferred

Stock  

Class A
Common

Stock  

Common
Stock  

Additional
Paid In
Capital  

Retained
Earnings

(Accumulated
Deficit)  

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)  Total  

BALANCE,
JANUARY 1, 2003

  
$ 29,069

   
$ 59

   
$ 102

   
$ 34,923

   
$ (40,900)

  
$ (111)

 
$ 23,142

 

Foreign currency
translation

                           

adjustment
  

—
   

—
   

—
   

—
   

—
   

(289)
 

(289)
Unrealized gains on

                           

foreign derivative
                           

exchange contracts
                      

417
  

417
 

Deferred compensation
  

—
   

—
   

—
   

44
   

—
   

—
  

44
 

Net income
  

—
   

—
   

—
   

—
   

14,464
   

—
  

14,464
 

BALANCE,
DECEMBER 31,
2003

  
29,069

   
59

   
102

   
34,967

   
(26,436)

  
17

  
37,778

 

Foreign currency
translation

                           

adjustment
  

—
   

—
   

—
   

—
   

—
   

(129)
 

(129)
Unrealized losses on

foreign
                           

derivative exchange
                           

contracts
  

—
   

—
   

—
   

—
   

—
   

(7,598)
 

(7,598)
Deferred compensation

  
—

   
—

   
—

   
195

   
—

   
—

  
195

 

Net income
  

—
   

—
   

—
   

—
   

23,123
   

—
  

23,123
 

BALANCE,
DECEMBER 31,
2004

  
29,069

   
59

   
102

   
35,162

   
(3,313)

  
(7,710)

 
53,369

 

Exercise of stock
options

                           

and a warrant
  

—
   

—
   

11
   

13,265
   

—
   

—
  

13,276
 

Proceeds from
issuance of

                           

common stock
  

—
   

—
   

40
   

73,611
   

—
   

—
  

73,651
 

Conversions of equity
  

(29,069)
  

(59)
  

126
   

59,045
   

—
   

—
  

30,043
 

Tax benefits associated
                           

with share-based
awards

  
—

   
—

   
—

   
10,167

   
—

   
—

  
10,167

 

Foreign currency
translation

                           

adjustment
  

—
   

—
   

—
   

—
   

—
   

180
  

180
 

Unrealized gains on
                           

foreign derivative
                           

exchange contracts
  

—
   

—
   

—
   

—
   

—
   

5,353
  

5,353
 

Deferred compensation
  

—
   

—
   

—
   

4,110
   

—
   

—
  

4,110
 

Net income
  

—
   

—
   

—
   

—
   

48,103
   

—
  

48,103
 

BALANCE,
DECEMBER 31,
2005

  
$ —

   
$ —

   
$ 279

   
$ 195,360

   
$ 44,790

   
$ (2,177)

 
$ 238,252

 

 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

1. ORGANIZATION AND BUSINESS

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of GFI Group Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Company”).
The Company, through its sole wholly-owned subsidiary GFInet inc. (“GFInet”), provides brokerage services, market data and
analytics software products to institutional clients in markets for a range of credit, financial, equity and commodity instruments. The
Company complements its brokerage capabilities with value-added services, such as data and analytics products for decision support,
which it licenses to the financial services industry and other corporations. The Company’s principal operating subsidiaries include:
GFI Securities LLC, GFI Brokers LLC, GFI Group LLC, GFI Securities Limited, GFI Brokers Limited, GFI (HK) Securities LLC,
GFI Group PTE Ltd. and Fenics Limited and subsidiaries (“Fenics”). As of December 31, 2005, Jersey Partners, Inc. (“JPI”) is the
largest shareholder of the Company’s common shares.

On January 31, 2005, the Company completed its initial public offering (the “IPO”), selling 3,947,369 shares of common stock at
$21.00 per share. Net proceeds to the Company from the IPO after deducting underwriters’ discounts and expenses were $73,651.

In January 2005, all shares of Class A Common Stock, Series A Preferred Stock, Series B Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred
Stock were automatically converted into Class B Common Stock. Each share of Class A Common Stock, Series A Preferred Stock and
Series C Preferred Stock converted into one share of Class B Common Stock. Each share of Series B Preferred Stock converted into
approximately 1.0017 shares of Class B Common Stock resulting in an additional 9,852 shares. Class B Common Stock was renamed
Common Stock.

2.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation—The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America, which require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the disclosure of contingencies in the consolidated financial
statements. Management believes that the estimates utilized in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are reasonable
and prudent. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

All material intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and highly liquid investments with maturities, when
purchased, of three months or less.

Receivables from and Payables to Brokers and Dealers—Receivables from and payables to brokers and dealers primarily
represent securities transactions which have not settled as of their stated settlement dates. These transactions relate primarily to the
simultaneous purchase and sale of securities by GFI Securities Limited and GFI Securities LLC to facilitate principal brokerage
transactions. Securities transactions executed by GFI Securities LLC and cleared through a clearing broker on a fully-disclosed basis
are presented net.

Brokerage Transactions—The Company provides brokerage services to its clients in the form of either agency or principal
transactions.

75

Source: GFI Group Inc., 10-K, March 24, 2006



GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

Agency Commissions—In agency transactions, the Company charges commissions for executing transactions between buyers
and sellers. Agency commissions revenues and related expenses are recognized on a trade date basis.

Principal Transactions—Principal transaction revenue is primarily derived from matched principal transactions. In matched
principal transactions, the Company simultaneously agrees to buy instruments from one customer and sell them to another customer.
A very limited number of brokerage desks are allowed to enter into unmatched principal transactions to facilitate a customer’s
execution needs for transactions initiated by such customers or for the purpose of proprietary trading to arbitrage the value between an
exchange traded fund and its component securities. These unmatched positions are intended to be held short term. The Company earns
revenue from principal transactions on the spread between the buy and sell price of the security that is brokered.

Additionally, from time to time, under the circumstances described above or if a transaction fails to settle on a timely basis, the
Company may hold securities positions overnight. These positions are marked to market on a daily basis. Principal transactions
revenues and related expenses are recognized on a trade date basis.

Analytics and Market Data Revenue Recognition—Analytics revenue consists mostly of fees for licenses of software products
as well as maintenance, installation, customer training and technical support of those products. Market data revenue primarily consists
of subscription fees and fees from customized one-time sales. Analytics revenue is recognized when all of the following criteria are
met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery of the product has occurred and no significant implementation obligations
remain, the fee is fixed and determinable, and collectibility is probable. Fees for future updates of software products are considered
separate arrangements and related revenues are recognized when the customer acknowledges participation in the update and delivery
occurs.   Market data revenue from subscription fees is recognized over the term of the subscription period, which is generally two
years. Market data revenue from customized one-time sales is recognized upon delivery of the data.

The Company markets its analytics and market data products through its direct sales force and indirectly through resellers. The
Company’s license agreements for such products do not provide for a right of return.

Property, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements—Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are stated at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are calculated using the straight-line method generally over
three to seven years. Property and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. Leasehold improvements are amortized
over the shorter of the remaining term of the respective lease to which they relate or the remaining useful life of the leasehold
improvement. Internal and external costs incurred in developing or obtaining computer software for internal use are capitalized in
accordance with Statement of Position (“SOP”) 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for
Internal Use, and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the software, generally three years. General
and administrative costs related to developing or obtaining such software are expensed as incurred.

Construction Type Contract—At December 31, 2005, the Company had a construction-type contract whereby the Company
would develop an online currency trading system and customize it for a customer. The Company will own the back-end portion of the
online currency trading system and this technology will
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be available to license to other third parties. The contract is accounted for using the completed-contract method in accordance with
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 45, Long-Term Construction-Type Contracts,” and with the applicable guidance provided by SOP
81-1, Accounting for Performance of Construction Type and Certain Production Type Contracts as the Company is unable to make
reasonably dependable estimates of progress towards completion. Under this method, revenues and expenses are deferred and netted
on the balance sheet until such time when the project is substantially complete. As of December 31, 2005, the net asset included in
other assets was $134, comprised of costs to date of $4,076 net of billings to date of $3,942. The Company does not anticipate a loss
on this contract.

Additionally, in conjunction with the product development and customization contract, the Company provides hosting services to
the customer. Revenue for hosting services is recognized as earned on the portion relating to the rendering of future hosting services.
Furthermore, the Company recognizes the deferred portion of the hosting services over the hosting period.

Software Inventory—In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 86, Accounting for the
Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed, the Company capitalizes certain costs of software developed
for new products or for significant enhancements to existing products, once technological feasibility is established. The Company
ceases capitalizing costs when the product is available for general release to the customers. Software inventory is stated at the lower of
cost or net realizable value, which is based on projected revenues. Amortization is calculated on the greater of the ratio of current year
revenue to current year revenue plus projected revenue or straight-line, generally over three years. Amortization begins when a
product is available for general release to customers. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged directly to expense as
incurred.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets—Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price allocation over the fair value of tangible
and identifiable intangible net assets acquired. In accordance with SFAS No. 142 Goodwill and Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”),
goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are no longer amortized, but instead are tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if circumstances indicate impairment may have occurred. In the event the Company determines that the value of goodwill
has become impaired, it will incur a charge for the amount of impairment during the fiscal quarter in which such determination is
made. The Company has selected January 1st as the date to perform the annual impairment test. Intangible assets with definite lives are
amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Prepaid Bonuses and Forgivable Employee Loans—Prepaid bonuses and forgivable loans to employees are stated at historical
value net of amortization where the contract between the Company and the employee provides for the return of proportionate amounts
outstanding if employment is severed prior to the termination of the contract. Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method
over the term of the contract, which is generally over three years. These forgivable loans have approximate market interest rates of up
to 4.5%. The Company expects to fully recover the prepaid bonuses and forgivable loans when employees terminate their employment
prior to the expiration of the contract.  The prepaid bonuses and forgivable loans are included in the Consolidated Statements of
Financial Condition in other assets.

Derivative Financial Instruments—The Company uses foreign exchange derivative contracts to reduce the effects of
fluctuations in the receivables from commissions denominated in foreign currencies. Certain contracts qualify as foreign currency cash
flow hedges under SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended (“SFAS No. 133”). The
Company reclassifies gains and
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losses on the foreign exchange derivative contracts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss into earnings at the time the
hedged transactions are recognized. The Company measures effectiveness by assessing the changes in the expected future cash flows
of the hedged items. The ineffective portion of the hedges, if any, is included in other income. There is no portion of the derivative
instruments’ gains or losses that has been excluded from the assessment of effectiveness. For foreign exchange derivative contracts
that do not qualify for hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133, the Company records these contracts at fair value and all realized and
unrealized gains and losses are included in other income in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

Income Taxes—In accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, the Company provides for income taxes using
the asset and liability method under which deferred income taxes are recognized for the estimated future tax effects attributable to
temporary differences and carry-forwards that result from events that have been recognized either in the financial statements or the
income tax returns, but not both. The measurement of current and deferred income tax liabilities and assets is based on provisions of
enacted tax laws. Valuation allowances are recognized if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that
some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments and Transactions—Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries having non-U.S.
dollar functional currencies are translated at the average rates of exchange for the period, and revenue and expenses are translated at
end-of-month rates of exchange. Gains or losses resulting from translating foreign currency financial statements are reflected in
foreign currency translation adjustments and are reported as a separate component of comprehensive income and included in
accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders’ equity. Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are
included in net income as other income.

Segment and Geographic Information—The Company’s only operating segment consists of its brokerage and analytic and
market data operations. This segment operates across domestic and international markets. Substantially all of the Company’s
identifiable assets are in the United States and the United Kingdom.

Stock-Based Compensation—Our share-based compensation consists of stock options and restricted stock units (“RSUs”).
Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation (“SFAS 123”), as amended by SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure,
prospectively to all awards granted, modified, or settled after January 1, 2003. Pursuant to this method, the Company expenses the
grant-date fair value of options issued to employees on or after January 1, 2003 over the related vesting period and the compensation
expense related to modifications of outstanding options is calculated as the difference between fair value of the existing and modified
options on the date of modification. Prior to January 1, 2003, the Company used the intrinsic method as prescribed by Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB 25”), as permitted by SFAS No. 123. For RSUs,
the fair value at the date of grant is recorded as deferred compensation and is amortized to compensation expense over the vesting
period of the grants.

78

Source: GFI Group Inc., 10-K, March 24, 2006



GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(In thousands except share and per share amounts)

The following pro forma financial information shows the effect, net of tax, on net income had the fair value method been applied
for all periods presented. See Note 15 for assumptions used in estimating fair value.

  Year ended December 31,  

  2005  2004  2003  

Net income- as reported
 

$ 48,103
 
$ 23,123

 
$ 14,464

 

Add:
       

Effect of stock-based employee compensation included in reported
net income, net of tax

 
2,561

 
33

 
44

 

Deduct:
       

Total stock-based employee compensation determined under fair
value method, net of tax

 
(2,690) (328) (433)

Net income- pro forma
 

$ 47,974
 
$ 22,828

 
$ 14,075

 

Basic earnings per share—as reported
 

$ 1.80
 
$ 1.01

 
$ 0.63

 

Basic earnings per share—pro forma
 

$ 1.79
 
$ 1.00

 
$ 0.62

 

Diluted earnings per share—as reported
 

$ 1.74
 
$ 0.95

 
$ 0.61

 

Diluted earnings per share—pro forma
 

$ 1.73
 
$ 0.94

 
$ 0.60

  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements—In March 2005, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 (“SAB No. 107”)
to provide guidance on SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment (“SFAS No. 123(R)”), which is a revision of SFAS No. 123. SAB
No. 107 provides the staff’s view regarding the valuation of share-based payment arrangements for public companies. In particular,
this SAB provides guidance related to share-based payment transactions with non-employees, the transition from nonpublic to public
entity status, valuation methods (including assumptions such as expected volatility and expected term), the accounting for certain
redeemable financial instruments issued under share-based payment arrangements, the classification of compensation expense,
non-GAAP financial measures, first time adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the modification of employee share options prior to the
adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) and disclosure in Management’s Discussion and Analysis subsequent to the adoption of SFAS
No. 123(R). SAB No. 107 became effective March 29, 2005. In April 2005, the SEC modified the effective date of SFAS
No. 123(R) to be as of the first reporting period of the first fiscal year beginning after June 15, 2005. The SEC’s modification of the
effective date did not change the accounting required by SFAS No. 123(R).

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective application transition method.
The adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) did not have a significant impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. Prior
to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized compensation costs were reported as operating
cash flows. SFAS No. 123(R) requires the excess tax benefits be reported as financing cash flow rather than as a reduction of taxes
paid.

Upon the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company will recognize a net gain of approximately $81 as a cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle in the first quarter of 2006 resulting from the requirement to estimate forfeitures at the date of grant
instead of recognizing them as incurred. The Company estimated the forfeiture rates based on historical experience.
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In March 2005, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 47, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations (“FIN
47”). FIN 47 clarifies that the term conditional asset retirement obligation as used in SFAS No. 143, refers to a legal obligation to
perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a future event that may or may
not be within the control of the entity. Accordingly, an entity is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset
retirement obligation if the fair value of the liability can be reasonably estimated. The liability for the conditional asset retirement
obligation should be recognized when incurred. This interpretation also clarifies when an entity would have sufficient information to
reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. FIN 47 is effective for fiscal periods beginning after December 15,
2005. The adoption of FIN 47 will not have a significant impact on the Company’s results of operations or financial position.

3.   DEPOSITS WITH CLEARING ORGANIZATIONS

The Company maintains deposits at various clearing companies and organizations that perform clearing and custodial functions
for the Company. These deposits consist of cash.

4.   ACCRUED COMMISSIONS RECEIVABLE

Accrued commissions receivable represent amounts due from brokers, dealers, banks and other financial and nonfinancial
institutions for the execution of securities, commodities, foreign exchange and derivative brokerage transactions. Accrued
commissions receivable are presented net of allowance for doubtful accounts of approximately $3,202 and $2,879 as of December 31,
2005 and 2004, respectively. The allowance is based on management’s estimate and is reviewed on a periodic basis based on the aging
of outstanding receivables and counterparty exposure.

5.   RECEIVABLES FROM AND PAYABLES TO BROKERS, DEALERS AND CLEARING ORGANIZATIONS

  December 31,  

  2005  2004  

Receivables from brokers, dealers and clearing
organizations:

     

Contract value of fails to deliver
 

$161,069
 
$376,452

 

Balance receivable from clearing
organizations

 
47,869

 
31,789

 

Total
 

$208,938
 
$408,241

 

Payables to brokers, dealers and clearing
organizations:

     

Contract value of fails to receive
 

$148,971
 
$357,349

 

Balance payable to clearing organizations
 

466
 

11,643
 

Payable to financial institutions
 

16,329
 

7,073
 

Total
 

$165,766
 
$376,065

 

 

Substantially all open fail to deliver and fail to receive transactions at December 31, 2005 and 2004 have subsequently settled at
the contracted amounts.
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6.   PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements consist of the following:

  Year Ended December 31,  

  2005  2004  

Software
 

$ 45,303
 
$ 40,357

 

Computer equipment
 

13,003
 

13,474
 

Leasehold improvements
 

13,357
 

7,387
 

Communications equipment
 

7,981
 

7,785
 

Furniture and fixtures
 

3,954
 

3,093
 

Automobiles
 

181
 

181
 

Total
 

83,779
 

72,277
 

Accumulated depreciation and amortization
 

(52,105) (46,828)
Property, equipment, and leasehold improvements less

accumulated depreciation and amortization
 

$ 31,674
 
$ 25,449

 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company removed from its consolidated financial statements $7,530 of fully
depreciated fixed assets that are no longer in use and related accumulated depreciation. Depreciation and amortization for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $12,807, $12,424, and $9,234, respectively.

In the fourth quarter, the Company identified certain internal use software development costs that were expensed as
compensation in prior quarters in 2005 rather than capitalized. The Company capitalized these expenses in the fourth quarter of 2005,
resulting in a reduction of $1,999 in compensation expense and an increase of $136 in depreciation and amortization expense
recognized in the quarter. The impact of this correction was not material to the net income of the Company for any quarter presented
and had no impact on net income for the year ended December 31, 2005.

7.   SOFTWARE INVENTORY

  December 31,  

  2005  2004  

Software inventory,
cost

     

Work in process
 
$ 4,295

 
$2,732

 

Finished goods
 

3,295
 

1,643
 

 

 
7,590

 
4,375

 

Accumulated
amortization

 
(1,903)

 
(880)

Software inventory,
net

 
$ 5,687

 
$3,495

 

 

Amortization for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $1,023, $625 and $255, respectively.
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8.   GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In March 2005, the Company made an offer to purchase for $8.37 per share all of the ordinary shares in Fenics Limited that were
not owned by the Company for a total purchase price of $4,454. In April 2005, the Company legally became the sole shareholder of
Fenics Limited. During the second and third quarters of 2005, Fenics minority shareholders were paid for 505,869 shares tendered to
the Company, or approximately 95% of the outstanding minority shares. The remaining minority shares will be paid for when they are
tendered to the Company. The acquisition of the Fenics minority shares resulted in an increase in goodwill of $1,378 during the
second and third quarters of 2005.

On September 15, 2005, the Company completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of
Starsupply Petroleum LLC (“Starsupply”). The results of Starsupply’s operations have been included in the consolidated financial
statements since that date. Starsupply was a leading broker of oil products and related derivative and option contracts. As a result of
the acquisition, the Company acquired several energy-related desks, including petroleum feedstocks, petroleum products, crude oil,
petrochemicals, product derivatives, crude derivatives, crude and product options, fuel oil and gas liquids.

The Starsupply acquisition was accounted for as a purchase business combination. Assets acquired were recorded at their fair
value as of September 15, 2005. The purchase price was $15,347 in cash including $221 of direct transaction costs related to the
acquisition, consisting primarily of legal and other professional fees. Management determined the fair value of the identifiable
intangible assets acquired based upon an independent valuation model. The purchase price was allocated as follows:

    Useful Life  

Assets:
     

Property, plant and
equipment

 
$ 292

 
3 – 7 Years

 

Intangible assets subject
to amortization-

     

Trade name
 

380
 

1 Year
 

Customer relationships
 

1,440
 

6 Years
 

Covenants not to
compete

 
550

 

3.5 Months –
5 Years

 

Goodwill
 

13,823
 

—
 

Total assets acquired
 
$ 16,485

   

Liabilities:
     

Accrued liabilities
 
$ 378

 
—

 

Above market
employment contracts

 
760

 
2 Years

 

Total liabilities assumed
 

1,138
   

Net Assets Acquired
 
$ 15,347
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Changes in the carrying amount of the Company’s goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2005 were as follows:

Goodwill:
   

Balance as of
December 31, 2003

 
$11,482

 

Goodwill acquired
during the year

 
—

 

Balance as of
December 31, 2004

 
11,482

 

Goodwill acquired
during the year

 
15,201

 

Balance as of
December 31, 2005

 
$26,683

 

 

Based on the results of its annual impairment tests, the Company determined that no impairment of goodwill existed as of
January 1, 2005, 2004 and 2003. The Company will continue to evaluate goodwill on an annual basis as of the beginning of its new
fiscal year, and whenever events and changes in circumstances indicate that there may be a potential impairment.

Intangible assets consisted of the following:

  December 31,  

  2005  2004  

Gross intangible assets
     

Customer
base/relationships

 
$2,490

 
$1,050

 

Trade name
 

1,750
 

1,370
 

Core technology
 

3,230
 

3,230
 

Covenants not to
compete

 
550

 
—

 

Patent
 

34
 

34
 

Total gross intangible
assets

 
8,054

 
5,684

 

Accumulated
amortization

 
5,699

 
4,245

 

Net intangible assets
 
$2,355

 
$1,439

 

 

Amortization for the years ending December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $1,454, $808 and $808, respectively.

At December 31, 2005, expected amortization expense for the definite lived intangible assets is as follows:

2006
 
$1,034

 

2007
 

361
 

2008
 

260
 

2009
 

260
 

2010
 

255
 

Total
 
$2,170
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9. OTHER ASSETS

Other assets consisted of the following:

  December 31,  

  2005  2004  

Prepaid bonuses
 
$ 31,107

 
$ 5,077

 

Forgivable employee
loans

 
2,582

 
—

 

Income taxes
receivable

 
7,540

 
—

 

Deferred tax assets
 

2,242
 

11,464
 

Other assets
 

15,630
 

8,917
 

Total Other Assets
 
$ 59,101

 
$ 25,458

 

 

10. NOTES PAYABLE

On August 23, 2004, the Company entered into a credit agreement with Bank of America N.A. and certain other lenders (the
“2004 Credit Agreement”). The 2004 Credit Agreement provides for a multicurrency revolving cash facility in a principal amount of
$80,000, which includes a letter of credit facility with a sub-limit of $30,000. The 2004 Credit Agreement can be increased to
$100,000 with the consent of the lenders. The 2004 Credit Agreement matures on August 23, 2007. Revolving loans may be either
base rate loans or currency rate loans. Currency rate loans and the letters of credit bear interest at the annual rate of LIBOR plus the
applicable margin in effect for that interest period. Base rate loans bear interest at a rate per annum equal to a base rate plus the
applicable margin in effect for that interest period. As long as no default has occurred under the 2004 Credit Agreement, the
applicable margin for both the base rate and currency rate loans is based on a matrix that varies with a ratio of outstanding debt to
EBITDA, as defined in the 2004 Credit Agreement. At December 31, 2005, the applicable margin is 1% and the one-month LIBOR is
4.39%. Amounts outstanding under the 2004 Credit Agreement are secured by substantially all the assets of the Company and certain
assets of the Company’s subsidiaries.

In February 2005, a portion of the proceeds from the IPO was used to pay down the current outstanding borrowings and interest
under the 2004 Credit Agreement.

  As of December 31,  

  2005  2004  

Loan Available (1)
 
$ 80,000

 
$ 80,000

 

Loans Outstanding
 
$ 31,805

 
$ 50,500

 

Letters of Credit
Outstanding

 
$ 6,500

 
$ 6,500

  

(1)          Amounts available include up to $30,000 for letters of credit.

As of December 31, 2005, the combined aggregate maturities for all outstanding notes payable were $31,805, which is due in
2006.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, notes payable were recorded net of unamortized loan fees of $558 and $909, respectively.

The 2004 Credit Agreement contains certain financial and other covenants. Effective December 31, 2005, the Company amended
one of its restrictive covenants related to a fixed charge ratio. The Company
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was in compliance with all applicable covenants, as amended, at December 31, 2005 and 2004. In addition, in February 2006, the
Company amended and restated the 2004 Credit Agreement. See Note 24 for further details.

11. INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:

  Year Ended December 31,  

  2005  2004  2003  

Current Provision:
       

Federal
 
$ 9,883

 
$ 6,690

 
$ 426

 

Foreign
 

12,369
 

14,212
 

9,906
 

State and local
 

4,268
 

3,473
 

3,324
 

Total current provision
 

26,520
 

24,375
 

13,656
 

Deferred Provision (Benefit):
       

Federal
 

3,136
 

(1,295) 2,455
 

Foreign
 

5,703
 

(2,257) (3,475)
State and local

 
827

 
(792) 249

 

Total deferred provision
(benefit)

 
9,666

 
(4,344) (771)

Total
 
$36,186

 
$20,031

 
$ 12,885

 

 

The Company had pre-tax income from foreign operations of  $46,773, $26,429 and $18,286 for the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Pre-tax income from domestic operations was $37,516, $16,725 and $9,063 for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets
and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when such differences are expected to
reverse. Significant components of the Company’s gross deferred tax assets (liabilities) are set forth below:

  As of December 31,  

  2005  2004  

Deferred tax assets:
     

Net operating/capital loss
carryforwards

 
$ 6,860

 
$ 3,514

 

Deferred compensation
 

2,451
 

101
 

Foreign deferred items
 

2,405
 

5,565
 

Liability reserves
 

1,217
 

681
 

Prepaid expenses
 

781
 

785
 

Foreign tax credits
 

686
 

1,830
 

Deferred revenue
 

436
 

—
 

Unrealized loss on currency hedging
 

—
 

3,244
 

Basis difference in foreign subsidiary
 

—
 

1,389
 

Other
 

1,287
 

444
 

Valuation allowance
 

(5,939) (3,514)
Total deferred tax assets

 
$ 10,184

 
$14,039

 

Deferred tax liabilities:
     

Depreciation/amortization
 
$ (7,689) $ (2,408)

Prepaid compensation
 

(2,697) —
 

Unrealized gain on currency hedging
 

(635) —
 

Other
 

(118) (167)
Total deferred tax liabilities

 
$(11,139) $ (2,575)

Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
 
$ (955) $11,464

 

 

Cumulative undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries were approximately $30,481 at December 31, 2005. No deferred U.S.
federal income taxes have been provided for the undistributed earnings to the extent that they are permanently reinvested in the
Company’s foreign operations. It is not practical to determine the amount of additional tax that may be payable in the event these
earnings are repatriated.

The deferred tax assets relating to foreign deferred items listed above consist primarily of depreciation and amortization and
unpaid intra-group royalties and interest. Additionally, during 2005, the valuation allowance was increased by $2,426, primarily due to
an increase in foreign net operating loss carryforwards. At December 31, 2005, the Company had U.S. net operating loss / capital loss
carryforwards of $8,918 and foreign net operating loss of $14,507. The U.S. amounts are subject to annual limitations on utilization
and will begin to expire in various years after 2005. The foreign amounts are primarily Singapore carryforwards that are subject to
annual limitations on utilization, but can be carried forward indefinitely. Further, the Company has $686 of foreign tax credit
carryforwards at December 31, 2005 that will expire in 2012.
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The corporate statutory U.S. federal tax rate was 35% for the three years presented. A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal
income tax rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate is set forth below:

  December 31,  

  2005  2004  2003  

U.S. federal income tax at statutory rate
 
35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

U.S. state and local income taxes, net of
federal tax benefit

 
4.1

 
4.8

 
8.5

 

Foreign operations
 

2.8
 

3.3
 

(2.4)
Non-deductible expenses

 
2.0

 
4.1

 
5.1

 

General business credit
 

(1.0) (1.0) (0.2)
Tax-Exempt Income

 
(0.3) —

 
—

 

Other
 

0.3
 

0.2
 

1.1
 

Effective income tax rate
 
42.9% 46.4% 47.1% 

The Company is subject to regular examinations by the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”), taxing authorities in foreign
countries, and states in which the Company has significant business operations. The Company regularly assesses the likelihood of
additional assessments in each taxing jurisdiction resulting from on-going and subsequent years’ examinations. Included in current tax
expense are charges to accruals for expected tax assessments in accordance with SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies. The
resolution of these tax matters could have a material impact on the Company’s effective tax rate.

12. SERIES C REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

In January 2005, all outstanding shares of Series C Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series C Preferred Stock”) were
automatically converted into common stock. Each share of Series C Preferred Stock converted into one share of common stock. At
December 31, 2005, there were no authorized or issued shares of Series C Preferred Stock. The Company had 3,723,545 outstanding
shares of Series C Preferred Stock at December 31, 2004. The Series C Preferred Stock had the following terms prior to conversion:

Redemption:   At any time, and from time to time, after the fifth anniversary of the Series C Preferred Stock issuance date,
holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of the Series C Preferred Stock could have requested redemption of all or any part of
the outstanding shares of Series C Preferred Stock. The redemption price per share of Series C Preferred Stock would have been an
amount equal to the Series C Preferred Stock issuance price multiplied by one and one-half (1.5).

Conversion:   Each share of Series C Preferred Stock was convertible at the option of the holder thereof at any time into shares of
Common Stock at an initial conversion rate of one share of Common Stock for each share of Series C Preferred Stock. Upon
completion of our IPO in January 2005, each share of the Series C Preferred Stock was converted into Common Stock at a conversion
rate of one-to-one based on the IPO price per share to the public.

Dividends:   Before the payment of any dividends in respect of any shares of GFI Common Stock, the holders of the Series C
Preferred Stock (on an as-if-converted to GFI Common Stock basis) would have been entitled to share ratably with the holders of GFI
Common Stock in certain dividends declared on the Common Stock.
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Voting Rights:   The holders of the Series C Preferred Stock, voting separately as a class, had certain voting and veto rights,
including the right to elect two of the directors of the Company. In addition, the holders of Series C Preferred Stock had the right to
vote, together with holders of Common Stock as a single class, on all matters upon which the holders of Common Stock (other than
the election of directors) were entitled to vote pursuant to applicable Delaware law or GFI’s Certificate of Incorporation.

Liquidation Preference:   In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of GFI, before any
payment or distribution of the assets of, or the proceeds thereof, may be made or set apart for the holders of any stock ranking junior
to the Series C Preferred Stock upon liquidation, the holders of Series C Preferred Stock would have been entitled to receive, a
liquidating distribution in an amount equal to greater of (a) the Series C Preferred Stock issuance price plus an amount equal to 8% of
the Series C Preferred Stock issuance price compounded annually, or (b) sum of the Series C Preferred Stock issuance price plus the
net distributable proceeds that the holders of the Series C Preferred Stock would have been entitled to receive for each share of
Series C Preferred Stock upon a liquidation event assuming a hypothetical conversion into Common Stock immediately prior to such
liquidation event.

Rank:   The Series C Preferred Stock ranked senior to the GFI Common Stock as well as the Company’s Series A and B
Preferred Stock, as to payment of dividends, voting, distributions of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, whether
voluntary or involuntary, or otherwise.

Purchase Price Adjustment:   In the event that an IPO or certain other corporate events set forth in the Series C Preferred Stock
purchase agreement had not taken place prior to the third anniversary of the issuance of the Series C Preferred Stock and the Company
had not met certain earnings thresholds, the Company would have been required to issue to the then-current holders of the Series C
Preferred Stock 449,592 shares of Common Stock, subject to adjustment, for each of the three years following the Series C Preferred
Stock issuance date in which the thresholds were not met. Such shares of Common Stock, if and when issued, would have been
subject to redemption on similar terms as set forth above for the Series C Preferred Stock.

13. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Conversion—During 2005, all shares of Class A common stock and Series A and B preferred stock were converted into Class B
common stock and Class B common stock was renamed Common Stock. See Note 1 for more details.

  

Class A
Common Stock

Shares  

Common
Stock
Shares  

Authorized (at December 31,
2005)

  
—

  
100,000,000

 

Outstanding:
       

January 1, 2003
  

5,893,846
  

10,155,809
 

December 31, 2003
  

5,893,846
  

10,155,809
 

December 31, 2004
  

5,893,846
  

10,155,809
 

December 31, 2005
  

—
  

27,904,568
 

Par value per share
  

$ 0.01
  
$ 0.01
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Share Issuance

During 2005, the Company issued 3,947,369 common shares in connection with its IPO (See Note 1), 12,648,277 shares of
common stock upon the conversions of Class A Common Stock, Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series A Preferred Stock”),
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock (Series B Preferred Stock”) and Series C Preferred Stock, 105,263 shares in connection with the
exercise of a warrant and 1,047,850 shares of common stock in connection with the exercises of stock options. The warrant was issued
in 2000 with an exercise price of $9.50 and was exercised in June 2005, resulting in proceeds of  $1,000 to the Company.
Additionally, the Company received total cash proceeds of $12,276 in connection with the exercises of stock options.

Common Stock

Each holder of GFI Common Stock is entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. Subject to
the rights of holders of the Company’s preferred stock, the holders of GFI Common Stock are entitled to receive dividends when, as
and if declared by GFI’s board of directors. Except as described below, the shares of GFI Common Stock do not have any preemptive
or other subscription rights, conversion rights or redemption or sinking fund provisions.

  Preferred Stock  

Series A
Preferred Stock  

Series B
Preferred Stock  

  Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  

Authorized
 
5,000,000

  
—

  
—

  
—

  
—

  
—

  

Outstanding:
                   

December 31, 2003
 

—
  

—
  
2,842,093

  
26,209

  
178,941

  
2,860

  

December 31, 2004
 

—
  

—
  
2,842,093

  
26,209

  
178,941

  
2,860

  

December 31, 2005
 

—
  

—
  

—
  

—
  

—
  

—
  

Par value per share
 
$ 0.01

  
—

  
$ 0.01

  
—

  
$ 0.01

  
—

   

Preferred Stock

Upon the completion of the IPO in January 2005, the Company had one class of preferred stock with 5,000,000 shares authorized
and none issued. The Series A Preferred Stock and the Series B Preferred Stock were converted into Common Stock in January 2005.

Series A Preferred Stock

The Series A Preferred Stock was undesignated upon the completion of the IPO in January 2005. Prior to the IPO, the Series A
Preferred Stock had the following terms:

Conversion:   Each share of Series A Preferred Stock was convertible at the option of the holder thereof at any time into shares of
Class B Common Stock of the Company at an initial conversion rate of one share of Class B Common Stock for each share of
Series A Preferred Stock. Upon completion of the Company’s IPO in January 2005, each share of Series A Preferred Stock was
automatically converted into one share of Common Stock.

Dividends:   Before the payment of any dividends in respect of any shares of GFI Common Stock, the holders of the Series A
Preferred Stock (on an as-if-converted to GFI Class B Common Stock basis) would
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have been entitled to share ratably with the holders of GFI Common Stock in certain dividends declared on the Class B Common
Stock.

Voting Rights:   The holders of GFI’s Series A Preferred Stock, voting separately as a class, had certain voting and veto rights,
including the right to elect one of the directors of the Company. In addition, the holders of Series A Preferred Stock had the right to
vote, together with holders of Class B Common Stock as a single class, on all matters upon which the holders of Class B Common
Stock (other than the election of directors) were entitled to vote pursuant to applicable Delaware law or GFI’s Certificate of
Incorporation.

Liquidation Preference:   In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of GFI, before any
payment or distribution of the assets of GFI, or the proceeds thereof, might be made or set apart for the holders of any stock ranking
junior to the Series A Preferred Stock upon liquidation, the holders of Series A Preferred Stock would have been entitled to receive a
liquidating distribution of $9.50 per share, subject to adjustment, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends.

Rank:   The Series A Preferred Stock ranked senior to the GFI Common Stock and on parity with the Series B Preferred Stock as
to payment of dividends, voting, distributions of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, whether voluntary or involuntary,
or otherwise.

Series B Preferred Stock

The Series B Preferred Stock was converted upon the completion of the IPO in January 2005. Prior to the IPO, the Series B
Preferred Stock had the following terms:

Conversion:   Each share of Series B Preferred Stock was automatically convertible into shares of Class B Common Stock,
immediately prior to the closing of an IPO, at an initial conversion rate of one share of Class B Common Stock for each share of
Series B Preferred Stock.

Dividends:   Before the payment of any dividends in respect of any shares of GFI Common Stock, the holders of the Series B
Preferred Stock (on an as-if-converted to GFI Class B Common Stock basis) would have been entitled to share ratably with the
holders of GFI Common Stock in certain dividends declared on the Class B Common.

Voting Rights:   Except as provided by law, the Series B Preferred Stock generally did not have any voting rights. To the extent
the Series B Preferred Stock had voting rights, such stock was required to be voted equally with the shares of Class B Common Stock,
and not as a separate class.

Liquidation Preference:   In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of GFI, before any
payment or distribution of the assets of GFI, or the proceeds thereof, might be made or set apart for the holders of any stock ranking
junior to the Series B Preferred Stock upon liquidation, the holders of Series B Preferred Stock would have been entitled to receive a
liquidating distribution of $14. 25 per share, plus any accrued and unpaid dividends.

Rank:   The Series B Preferred Stock ranked senior to the GFI Common Stock and on parity with the Series A Preferred Stock as
to payment of dividends, voting, distributions of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding-up, whether voluntary or involuntary,
or otherwise.
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Series A Preferred Stock, the Series B Preferred Stock, and the Series C Preferred Stock, (together, the “Convertible
Preferred Securities”) were participating securities, such that in the event a dividend was declared or paid on the common stock, the
Company would have been required to declare and pay dividends on the Convertible Preferred Securities as if the Convertible
Preferred Securities had been converted into common stock. Basic earnings per share for Class A and Common Stock is calculated by
dividing net income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of Class A and Common Stock outstanding,
respectively, during the period.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income by the sum of the weighted average number of shares outstanding
plus the dilutive effect of convertible preferred stock using the “if-converted” method, contingently issuable shares of Common Stock
to the Series C Preferred Stockholders (See Note 12) and outstanding stock options and warrant using the “treasury stock” method.

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 were as follows:

  December 31,  

  2005  2004  2003  

Basic earnings per share
       

Net income applicable to stockholders
 

$ 48,103
 
$ 23,123

 
$ 14,464

 

Income allocated to participating preferred
stockholders

 
(903) (6,842) (4,280)

Income available to common stockholders
 

$ 47,200
 
$ 16,281

 
$ 10,184

 

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
       

Class A common stock
 

484,426
 

5,893,846
 

5,893,846
 

Common stock
 

25,761,202
 

10,155,809
 

10,155,809
 

Weighted average common shares outstanding
 

26,245,628
 

16,049,655
 

16,049,655
 

Basic earnings per share—Class A and Common stock
 

$ 1.80
 
$ 1.01

 
$ 0.63

 

Diluted earnings per share
       

Net income applicable to stockholders
 

$ 48,103
 
$ 23,123

 
$ 14,464

 

Weighted average common shares outstanding
 

26,245,628
 

16,049,655
 

16,049,655
 

Effect of dilutive shares:
       

Options, warrant and RSUs
 

899,348
 

190,993
 

—
 

Convertible preferred shares
 

248,304
 

3,021,034
 

3,021,034
 

Redeemable convertible preferred shares
 

306,045
 

3,723,545
 

3,723,545
 

Effect of contingently issuable shares subject to
Series C purchase price adjustment

 
—

 
1,348,776

 
899,184

 

Weighted average shares outstanding and common
stock equivalents

 
27,699,325

 
24,334,003

 
23,693,418

 

Diluted earnings per share
 

$ 1.74
 
$ 0.95

 
$ 0.61

 

 

Options and a warrant to purchase 24,658, 263,079, and 1,674,882 shares with exercise prices greater than the average market
prices of common stock, as estimated by management, were outstanding during 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and were excluded
from the respective computations of diluted earnings
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per share because their effect would be anti-dilutive. Options to purchase 1,248,191, and 803,552 shares were outstanding under the
GFI Group Inc. 2002 Stock Option Plan (“GFI Group 2002 Plan”) at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and were excluded
from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the respective periods because the contingency related to the exercisability of
these options was not met. This contingency was met upon the Company’s IPO, which occurred in January 2005. Consequently,
options granted under the GFI Group 2002 Plan have been included in diluted earnings per share to the extent they are dilutive.
Further, 198,754 RSUs were also excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2005
because their effect would have been anti-dilutive.

15. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

In October 2004 the Company adopted the GFI Group Inc. 2004 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2004 Equity Incentive Plan”). This
plan permits the grant of non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, shares of restricted stock, restricted stock units and
performance units to employees, non-employee directors or consultants. Subject to certain adjustment provisions in this plan,
3,000,000 shares of our common stock, or any other security issued by the Company in substitution or exchange therefore, are
available for grants of awards under this plan.  There were no grants under the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan during 2004.

The following activity relating to the RSUs has occurred under the Company’s 2004 Equity Incentive Plan during 2005:

Outstanding
December 31, 2004

 
—

 

Granted
 
608,359

 

Vested
 

(6,333)
Cancelled

 
(2,801)

Outstanding
December 31, 2005

 
599,225

 

 

The weighted average fair value per each RSU granted during the year was $31.91.

As of December 31, 2005, the Company had stock options outstanding under two plans: the GFI Group 2002 Plan and the
GFInet inc. 2000 Stock Option plan (the “GFInet 2000 Plan”). No additional grants will be made under these plans. Under each plan:
options were granted to employees, non-employee directors or consultants to the Company; both incentive and non-qualified stock
options were available for grant; options were issued with terms up to ten years from date of grant; and options were generally issued
with an exercise price equal to or greater than the fair market value at the time the option was granted. In addition to these terms, both
the GFI 2002 Group Plan and the GFInet 2000 Plan contained events that had to occur prior to any options becoming exercisable.
Options outstanding under both plans are exercisable for common stock.

The exercisability of options issued under the GFI Group 2002 Plan was contingent upon the Company completing an initial
public offering of the Company’s common stock, which occurred in January 2005. During 2004, the Company amended all
outstanding options issued under the GFI Group 2002 Plan prior to January 1, 2003 to extend the term of each option. These
amendments were accounted for as modifications under SFAS 123. Pursuant to the requirements of SFAS 123, options issued on or
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after January 1, 2003 are measured at fair value at the date of grant. All options modified after January 1, 2003 are measured at the
incremental fair value of the options calculated on the date of modification, in addition to the amount calculated as fair value on the
date of grant. For options issued on or modified after January 1, 2003, compensation expense measured on the date of grant or
modification were recorded upon our IPO in January 2005 to the extent such options were vested with the remaining compensation
expense to be recorded over the remaining vesting period.

The exercisability of options issued under the GFInet 2000 Plan was contingent upon the earlier of the Company completing an
IPO of the Company’s common stock, which occurred in January 2005, or the date upon which certain limited liability companies that
have purchased our capital stock distribute such capital stock to their members. The measurement date for all options issued under the
GFInet 2000 Plan was the date of grant. During 2001, options were issued under the GFInet 2000 Plan with exercise prices below the
fair market value of the stock at the date of grant.

The following compensation expense was recognized for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003:

  2005  2004  2003  

GFInet 2000 Plan
 
$ 64

 
$ 195

  
$44

  

GFI Group 2002
Plan

 
1,315

 
—

  
—

  

2004 Equity
Incentive Plan

 
2,731

 
—

  
—

  

Total
 
$ 4,110

 
$ 195

  
$44

  

 

The weighted average fair value of the stock options granted or modified during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003
was $1.68 and $0, respectively, utilizing the weighted average assumptions described below. The fair value of the options granted or
modified under both the GFI Group 2002 Plan and GFInet 2000 Plan was estimated on the date of grant or modification using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: (i) dividend yield of 0%; (ii) expected term of five years;
(iii) volatility of 0% (until the filing of the Company’s initial registration statement on June 16, 2004); and (iv) an average risk-free
interest rate of 3.4% and 2.9% for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. In estimating the fair value of options
granted subsequent to the filing of its initial registration statement on June 16, 2004, the Company assumed an average volatility of
33% based on the average volatilities of comparable public entities. Options under both plans vest ratably over a period of two to four
years.

All repriced and modified options are reflected as cancellations and grants in all the summaries below of stock option
transactions.
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A summary of stock option transactions is as follows:

  GFI Group 2002 Plan  GFInet 2000 Plan  

  Options  

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price  Options  

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price  

Outstanding January 1, 2003
 

648,236
  

$ 11.88
  

1,734,492
  

$ 12.36
  

Granted
 

208,316
  

11.88
  

—
  

—
  

Terminated
 

(53,000)
 

11.88
  

(164,873)
 

14.64
  

Outstanding December 31, 2003
 

803,552
  

11.88
  

1,569,619
  

12.12
  

Granted
 

1,098,551
  

13.77
  

141,052
  

11.93
  

Terminated
 

(653,912)
 

11.88
  

(253,390)
 

14.37
  

Outstanding December 31, 2004
 

1,248,191
  

13.55
  

1,457,282
  

11.71
  

Exercised
 

(261,491)
 

12.44
  

(786,359)
 

11.48
  

Terminated
 

(33,263)
 

16.48
  

(12,261)
 

17.15
  

Outstanding December 31, 2005
 

953,437
  

$ 13.75
  

658,662
  

$ 11.88
  

 

The following table summarizes information about the GFI Group 2002 Plan options as of December 31, 2005:

 Stock Options Outstanding  Stock Options Exercisable  

Exercise Price  

Options
Outstanding  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Life (Years)  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  

Number
Exercisable  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  

$ 11.88
   

757,461
   

8.48
   

$ 11.88
   

499,751
   

$ 11.88
  

 
21.00

   
195,976

   
8.78

   
21.00

   
42,341

   
21.00

   

The following table summarizes information about the GFInet 2000 Plan options as of December 31, 2005:

 Stock Options Outstanding  Stock Options Exercisable  

Exercise Price  

Options
Outstanding  

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Life (Years)  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  

Number
Exercisable  

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  

$ 9.50
   

451,392
   

4.42
   

$ 9.50
   

451,392
   

$ 9.50
  

 
11.88

   
54,238

   
6.57

   
11.88

   
54,238

   
11.88

  

14.25
   

23,890
   

4.99
   

14.25
   

23,890
   

14.25
  

 
19.00

   
108,386

   
5.09

   
19.00

   
108,386

   
19.00

  

23.75
   

20,756
   

4.54
   

23.75
   

20,756
   

23.75
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16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Leases – The Company has non-cancelable operating leases for computer hardware and software, communications
equipment, and office space that expire on various dates through 2016. At December 31, 2005, the future minimum rental
commitments under such leases are as follows:

2006
 
$ 4,659

 

2007
 

3,964
 

2008
 

5,789
 

2009
 

6,078
 

2010
 

6,577
 

Thereafter
 

21,916
 

Total
 
$48,983

 

 

In November 2005, the Company ceased using its leased office space located on Hewett Street. However, the Company is
obligated to pay the remaining rent plus other related charges through October 2006. As such, the Company includes the remaining
rent related to Hewett Street in the future minimum rental commitments. The total minimum rental commitments under this leased
totaled $919, all of which are due within the next twelve months. See Note 23 for further details. In February 2006, the Company also
vacated from its leased office space located on Christopher Street in London. The lease provides for an early termination option
without a penalty in February 2008. Consequently, the Company includes the future minimum rental commitments related to this lease
for the period from January 2006 through February 2008. The total minimum rental commitments under this leased totaled $447, all of
which are due within three years. See Note 24 for further details.

Many of the leases for office space contain escalation clauses that require payment of additional rent to the extent of increases in
certain operating and other costs. In addition, certain of the Company’s leases grant a free rent period. The accompanying consolidated
statements of income reflect all rent expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the leases. Rent expense under the leases for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003 was $8,194, $4,300, and $3,990, respectively.

Purchase Obligations—The Company has various unconditional purchase obligations. These obligations are for the purchase of
quotes from a number of information service providers during the normal course of business. As of December 31, 2005, the Company
had total purchase commitment for quotes of approximately $7,772, with $5,087 due within the next twelve months and $2,685 due
between one to two years. Additionally, the Company has purchase commitments for capital expenditures related to its U.K. primary
lease of £562 (approximately $966) and $517 related to the office relocation and expansion in Japan. All of these purchase
commitments for capital expenditures are due within the next twelve months.

Contingencies—In the normal course of business, the Company and certain subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial
statements have been named as defendants in various lawsuits and proceedings and have been involved in certain regulatory
examinations. Additional actions, investigations or proceedings may be brought from time to time in the future. We are subject to the
possibility of losses from these various contingencies. Considerable judgment is necessary to estimate the probability and amount of
any loss from such contingencies. An accrual is made when it is probable that a liability has been
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incurred or an asset has been impaired and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company accrues a liability for the
estimated costs of adjudication or settlement of asserted and unasserted claims existing as of the balance sheet date.

The Company has recorded reserves for certain contingencies to which we may have exposure, such as reserves for certain
income tax and litigation contingencies and contingencies related to the employer portion of National Insurance Contributions in the
U.K.

It is not presently possible to determine the Company’s ultimate exposure to these matters and there is no assurance that the
resolution of these matters will not significantly exceed the reserves accrued by the Company. It is the opinion of the Company’s
management that the ultimate resolution of these matters, while not likely to have a material adverse effect on the consolidated
financial condition of the Company, could be material to the Company’s operating results for any particular period.

Risks and Uncertainties—The Company primarily generates its revenues by executing and facilitating transactions for
counterparties. Revenues for these services are transaction based. As a result, the Company’s revenues could vary based upon the
transaction volume of securities, commodities, foreign exchange and derivative markets.

Guarantees—The Company, through its subsidiaries, is a member of certain exchanges and clearinghouses. Under the
membership agreements, members are generally required to guarantee certain obligations. Additionally, if a member becomes unable
to satisfy its obligations to the clearinghouse, other members may be required to meet shortfalls. To mitigate these performance risks,
the exchanges and clearinghouses often require members to post collateral as well as meet certain minimum financial standards. The
Company’s maximum potential liability under these arrangements cannot be quantified. However, management believes that the
potential for the Company to be required to make payments under these arrangements is unlikely. Accordingly, no contingent liability
is recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition for these arrangements.

17. RETIREMENT PLANS

In the United States, the Company has established the GFI Group 401(k) plan, pursuant to the applicable laws of the Internal
Revenue Code. It is available to all eligible U.S. employees as stated in the plan document and is subject to the provisions of the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974. Employees may voluntarily contribute a portion of their compensation, not to
exceed the statutory limit. The Company did not make any contributions to the plan for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, or
2003.

In the U.K. the Company has established two defined contribution plans pursuant to the applicable laws in the U.K. Employees of
the U.K. subsidiaries may voluntarily designate a portion of their monthly compensation to be contributed, which the Company
matches up to a certain percentage. The GFI Group Personal Pension Plans are open to all U.K. employees after the completion of
three months of employment. Additionally, there is an Occupational Pension Plan which is available only to senior employees. The
Company also matches contributions made under this plan. The Company has made aggregate contributions of $1,198, $1,166, and
$959 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, for the GFI Group Personal Pension Plans and Occupational Pension Plan.
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18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS WITH OFF-BALANCE SHEET RISK
The Company, through GFInet and GLLC and their primary subsidiaries, operates as an inter-dealer broker. In this role, the

Company is interposed between buyers and sellers (“counterparties”). Agency brokerage transactions facilitated by the Company are
settled between the counterparties on a give-up basis. Principal transactions are cleared through various clearing organizations. In the
event of counterparty nonperformance, the Company may be required to purchase or sell financial instruments at unfavorable market
prices, which may result in a loss to the Company. The Company does not anticipate nonperformance by counterparties. The
Company monitors its credit risk daily and has a policy of reviewing regularly the credit standing of counterparties with which it
conducts business.

Unsettled transactions (i.e., securities failed-to-receive and securities failed-to-deliver) are attributable to matched-principal
transactions executed by subsidiaries and are recorded at contract value. Cash settlement is achieved upon receipt or delivery of the
security. In the event of nonperformance, the Company may purchase or sell the security in the market and seek reimbursement for
losses from the contracted counterparty.

19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Derivative Financial Instrument—The Company is exposed to changes in the U.S. Dollar compared to the British Pound and the
Euro for anticipated sales and expenses in those currencies. The risk management policy of the Company is to manage transactional
foreign exchange exposure through the use of foreign exchange forward and foreign exchange collar contracts (“Foreign Exchange
Derivative Contracts”). Certain of these Foreign Exchange Derivative Contracts are designated and qualify as foreign currency cash
flow hedges under SFAS No. 133. The Foreign Exchange Derivative Contracts are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of
Financial Condition at fair value in other assets or other liabilities. Gains and losses on the effective portion of the hedges as well as
on the underlying items being hedged are recorded to other income in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

In March 2005, the Company discontinued hedge accounting for a foreign exchange derivative contract that was previously
designated and qualified as a hedge under SFAS No. 133. The de-designation of this contract was necessary because the Company
renegotiated the exchange rates in the contract that resulted in its termination and the execution of a new contract. Subsequent to such
de-designation, the Company discontinued prospectively hedge accounting for the original contract. Unrealized losses on the original
contract will remain in accumulated other comprehensive loss and will be reclassified into earnings over the term of the original
contract. Since de-designation, $2,281 ($1,597 after-tax) was reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss into earnings. In
addition, at December 31, 2005, there was $4,533 before tax ($3,173 after-tax) in accumulated other comprehensive loss, which
represents the remaining unrealized loss related to the de-designated foreign exchange derivative contract, that will be recognized over
the next twelve months. The new foreign exchange derivative contract did not qualify for hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133.
Accordingly, this contract was recorded at fair value and all realized and unrealized gains and losses were included in earnings. The
contract was settled at June 30, 2005 for a realized gain of $1,131. From the inception of this new contract through June 30, 2005, the
Company recorded a net gain in other income of $7,805 related to these two contracts.

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, there was no hedge ineffectiveness. For the years ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, unrealized gains (losses) before tax totaling $7,813, $(11,141) and $716, respectively, were recorded as other
comprehensive income (loss). The Company estimates that $1,827 of net derivative losses included in accumulated other
comprehensive loss will be

97

Source: GFI Group Inc., 10-K, March 24, 2006



GFI GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(In thousands except per share and per share amounts)

reclassified into earnings within the next twelve months. There has been no discontinuance of cash flow hedges that would require a
reclassification of gains into earnings. Management does not anticipate any events or transactions that would result in the
reclassification into earnings of gains and losses that are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income due to hedge
discontinuance.

The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. The counterparties with whom the
Company trades foreign exchange contracts are major international financial institutions. The Company monitors its positions with
and the credit quality of these financial institutions and does not expect nonperformance by the counterparties.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments—Substantially all of the Company’s assets and liabilities are carried at fair value or
contracted amounts that approximate fair value. Assets and liabilities that are recorded at contracted amounts approximating fair value
consist primarily of receivables from and payables to brokers, dealers and clearing organizations. These receivables and payables are
short term in nature and have subsequently substantially all settled at the contracted amounts. The Company’s debt obligations are
carried at historical amounts. The fair value of the Company’s debt obligations was estimated using market rates of interest available
to the Company for debt obligations of similar types and approximates the carrying value at December 31, 2005 and 2004. The
Company’s derivatives are summarized below showing the fair value of the related assets and liabilities that are included in other
assets or other liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows:

Asset/(Liabilities)    2005  2004  

Foreign Exchange Derivative
Contracts:      

Assets  $ 2,196
 
$ —

 

Liabilities  (79) (10,812)
Fenics Purchase Obligation  (144) (1,022) 

The fair value of the Foreign Exchange Derivative Contracts were estimated based on quoted market prices of comparable
instruments. The fair value of the Fenics Purchase Obligation was estimated using an exchange option model that included
assumptions of management’s estimate of the fair value of the common stock of the Company and the common stock of Fenics,
volatility, correlation and the expected life of the obligation.

20. REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

GFI Securities LLC is a registered broker-dealer with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the National Association of
Securities Dealers, Inc. (“NASD”). GFI Securities LLC is also a registered introducing broker with the National Futures Association
and the Commodity Futures Trading Commission. Accordingly, GFI Securities LLC is subject to the Net Capital rules under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the Commodity Exchange Act. Under these rules, GFI Securities LLC is required to maintain
minimum Net Capital of not less than the greater of $250 or 2% of aggregate debits, as defined.

At December 31, 2005, GFI Securities LLC had Net Capital and Excess Net Capital as follows:

  GFI Securities LLC  

Net Capital   $ 44,697
 
 

Minimum Net
Capital   250  

Excess Net
Capital   $ 44,447
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GFI Brokers Limited and GFI Securities Limited are subject to the capital requirements of the Financial Services Authority in the
United Kingdom. Under this rule, minimum capital, as defined, must be maintained as follows at December 31, 2005:

  GFI Brokers  GFI Securities  

Net Capital
  

$ 14,169
   

$ 23,908
  

Minimum Net Capital
Required

  
8,541

   
14,099

  

Excess Net Capital
  

$ 5,628
   

$ 9,809
  

 

GFI (HK) Securities LLC is subject to the capital requirements of the Securities and Futures Commission in Hong Kong, which
require that GFI (HK) Securities LLC maintain minimum capital, as defined, of approximately $423. At December 31, 2005 GFI (HK)
Securities LLC had capital of approximately $1,123 which exceeded the minimum requirement by approximately $700.

GFI Group PTE Ltd is subject to the compliance requirements of the Monetary Authority of Singapore (“MAS”), which require
that GFI Group PTE Ltd, among other things, maintain stockholders’ equity of 3,000 Singapore dollars, measured annually. At
December 31, 2005, GFI Group PTE Ltd. had stockholders’ equity of 4,219 Singapore dollars (or approximately $2,535), which
exceeded the minimum requirement by approximately 1,219 Singapore dollars (or approximately $733).

GFI Securities Limited’s Japanese branch is required to maintain “brought-in” capital, as defined, of 50,000 Japanese Yen as part
of its licensing requirement, in accordance with the Foreign Securities Firms Law. Additionally, GFI Securities Limited is subject to
the Japan Securities Dealers Association’s (“JSDA”) financial requirement that revenue plus “brought-in” capital exceed a ratio of
120.0% of relevant expenditure. At December 31, 2005, GFI Securities Limited met the licensing requirement by maintaining
“brought-in” capital of 50,000 Japanese Yen (approximately $424) as part of the Foreign Securities Firms Law. Additionally, GFI
Securities Limited’s revenue plus “brought-in” capital ratio was 656%, which exceeded the JSDA’s financial requirement by
approximately 536%.

GFI Securities Limited’s Paris branch was established through the exercise of its passport right to open a branch in an EEA state.
This branch commenced operation on February 1, 2006. The establishment of the branch was approved by FSA and acknowledged by
Banque de France in France. The branch will be subject to the conduct of business rules of AMF when dealing with resident
customers of France and will be regulated, in part, by the FSA.

GFI Brokers Limited’s Sydney branch is registered as a foreign corporation in Australia and is conditionally exempt from the
requirement to hold an Australian financial services license under the Australian Securities and Investments Commission Corporations
Act 2001 in respect of the financial services it provides in Australia. This exemption applies to foreign companies regulated by the
FSA in accordance with U.K. regulatory standards.

Regulatory rules may restrict the Company’s ability to withdraw capital from its regulated subsidiaries. The Company’s regulated
subsidiaries were in compliance with all minimum net capital requirements as of December 31, 2005.

21. GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The Company offers its products and services in the North America, Europe and the Asia-Pacific region.
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Information regarding revenue for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, and information regarding long-lived
assets (defined as property, equipment, leasehold improvements and software inventory) in geographic areas as of December 31, 2005
and 2004 are as follows:

  For the year ended December 31,  

  2005  2004  2003  

Revenues:
       

North America
 
$268,101

 
$170,661

 
$101,666

 

Europe
 

225,013
 

191,831
 

143,911
 

Asia-Pacific
 

40,478
 

22,528
 

20,267
 

Total
 
$533,592

 
$385,020

 
$265,844

 

 

  As of December 31,  

  2005  2004  

Long-lived Assets, as
defined:

     

North America
 
$25,200

 
$24,686

 

Europe
 

10,645
 

3,304
 

Asia-Pacific
 

1,516
 

954
 

Total
 
$37,361

 
$28,944

 

 

Revenues are attributed to geographic areas based on the location of the relevant legal entities.

22. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

  For the year ended December 31,  

  2005  2004  2003  

Unrealized gain (loss) on foreign exchange
derivative contracts

       

Current Period Change:
       

Before Tax Amount
 

$ 7,813
 
$ (11,141) $ 716

 

Tax Expense (Benefit)
 

(2,460) 3,543
 

(299)
After Tax Amount

 
$ 5,353

 
$ (7,598) $ 417

 

Foreign currency translation adjustment
       

Before Tax Amount
 

$ 341
 
$ (284) $ (496)

Tax Expense (Benefit)
 

(161) 155
 

207
 

After Tax Amount
 

$ 180
 
$ (129) $ (289)

 

23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Office lease arrangements with affiliates

The Company, through its subsidiary GFI Holdings Ltd., previously leased its primary U.K. office space under a lease agreement
with a wholly owned subsidiary of JPI, which was due to expire in 2016. In December 2004, the Company and this affiliate entered
into a lease termination agreement whereby both parties agreed to terminate this lease effective September 2005 and to make certain
termination and other payments upon such termination. The Company accrued £1,500 (approximately $2,871) for the estimated costs
to terminate the lease. In April 2005, the Company and the affiliate amended the Lease Termination Agreement. The amendment
accelerated the termination of the lease to April 2005 and reduced the
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termination charge to £200 (approximately $381), thus reducing the Company’s termination liability by approximately £1,200 (or
$2,266). In return, GFI Holdings Ltd. signed a new sublease with the subsidiary of JPI for an eighteen-month period with rent of £500
(approximately $895) per annum plus related costs, such as utilities, real estate taxes and service charges. However, in
November 2005, the Company vacated the premise, with one year remaining on the sublease, and accrued £535 (approximately $919)
which represented the approximated fair value of the for the remaining rent plus other related charges at year-end. Included in this
amount was £127 (approximately $218) which will be paid to third parties.

In addition, the Company leases a corporate apartment in London from GFI Brokers (Channel Islands) Limited. We currently pay
a monthly lease payment of approximately £2 for this apartment. The lease term for this corporate apartment is on a month-to-month
basis.

Forgivable Loans to Employees

The Company periodically provides forgivable employee loans in the form of sign-on as part of employment agreements. See
Notes 2 and 9 for further details.

24. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In January 2006, the Company granted 131,015 RSUs under the 2004 Equity Incentive Plan with a grant date fair value of
$54.59. Substantially all of these RSUs vest over three years and convert into an equal number of unrestricted shares of common stock
upon vesting.

In February 2006, the Company vacated its leased premises located on Christopher Street and moved all remaining employees to
its new office in London. The lease for Christopher Street is expected to expire in February 2013. In addition, this lease provides for
an early termination option without a penalty, which is set in February 2008. Under FASB 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with
Exit or Disposal Activities, a liability for other costs that will continue to be incurred under a contract for its remaining term without
economic benefit to the entity should be recognized and measured at its fair value when the entity ceases using the right conveyed by
the contract. Therefore, during the first quarter of 2006, the Company recorded an accrual for the fair value of remaining rents and
plus other related charges in the amount of £441 (or approximately $783).

In February 2006, we amended and restated the terms of our 2004 Credit Agreement. The amended and restated credit facility
(the “2006 Credit Agreement”) provides for maximum borrowings of $135,000 and has an expiration date of February 24, 2011.
Under the 2006 Credit Agreement, loans will bear interest of the London Interbank Offered Rate LIBOR plus a margin determined by
our consolidated leverage ratio as defined in the amended and restated credit facility. The 2006 Credit Agreement contains covenants
which restricts, among other things, our ability to borrow, pay dividends, distribute assets, guarantee debts of others and lend funds to
affiliated companies and contains criteria on the maintenance of certain financial statement amounts and ratios, all as defined in the
agreement. Amounts outstanding under the 2006 Credit Agreement are secured by substantially all the assets of the Company and
certain assets of the Company’s subsidiaries.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
ISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company’s management carried out an evaluation, under the supervision
and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of the period covered by this annual report in
providing a reasonable level of assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports we file or furnish under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.

In addition, the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has
evaluated the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting and determined that there have been no changes in our internal
controls over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of 2005 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART III

ITEM 10.       DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item will be set forth under the caption “Election of Directors” in the
registrant’s proxy statement (the “Proxy Statement”) to be furnished to stockholders in connection with the 2006 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be held on May 31, 2006, and is incorporated herein by reference.

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item with respect to compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act
will be set forth under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy Statement, and is
incorporated herein by reference.

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all directors, officers and employees. We have also
adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that is applicable to the Company’s senior financial and accounting officers
(including the chief executive officer, chief financial officer and corporate controller). A copy of these codes are posted on the
Company’s website, www.gfigroup.com, under the section “Investor Relations—Corporate Governance” and are filed as exhibits to
this Annual Report of Form 10-K. In the event the Company substantively amends or waives a provision of its Codes of Business
Conduct and Ethics, the Company intends to disclose the amendment or waiver on the Company’s website as well.

ITEM 11.       EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item will be set forth under the caption “Executive Compensation” in
the Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 12.       SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item will be set forth under the captions “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners”, “Security Ownership of Directors and Executive Officers” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the
Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13.       CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item will be set forth under the caption “Certain Relationships and
Related Party Transactions” in the Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14.         PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this item will be set forth under the caption “Fees Paid to Independent
Auditors” in the Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) Financial Statements.   See Index to Financial Statements on page 68.

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules.   We have included Schedule I—Condensed Financial Information of GFI Group Inc.
(Parent Company Only) on pages I-1 to I-5.

(a)(3) Exhibits.   The following Exhibits are filed as part of this Report as required by Regulation S-K. Exhibits 10.5 through
10.14 are management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements.

Number    Description   

 3.1*
 

Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant. (Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to
the Company’s Form 10-K, File No. 000-51103).

 3.2*
 

Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant. (Filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s
Form 10-K, File No. 000-51103)

 4.1*
 

See Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2 for provisions of the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation and Second Amended and Restated Bylaws for the Registrant defining the rights of
holders of Common Stock of the Registrant.

 4.2*
 

Specimen Stock Certificate. (Filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, File No. 333-116517)

 4.3*
 

Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement, dated as of June 3, 2002, among the Registrant and
the stockholders named therein. (Filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, File No. 333-116517)
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Number    Description   

 4.4*
 

Series A Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 10, 2000, between the Registrant and the
parties named therein, as amended by the Amendment Agreement dated as of November 30, 2001, by
and among the Registrant, GFInet inc. and the parties named therein, as amended by Amendment
No. 2 to the Registration Rights Agreement dated as of June 3, 2002, by and among the Registrant and
the parties named therein. (Filed as Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
File No. 333-116517)

4.5*
 

Series B Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2000, between the Registrant and the
parties named therein, as amended by the Amendment Agreement dated as of November 30, 2001, by
and among the Registrant, GFInet inc. and the parties named therein, as amended by Amendment
No. 2 to the Registration Rights Agreement dated as of June 3, 2002, by and among the Registrant and
the parties named therein. (Filed as Exhibit 4.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
File No. 333-116517)

 4.6*
 

Series C Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 3, 2002, between the Registrant and the
parties named therein. (Filed as Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
File No. 333-116517)

 4.7*
 

Warrant dated June 15, 2000 issued to Newnetco LLC.  (Filed as Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-116517)

10.1*
 

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated February 24, 2006, among the Registrant and GFI
Holdings Limited, as borrowers, subsidiaries of the Registrant named therein, as guarantors, Bank of
America, N.A., as administrative agent, Barclays Bank Plc, as syndication agent, the other lenders
party thereto and Bank of America Securities LLC, as sole lead arranger and sole book running
manager. (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 28, 2006)

10.2
 

Amended and Restated Domestic Security Agreement, dated February 24, 2006, by the Registrant,
GFI Group LLC, GFInet inc., GFI Brokers LLC, Interactive Ventures LLC and Fenics Software Inc.
as grantors, in favor of Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent.

10.3.1*
 

Debenture, dated August 23, 2004, by GFI Holdings Limited and the other subsidiaries named therein,
as chargors, in favor of Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent. (Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-116517)

10.3.2
 

Supplemental Indenture, dated February 24, 2006, by GFI Holdings Limited and other subsidiaries
named therein, as chargors, in favor of Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent.

10.4*
 

Disability Agreement, dated as of December 30, 2004, between the Registrant and Michael A. Gooch.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-116517)

10.5*
 

Employment Agreement, dated as of July 17, 2000, between the Registrant and Donald P. Fewer, as
amended by the First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated as of March 11, 2004. (Filed as
Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-116517)
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Number    Description   

10.6*
 

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2002, between the GFI Holdings Limited and Stephen
McMillan. (Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File
No. 333-116517)

10.7*
 

Employment Agreement, dated as of November 18, 2002, between the Registrant and James A. Peers.
(Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-116517)

10.8*
 

Employment Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2003, between GFI Holdings Limited and Jurgen
Breuer. (Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File
No. 333-116517)

10.9*
 

2002 Stock Option Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File
No. 333-116517)

10.10*
 

2000 Stock Option Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File
No. 333-116517)

10.11*
 

GFI Group Occupational Pension Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, File No. 333-116517)

10.12*
 

Guardian Trust of GFI Brokers Limited. (Filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, File No. 333-116517)

10.13*
 

2004 Equity Incentive Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, File
No. 333-116517)

10.14*
 

Senior Executive Annual Bonus Plan. (Filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, File No. 333-116517)

14.1*
 

GFI Group Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. (Filed as Exhibti 14.1 to the Company’s
Form 10-K, File No. 000-51103)

14.2*
 

GFI Group Inc. Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for Senior Financial Officers. (Filed as
Exhibit 14.2 to the Company’s Form 10-K, File No. 000-51103)

21.1*
 

List of subsidiaries of the Registrant. (Filed as Exhibit 21.1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1,
File No. 333-116517)

23.1
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
31.1

 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer.
31.2

 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer.
32.1

 

Written Statement of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 9.06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).

32.2
 

Written Statement of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 9.06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 (18 U.S.C. Section 1350).

*                    Previously filed.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005 to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto
duly authorized, on the 23rd day of March, 2006.

GFI GROUP INC.
 

By: /s/ JAMES
A. PEERS

 

Name: James A.
Peers

 

Title:  Chief
Financial Officer 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report on Form 10-K has been signed by the following
persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature   Title   Date  

/s/ MICHAEL GOOCH
 

Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive

 

March 23, 2006

Michael Gooch
 

Officer (principal executive officer)
  

/s/ COLIN HEFFRON
 

President and Director
 

March 23, 2006
Colin Heffron

    

/s/ JAMES A. PEERS
 

Chief Financial Officer (principal
financial and

 

March 23, 2006

James A. Peers
 

accounting officer)
  

/s/ GEOFFREY KALISH
 

Director
 

March 23, 2006
Geoffrey Kalish

    

/s/ CHRISTOPHER PIKE
 

Director
 

March 23, 2006
Christopher Pike

    

/s/ JOHN W. WARD
 

Director
 

March 23, 2006
John W. Ward

    

/s/ MARISA CASSONI
 

Director
 

March 23, 2006
Marisa Cassoni
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Schedule I

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
GFI Group Inc.
New York, New York

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of GFI Group Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31,
2005 and 2004, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, and have issued our report thereon dated
March 22, 2006; such report is included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule of the
Company listed in Item 15. This financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion based on our audits. In our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic
financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York
March 22, 2006
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GFI GROUP INC.
(Parent Company Only)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

DECEMBER 31, 2005 AND 2004
(In thousands)

  December 31  

  2005  2004  

Assets:
     

Cash and cash equivalents
 

$ 5,230
 
$ 25

 

Investments in subsidiaries, equity basis
 

105,146
 

64,059
 

Advances to subsidiaries
 

145,531
 

65,687
 

Other assets
 

3,022
 

3,376
 

Total assets
 

$ 258,929
 
$ 133,147

 

Liabilities, Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and
Stockholders’ Equity:

     

Notes payable, net
 

$ 19,442
 
$ 49,591

 

Other liabilities
 

1,235
 

144
 

 

 
20,677

 
49,735

 

Redeemable convertible preferred stock
 

—
 

30,043
 

Stockholders’ equity
 

238,252
 

53,369
 

Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stock and
stockholders’ equity

 
$ 258,929

 
$ 133,147

 

 

See notes to condensed financial statements.
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GFI GROUP INC.
(Parent Company Only)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004 AND 2003
(In thousands)

  2005  2004  2003  

REVENUES:
       

Equity in income from subsidiaries
 

$50,682
 
$24,299

 
$15,297

 

Interest income
 

247
 

23
 

138
 

Total revenues
 

50,929
 

24,322
 

15,435
 

EXPENSES:
       

Interest expense
 

1,116
 

1,642
 

1,489
 

Other expenses
 

3,651
 

576
 

183
 

Total expenses
 

4,767
 

2,218
 

1,672
 

INCOME BEFORE BENEFIT FROM
INCOME TAXES

 
46,162

 
22,104

 
13,763

 

BENEFIT FROM INCOME TAXES
 

1,941
 

1,019
 

701
 

NET INCOME
 

$48,103
 
$23,123

 
$14,464

 

 

See notes to condensed financial statements.
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GFI GROUP INC.
(Parent Company Only)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004 AND 2003
(In thousands)

  2005  2004  2003  

Cash flows from operating activities
       

Net income
 

$ 48,103
 
$ 23,123

 
$ 14,464

 

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
used in operating activities

       

Noncash transactions in net income
 

(52,072) (24,853) (15,809)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities

 
3,386

 
(2,111) 97

 

Cash used in operating activities
 

(583) (3,841) (1,248)
Cash flows used in investing activities

 
(50,590) (18,490) (14,535)

Cash flows provided by financing activities
 

56,378
 

10,574
 

10,500
 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
 

5,205
 

(11,757) (5,283)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

 
25

 
11,782

 
17,065

 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
 

$ 5,230
 
$ 25

 
$ 11,782

 

 

See notes to condensed financial statements.
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GFI GROUP INC.
(Parent Company Only)

NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2004 AND 2003

(In thousands)

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying condensed financial statements (the “Parent Company Financial Statements”), including the notes thereto,
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of GFI Group Inc. and subsidiaries (“the Company”) and the
notes thereto.

The Parent Company Financial Statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 are prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, which require management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the disclosure of contingencies in the
condensed financial statements. Management believes that the estimates utilized in the preparation of the condensed financial
statements are reasonable and prudent. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

2. GUARANTEES

From time to time, the Company provides guarantees, on behalf of its subsidiaries, to clients for the purpose of providing credit
enhancement for such clients. Such guarantees generally provide that the Company will guarantee the performance of all liabilities,
obligations and undertakings owed by such subsidiary with respect to matched principal transactions entered into by such subsidiary
with the relevant client. These guarantees are generally terminable on less than 30 days notice. The Company has not recorded any
contingent liability in the condensed financial statements for these indemnifications and believes that the occurrence of any events that
would trigger payments under these guarantees is remote.

3. ADVANCES TO SUBSIDIARIES

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, GFI Group Inc. had receivables from subsidiaries of $145,531 and $65,687 related primarily
to the allocation of funds received, from notes payable and issuance of equity securities, to subsidiaries to fund working capital.

4. NOTES PAYABLE

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, GFI Group Inc. had notes payable of $19,442 and $49,591 related to a credit agreement with
Bank of America N.A. and certain other lenders (the “2004 Credit Agreement”). The notes payable were recorded net of unamortized
loan fees of $558 and $909 for years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. In addition, GFI Group Inc. guarantees
borrowings under the 2004 Credit Agreement made by certain of its subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2005, there was borrowings of
$11,805 outstanding by a subsidiary subject to such guarantee.
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Exhibit 10.2
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED
DOMESTIC SECURITY AGREEMENT

 
THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED DOMESTIC SECURITY AGREEMENT (as amended and modified from time to

time, this “Domestic Security Agreement”) dated as of February 24, 2006 is by and among the parties identified as “Grantors” on the
signature pages hereto and such other parties as may become Grantors hereunder after the date hereof (individually a “Grantor”, and
collectively the “Grantors”) and Bank of America, N.A. as administrative agent (in such capacity, the “Administrative Agent”) for the
holders of the Secured Obligations referenced below and amends and restates that certain Domestic Security Agreement, dated as of
August 23, 2004, as amended and modified from time to time prior to the date hereof, among the grantors from time to time party
thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent.

 
W I T N E S S E T H

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to that certain Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of February 24, 2006 (as amended,

modified, supplemented and extended from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”) among GFI Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(“GFI”), GFI Holdings Limited (the “Foreign Borrower”; together with GFI, the “Borrowers”), the Guarantors from time to time party
thereto, the Lenders from time to time party thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent and L/C Issuer, the Lenders
have agreed to provide an amended and restated credit facility to replace and refinance that certain Credit Agreement dated as of
August 23, 2004, as amended and modified, supplemented or extended from time to time prior to the date hereof, among the
Borrowers, the guarantors from time to time party thereto, the lenders from time to time party thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as
administrative agent; and

 
WHEREAS, this Domestic Security Agreement is required under the terms of the Credit Agreement.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these premises and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and

sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:
 
1.             Definitions.
 
(a)           Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings provided in the Credit Agreement.
 
(b)           The following terms shall have the meanings assigned thereto in the Uniform Commercial Code in effect in the

State of New York on the date hereof:  Accession, Account, As-Extracted Collateral, Chattel Paper, Commercial Tort Claim,
Consumer Goods, Deposit Account, Document, Equipment, Farm Products, Fixtures, General Intangible, Goods, Instrument,
Inventory, Investment Property, Letter-of-Credit Right, Manufactured Home, Proceeds, Software, Standing Timber, Supporting
Obligation and Tangible Chattel Paper.

 
(c)           As used herein, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:
 

“Collateral” has the meaning provided in Section 2 hereof.
 

“Copyright License” means any written agreement, naming any Grantor as licensor, granting any right under any
Copyright.

 
“Copyrights” means (a) all copyrights registered in the United States or any other country in all Works, now existing

or hereafter created or acquired, all registrations and recordings thereof, and all applications in connection therewith,
including, without limitation, registrations, recordings and
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applications in the United States Copyright Office or in any similar office or agency of the United States, any state thereof or
any other country or political subdivision thereof, or otherwise, and (b) all renewals thereof.

 
“Patent License” means any agreement, whether written or oral, providing for the grant by or to a Grantor of any

right to manufacture, use or sell any invention covered by a Patent.
 

“Patents” means (a) all letters patent of the United States or any other country and all reissues and extensions
thereof, and (b) all applications for letters patent of the United States or any other country and all divisions, continuations and
continuations-in-part thereof.

 
“Secured Obligations” means, without duplication, (i) all of the obligations of the Loan Parties to the Lenders

(including any L/C Issuer) and the Administrative Agent, under the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document
(including, but not limited to, any interest accruing after the commencement of a proceeding by or against any Loan Party
under any Debtor Relief Laws, regardless of whether such interest is an allowed claim under such proceeding), whether now
existing or hereafter arising, due or to become due, direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, howsoever evidenced, created,
held or acquired, whether primary, secondary, direct, contingent, or joint and several, as such obligations may be amended,
modified, increased, extended, renewed or replaced from time to time, (ii) all of the obligations owing by the Loan Parties
under any Swap Contract between any Loan Party and any Lender or Affiliate of a Lender, whether now existing or hereafter
arising, (iii) all of the obligations owing by the Loan Parties under any Treasury Management Agreement between any Loan
Party and any Lender or Affiliate of a Lender, whether now existing or hereafter arising, and (iv) all costs and expenses
incurred in connection with enforcement and collection of the obligations described in the foregoing clauses (i), (ii) and (iii),
including Attorney Costs.

 
“Trademark License” means any agreement, written or oral, providing for the grant by or to a Grantor of any right to

use any Trademark.
 

“Trademarks” means (a) all trademarks, trade names, corporate names, company names, business names, fictitious
business names, trade styles, service marks, logos and other source or business identifiers, and the goodwill associated
therewith, now existing or hereafter adopted or acquired, all registrations and recordings thereof, and all applications in
connection therewith, whether in the United States Patent and Trademark Office or in any similar office or agency of the
United States, any state thereof or any other country or any political subdivision thereof, or otherwise and (b) all renewals
thereof.

 
“UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code.
 
“Work” means any work that is subject to copyright protection pursuant to Title 17 of the United States Code.

 
2.             Grant of Security Interest in the Collateral. To secure the prompt payment and performance in full when due, whether by lapse of time,

acceleration, mandatory prepayment or otherwise, of the Secured Obligations, each Grantor hereby grants to the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the
holders of the Secured Obligations, a continuing security interest in, any and all right, title and interest of such Grantor in and to all of the following, whether
now owned or existing or owned, acquired, or arising hereafter (collectively, the “Collateral”):

 
(a)           all Accounts (excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, customer accounts that are not accounts of such

Grantor);
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(b)           all cash and currency;
 
(c)           all Chattel Paper;
 
(d)           those Commercial Tort Claims identified on Schedule 2(d) attached hereto;
 
(e)           all Copyrights;
 
(f)            all Copyright Licenses;
 
(g)           all Deposit Accounts;
 
(h)           all Documents;
 
(i)            all Equipment;
 
(j)            all Fixtures;
 
(k)           all General Intangibles;
 
(l)            all Goods;
 
(m)          all Instruments;
 
(n)           all Inventory;
 
(o)           all Investment Property;
 
(p)           all Letter-of-Credit Rights;
 
(q)           all Patents;
 
(r)            all Patent Licenses;
 
(s)           all Software;
 
(t)            all Supporting Obligations;
 
(u)           all Trademarks;
 
(v)           all Trademark Licenses; and
 
(w)          to the extent not otherwise included, all Accessions and all Proceeds of any and all of the foregoing.
 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the security interests granted under this Domestic

Security Agreement shall not extend to (i) any permit, lease, license, contract or other instrument of a Grantor if the grant of a
security interest in such permit, lease, license, contract or other instrument (including, without limitation, any purchase
agreement and any assets subject to a purchase money security interest in respect thereof) in the manner contemplated by this
Domestic Security Agreement, under the terms thereof or under applicable law, is prohibited and would result
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in the termination thereof or give the other parties thereto the right to terminate, accelerate or otherwise alter such Grantor’s
rights, titles and interests thereunder (including upon the giving of notice or the lapse of time or both); provided that any such
limitation on the security interests granted hereunder shall only apply to the extent that (A) after reasonable efforts, consent
from the relevant party or parties has not been obtained and (B) any such prohibition could not be rendered ineffective
pursuant to the UCC or any other applicable law (including Debtor Relief Laws) or principles of equity, (ii) any Capital
Stock in any Subsidiary and (iii) any Pledged Collateral (as defined in the Domestic Pledge Agreement).

 
The Grantors and the Administrative Agent, on behalf of the holders of the Secured Obligations, hereby acknowledge and

agree that the security interest created hereby in the Collateral (i) constitutes continuing collateral security for all of the Secured
Obligations, whether now existing or hereafter arising and (ii) is not and shall not be construed as an assignment of any Copyrights,
Copyright Licenses, Patents, Patent Licenses, Trademarks or Trademark Licenses.

 
3.             Provisions Relating to Accounts.
 
(a)           Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, each of the Grantors shall remain liable under each of the

Accounts to observe and perform all the conditions and obligations to be observed and performed by it thereunder, all in accordance
with the terms of any agreement giving rise to each such Account. Neither the Administrative Agent nor any holder of the Secured
Obligations shall have any obligation or liability under any Account (or any agreement giving rise thereto) by reason of or arising out
of this Domestic Security Agreement or the receipt by the Administrative Agent or any holder of the Secured Obligations of any
payment relating to such Account pursuant hereto, nor shall the Administrative Agent or any holder of the Secured Obligations be
obligated in any manner to perform any of the obligations of a Grantor under or pursuant to any Account (or any agreement giving rise
thereto), to make any payment, to make any inquiry as to the nature or the sufficiency of any payment received by it or as to the
sufficiency of any performance by any party under any Account (or any agreement giving rise thereto), to present or file any claim, to
take any action to enforce any performance or to collect the payment of any amounts that may have been assigned to it or to which it
may be entitled at any time or times.

 
(b)           At any time after the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default, (i) the Administrative Agent

shall have the right, but not the obligation, to make test verifications of the Accounts in any manner and through any medium that it
reasonably considers advisable, and the Grantors shall furnish all such assistance and information as the Administrative Agent may
reasonably require in connection with such test verifications and (ii) the Administrative Agent in its own name or in the name of
others may communicate with account debtors on the Accounts to verify with them to the Administrative Agent’s satisfaction the
existence, amount and terms of any Accounts.

 
4.             Representations and Warranties. Each Grantor hereby represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the holders of

the Secured Obligations, that so long as any of the Secured Obligations remains outstanding and until all of the commitments relating thereto have been
terminated:

 
(a)           Legal Name. As of the date hereof:

 
(i)            Each Grantor’s exact legal name, taxpayer identification number, organization identification

number, and state of formation are (and for the prior five years have been) as set forth on Schedule 4(a) attached
hereto.
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(ii)           Other than as set forth on Schedule 4(a) attached hereto, no Grantor has been party to a merger,

consolidation or other change in structure or used any tradename in the prior five years.
 

(b)           Ownership. Each Grantor is the legal and beneficial owner of its Collateral and has the right to pledge,
sell, assign or transfer the same.

 
(c)           Security Interest/Priority. This Domestic Security Agreement creates a valid security interest in favor of

the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the holders of the Secured Obligations, in the Collateral of such Grantor and,
when properly perfected by filing, shall constitute a valid perfected security interest in such Collateral, to the extent such
security interest can be perfected by filing under the UCC, free and clear of all Liens except for Permitted Liens.

 
(d)           Types of Collateral. None of the Collateral consists of, or is the Accessions or the Proceeds of,

As-Extracted Collateral, Consumer Goods, Farm Products, Manufactured Homes, or Standing Timber.
 

(e)           Accounts. With respect to the Accounts of the Grantors reflected as accounts receivable on the
consolidated balance sheet of GFI and its Subsidiaries most recently delivered to the Administrative Agent pursuant to the
Credit Agreement, (i) each Account of the Grantors and the papers and documents relating thereto are genuine and in all
material respects what they purport to be, (ii) each Account arises out of (A) a bona fide sale of goods sold and delivered by
such Grantor (or is in the process of being delivered) or (B) services theretofore actually rendered by such Grantor to, the
account debtor named therein, (iii) any Account of a Grantor evidenced by any Instrument or Chattel Paper has, to the extent
requested by the Administrative Agent, been endorsed over and delivered to, or submitted to the control of, the
Administrative Agent and (iv) no surety bond was required or given in connection with any Account of a Grantor or the
contracts or purchase orders out of which they arose.

 
(f)            Inventory. No Inventory of a Grantor is held by any Person other than a Grantor pursuant to consignment,

sale or return, sale on approval or similar arrangement.
 

(g)           Copyrights, Patents and Trademarks.
 
(i)            Schedule 6.17 to the Credit Agreement includes all Copyrights, Patents, Trademarks and material

Copyright Licenses, Patent Licenses and Trademark Licenses owned by any Grantor in its own name, or to which
any Grantor is a party, as of the date hereof.

 
(ii)           To each Grantor’s knowledge, each material Copyright, Patent and Trademark of such Grantor is

valid, subsisting, unexpired, enforceable and has not been abandoned.
 

(iii)          Except as set forth in Schedule 6.17 to the Credit Agreement, none of the material Copyrights,
Patents and Trademarks of any Grantor is the subject of any licensing or franchise agreement, as of the date hereof.

 
(iv)          To each Grantor’s knowledge, no holding, decision or judgment has been rendered by any

Governmental Authority that would limit, cancel or question the validity of any material Copyright, Patent or
Trademark of any Grantor.
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(v)           No action or proceeding is pending seeking to limit, cancel or question the validity of any

material Copyright, Patent or Trademark of any Grantor, or that could be expected to have a material adverse effect
on the value of any material Copyright, Patent or Trademark of any Grantor.

 
(vi)          All applications pertaining to the material Copyrights, Patents and Trademarks of each Grantor

have been duly and properly filed, and all registrations or letters pertaining to such Copyrights, Patents and
Trademarks have been duly and properly filed and issued, and all of such Copyrights, Patents and Trademarks are
valid and enforceable.

 
(vii)         No Grantor has made any assignment or agreement in conflict with the security interest in the

Copyrights, Patents or Trademarks of any Grantor hereunder.
 

(h)           Commercial Tort Claims. Such Grantor has no commercial tort claims other than (i) those listed on
Schedule 2(d), or (ii) as to which the actions required by Section 5(k) have been taken.

 
5.             Covenants. Each Grantor covenants that, so long as any of the Secured Obligations remains outstanding and until all of the commitments

relating thereto have been terminated, such Grantor shall:
 

(a)           Other Liens. Defend the Collateral against the claims and demands of all other parties claiming an interest
therein other than Permitted Liens.

 
(b)           Instruments/Tangible Chattel Paper/Documents. If any amount payable under or in connection with any of

the Collateral shall be or become evidenced by any Instrument or Tangible Chattel Paper, or if any property constituting
Collateral shall be stored or shipped subject to a Document, (i) ensure that such Instrument, Tangible Chattel Paper or
Document is either in the possession of such Grantor at all times or, if requested by the Administrative Agent, is immediately
delivered to the Administrative Agent, duly endorsed in a manner reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and (ii)
ensure that any Collateral consisting of an Instrument or Tangible Chattel Paper is marked with a legend acceptable to the
Administrative Agent indicating the Administrative Agent’s security interest in such Instrument or Tangible Chattel Paper.

 
(c)           Change in Structure, Location or Type. Not, without providing ten days prior written notice to the

Administrative Agent (i) change its name or state of formation, (ii) be party to a merger, consolidation or other change in
structure or (iii) use any tradename other than as set forth on Schedule 4(a) attached hereto.

 
(d)           Perfection of Security Interest. Execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent such agreements,

assignments or instruments (including affidavits, notices, reaffirmations and amendments and restatements of existing
documents, as the Administrative Agent may reasonably request) and do all such other things as the Administrative Agent
may reasonably deem necessary, appropriate or convenient (i) to assure to the Administrative Agent the effectiveness,
perfection and priority of its security interests hereunder, including (A) such instruments as the Administrative Agent may
from time to time reasonably request in order to perfect and maintain the security interests granted hereunder in accordance
with the UCC, (B) with regard to Copyrights registered in the United States, a Notice of Grant of Security Interest in
Copyrights for filing with the United States Copyright Office in the form of Exhibit 5(d)(i) attached hereto, (C) with regard to
Patents registered in the United States, a Notice of Grant of Security Interest in Patents for filing with the United States
Patent and Trademark Office in the form of Exhibit 5(d)(ii) attached hereto and (D) with regard to Trademarks registered
with the United States Patent and Trademark Office and all applications for Trademarks filed with the United States Patent
and Trademark Office, a Notice of

 
6

Source: GFI Group Inc., 10-K, March 24, 2006



 
Grant of Security Interest in Trademarks for filing with the United States Patent and Trademark Office in the form of Exhibit
5(d)(iii) attached hereto, (ii) to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and (iii) to otherwise protect and assure the
Administrative Agent of its rights and interests hereunder. To that end, each Grantor authorizes the Administrative Agent to
file one or more financing statements (with collateral descriptions broader, including without limitation “all assets” and/or
“all personal property” collateral descriptions, and/or less specific than the description of the Collateral contained herein)
disclosing the Administrative Agent’s security interest in any or all of the Collateral of such Grantor without such Grantor’s
signature thereon (provided that no such description shall be deemed to modify the description of Collateral in Section 2),
and further each Grantor also hereby irrevocably makes, constitutes and appoints the Administrative Agent, its nominee or
any other Person whom the Administrative Agent may designate, as such Grantor’s attorney-in-fact with full power and for
the limited purpose to sign in the name of such Grantor any such financing statements (including renewal statements),
amendments and supplements, notices or any similar documents that in the Administrative Agent’s sole discretion would be
necessary, appropriate or convenient in order to perfect and maintain perfection of the security interests granted hereunder,
such power, being coupled with an interest, being and remaining irrevocable so long as the Secured Obligations remain
unpaid and until the commitments relating thereto shall have been terminated. Each Grantor hereby agrees that a carbon,
photographic or other reproduction of this Domestic Security Agreement or any such financing statement is sufficient for
filing as a financing statement by the Administrative Agent without notice thereof to such Grantor wherever the
Administrative Agent may in its sole discretion desire to file the same. In the event for any reason the law of any jurisdiction
other than New York becomes or is applicable to the Collateral of any Grantor or any part thereof, or to any of the Secured
Obligations, such Grantor agrees to execute and deliver all such instruments and to do all such other things as the
Administrative Agent in its sole discretion reasonably deems necessary, appropriate or convenient to preserve, protect and
enforce the security interests of the Administrative Agent under the law of such other jurisdiction (and, if a Grantor shall fail
to do so promptly upon the request of the Administrative Agent, then the Administrative Agent may execute any and all such
requested documents on behalf of such Grantor pursuant to the power of attorney granted hereinabove). If any Collateral is in
the possession or control of a Grantor’s agents and the Administrative Agent so requests, such Grantor agrees to notify such
agents in writing of the Administrative Agent’s security interest therein and, upon the Administrative Agent’s request,
instruct them to hold all such Collateral for the account of the holders of the Secured Obligations, subject to the
Administrative Agent’s instructions. Each Grantor agrees to mark its books and records to reflect the security interest of the
Administrative Agent in the Collateral.

 
(e)           Control. Execute and deliver all agreements, assignments, instruments or other documents as the

Administrative Agent shall reasonably request for the purpose of obtaining and maintaining control within the meaning of the
UCC with respect to any Collateral consisting of Deposit Accounts, Investment Property, Letter-of-Credit Rights and
Electronic Chattel Paper.

 
(f)            Collateral held by Warehouseman, Bailee, etc. If any Collateral is at any time in the possession or control

of a warehouseman, bailee, agent or processor of such Grantor, (i) notify the Administrative Agent of such possession or
control, (ii) notify such Person of the Administrative Agent’s security interest in such Collateral, (iii) instruct such Person to
hold all such Collateral for the Administrative Agent’s account and subject to the Administrative Agent’s instructions and
(iv) use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain an acknowledgment from such Person that it is holding such Collateral for
the benefit of the Administrative Agent.

 
(g)           Treatment of Accounts. Not grant or extend the time for payment of any Account, or compromise or settle

any Account for less than the full amount thereof, or release any Person or property, in whole or in part, from payment
thereof, or allow any credit or discount thereon, in each
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case other than as normal and customary in the ordinary course of a Grantor’s business or as required by law.

 
(h)           Covenants Relating to Copyrights.

 
(i)            Not do any act or knowingly omit to do any act whereby any material Copyright may become

invalidated and (A) not do any act, or knowingly omit to do any act, whereby any material Copyright may become
injected into the public domain; (B) notify the Administrative Agent immediately if it knows that any material
Copyright may become injected into the public domain or of any materially adverse determination or development
(including, without limitation, the institution of, or any such determination or development in, any court or tribunal
in the United States or any other country) regarding a Grantor’s ownership of any such material Copyright or its
validity; (C) take all necessary steps as it shall deem appropriate under the circumstances, to maintain and pursue
each application (and to obtain the relevant registration) of each material Copyright owned by a Grantor and to
maintain each registration of each material Copyright owned by a Grantor including, without limitation, filing of
applications for renewal where necessary; and (D) promptly notify the Administrative Agent of any infringement of
any material Copyright of a Grantor of which it becomes aware and take such actions as it shall reasonably deem
appropriate under the circumstances to protect such Copyright, including, where appropriate, the bringing of suit for
infringement, seeking injunctive relief and seeking to recover any and all damages for such infringement.

 
(ii)           Not make any assignment or agreement in conflict with the security interest in the Copyrights of

each Grantor hereunder (other than in connection with a Permitted Lien or as otherwise provided in the Credit
Agreement).

 
(i)            Covenants Relating to Patents and Trademarks.

 
(i)            (A) Continue to use each material Trademark on each and every trademark class of goods

applicable to its current line as reflected in its current catalogs, brochures and price lists in order to maintain such
Trademark in full force free from any claim of abandonment for non-use, (B) maintain as in the past the quality of
products and services offered under such Trademark, (C) employ such Trademark with the appropriate notice of
registration, if applicable, (D) not adopt or use any mark that is confusingly similar or a colorable imitation of such
Trademark unless the Administrative Agent, for the ratable benefit of the holders of the Secured Obligations, shall
obtain a perfected security interest in such mark pursuant to this Domestic Security Agreement, and (E) not (and not
permit any licensee or sublicensee thereof to) do any act or knowingly omit to do any act whereby any such
Trademark may become invalidated.

 
(ii)           Not do any act, or omit to do any act, whereby any material Patent may become abandoned or

dedicated.
 

(iii)          Notify the Administrative Agent and the holders of the Secured Obligations immediately if it
knows that any application or registration relating to any material Patent or Trademark may become abandoned or
dedicated, or of any materially adverse determination or development (including, without limitation, the institution
of, or any such determination or development in, any proceeding in the United States Patent and Trademark Office
or any court or tribunal in any country) regarding a Grantor’s ownership of any material Patent or Trademark or its
right to register the same or to keep and maintain the same.
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(iv)          Whenever a Grantor, either by itself or through an agent, employee, licensee or designee, shall

file an application for the registration of any Patent or Trademark with the United States Patent and Trademark
Office or any similar office or agency in any other country or any political subdivision thereof, such Grantor shall
report such filing to the Administrative Agent within five Business Days after the last day of the fiscal quarter in
which such filing occurs. Upon request of the Administrative Agent, a Grantor shall execute and deliver any and all
agreements, instruments, documents and papers as the Administrative Agent may reasonably request to evidence the
security interest of the Administrative Agent and the holders of the Secured Obligations in any material Patent or
Trademark and the goodwill and general intangibles of a Grantor relating thereto or represented thereby.

 
(v)           Take all reasonable and necessary steps, including, without limitation, in any proceeding before

the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or any similar office or agency in any other country or any political
subdivision thereof, to maintain and pursue each application (and to obtain the relevant registration) and to maintain
each registration of each material Patent and Trademark, including, without limitation, filing of applications for
renewal, affidavits of use and affidavits of incontestability.

 
(vi)          Promptly notify the Administrative Agent and the holders of the Secured Obligations after it

learns that any material Patent or Trademark included in the Collateral is infringed, misappropriated or diluted by a
third party and promptly sue for infringement, misappropriation or dilution, to seek injunctive relief where
appropriate and to recover any and all damages for such infringement, misappropriation or dilution, or to take such
other actions as it shall reasonably deem appropriate under the circumstances to protect such Patent or Trademark.

 
(vii)         Not make any assignment or agreement in conflict with the security interest in the Patents or

Trademarks of each Grantor hereunder (other than in connection with a Permitted Lien or as otherwise provided in
the Credit Agreement).

 
(j)            Insurance. Insure, repair and replace the Collateral of such Grantor as set forth in (and to the extent

required by) the Credit Agreement. All insurance proceeds shall be subject to the security interest of the Administrative
Agent hereunder.

 
(k)           Commercial Tort Claims.

 
(i)            Promptly notify the Administrative Agent in writing of the initiation of any Commercial Tort

Claim before any Governmental Authority by or in favor of such Grantor or any of its Subsidiaries reasonably
expected by GFI to result in an award in excess of $1,000,000.

 
(ii)           Execute and deliver such statements, documents and notices and do and cause to be done all such

things as the Administrative Agent may reasonably deem necessary, appropriate or convenient, or as are required by
law, to create, perfect and maintain the Administrative Agent’s security interest in any Commercial Tort Claim.

 
6.             Advances by Administrative Agent. On failure of any Grantor to perform any of the covenants and agreements contained herein, the

Administrative Agent may, at its sole option and in its sole discretion, upon notice to the Grantors, perform the same and in so doing may expend such sums as
the Administrative Agent may reasonably deem advisable in the performance thereof, including, without limitation, the payment of any insurance premiums, the
payment of any taxes, a payment to obtain a release
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of a Lien or potential Lien (other than a Permitted Lien), expenditures made in defending against any adverse claim and all other
expenditures that the Administrative Agent may make for the protection of the security hereof or that may be compelled to make by
operation of law. All such sums and amounts so expended shall be repayable by the Grantors on a joint and several basis (subject to
Section 23 hereof) promptly upon timely notice thereof and demand therefor, shall constitute additional Secured Obligations and shall
bear interest from the date said amounts are expended at the Default Rate. No such performance of any covenant or agreement by the
Administrative Agent on behalf of any Grantor, and no such advance or expenditure therefor, shall relieve the Grantors of any default
under the terms of this Domestic Security Agreement, the other Loan Documents or any other documents relating to the Secured
Obligations. The Administrative Agent may make any payment hereby authorized in accordance with any bill, statement or estimate
procured from the appropriate public office or holder of the claim to be discharged without inquiry into the accuracy of such bill,
statement or estimate or into the validity of any tax assessment, sale, forfeiture, tax lien, title or claim except to the extent such
payment is being contested in good faith by a Grantor in appropriate proceedings and against which adequate reserves are being
maintained in accordance with GAAP.

 
7.             Remedies.
 
(a)           General Remedies. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and during the continuation thereof, the

Administrative Agent shall have, in addition to the rights and remedies provided herein, in the Loan Documents, in any other
documents relating to the Secured Obligations, or by law (including, without limitation, levy of attachment and garnishment), the
rights and remedies of a secured party under the UCC of the jurisdiction applicable to the affected Collateral and, further, the
Administrative Agent may, with or without judicial process or the aid and assistance of others, (i) enter on any premises on which any
of the Collateral may be located and, without resistance or interference by the Grantors, take possession of the Collateral, (ii)  dispose
of any Collateral on any such premises, (iii) require the Grantors to assemble and make available to the Administrative Agent at the
expense of the Grantors any Collateral at any place and time designated by the Administrative Agent that is reasonably convenient to
both parties, (iv) remove any Collateral from any such premises for the purpose of effecting sale or other disposition thereof, and/or
(v) without demand and without advertisement, notice, hearing or process of law, all of which each of the Grantors hereby waives to
the fullest extent permitted by law, at any place and time or times, sell and deliver any or all Collateral held by or for it at public or
private sale, by one or more contracts, in one or more parcels, for cash, upon credit or otherwise, at such prices and upon such terms as
the Administrative Agent deems advisable, in its sole discretion (subject to any and all mandatory legal requirements). Each of the
Grantors acknowledges that any private sale referenced above may be at prices and on terms less favorable to the seller than the prices
and terms that might have been obtained at a public sale and agrees that such private sale shall be deemed to have been made in a
commercially reasonable manner. Neither the Administrative Agent’s compliance with applicable law nor its disclaimer of warranties
relating to the Collateral shall be considered to adversely affect the commercial reasonableness of any sale. In addition to all other
sums due the Administrative Agent and the holders of the Secured Obligations with respect to the Secured Obligations, the Grantors
shall pay the Administrative Agent and each of the holders of the Secured Obligations all reasonable documented costs and expenses
incurred by the Administrative Agent or any such holder of the Secured Obligations, including Attorney Costs and court costs, in
obtaining or liquidating the Collateral, in enforcing payment of the Secured Obligations, or in the prosecution or defense of any action
or proceeding by or against the Administrative Agent or the holders of the Secured Obligations or the Grantors concerning any matter
arising out of or connected with this Domestic Security Agreement, any Collateral or the Secured Obligations, including, without
limitation, any of the foregoing arising in, arising under or related to a case under the Debtor Relief Laws. To the extent the rights of
notice cannot be legally waived hereunder, each Grantor agrees that any requirement of reasonable notice shall be met if such notice is
personally served on or mailed, postage prepaid, to GFI in accordance with the notice provisions of Section 11.02 of the Credit
Agreement at least ten Business Days before the time of sale or other event giving rise to the requirement of such notice. The
Administrative Agent shall not be obligated to make any sale or other disposition of the Collateral regardless of notice having been
given. To the extent permitted by law, any holder of the Secured

 
10

Source: GFI Group Inc., 10-K, March 24, 2006



 
Obligations may be a purchaser at any such sale. To the extent permitted by applicable law, each of the Grantors hereby waives all of
its rights of redemption with respect to any such sale. Subject to the provisions of applicable law, the Administrative Agent and the
holders of the Secured Obligations may postpone or cause the postponement of the sale of all or any portion of the Collateral by
announcement at the time and place of such sale, and such sale may, without further notice, to the extent permitted by law, be made at
the time and place to which the sale was postponed, or the Administrative Agent may further postpone such sale by announcement
made at such time and place.

 
(b)           Remedies relating to Accounts. Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and during the continuation thereof,

whether or not the Administrative Agent has exercised any or all of its rights and remedies hereunder, (i) each Grantor will promptly
upon request of the Administrative Agent instruct all account debtors to remit all payments in respect of Accounts to a mailing
location selected by the Administrative Agent and (ii) the Administrative Agent shall have the right to enforce any Grantor’s rights
against its customers and account debtors, and the Administrative Agent or its designee may notify any Grantor’s customers and
account debtors that the Accounts of such Grantor have been assigned to the Administrative Agent or of the Administrative Agent’s
security interest therein, and may (either in its own name or in the name of a Grantor or both) demand, collect (including without
limitation by way of a lockbox arrangement), receive, take receipt for, sell, sue for, compound, settle, compromise and give
acquittance for any and all amounts due or to become due on any Account, and, in the Administrative Agent’s discretion, file any
claim or take any other action or proceeding to protect and realize upon the security interest of the holders of the Secured Obligations
in the Accounts. Each Grantor acknowledges and agrees that the Proceeds of its Accounts remitted to or on behalf of the
Administrative Agent in accordance with the provisions hereof shall be solely for the Administrative Agent’s own convenience and
that such Grantor shall not have any right, title or interest in such Accounts or in any such other amounts except as expressly provided
herein. The Administrative Agent and the holders of the Secured Obligations shall have no liability or responsibility to any Grantor for
acceptance of a check, draft or other order for payment of money bearing the legend “payment in full” or words of similar import or
any other restrictive legend or endorsement or be responsible for determining the correctness of any remittance. Each Grantor hereby
agrees to indemnify the Administrative Agent and the holders of the Secured Obligations from and against all liabilities, damages,
losses, actions, claims, judgments, costs, expenses, charges and Attorney Costs suffered or incurred by the Administrative Agent or
the holders of the Secured Obligations (each, an “Indemnified Party”) because of the maintenance of the foregoing arrangements
except as relating to or arising out of the gross negligence or willful misconduct of an Indemnified Party or its partners, officers,
employees or agents. In the case of any investigation, litigation or other proceeding, the foregoing indemnity shall be effective
whether or not such investigation, litigation or proceeding is brought by a Grantor, its directors, shareholders or creditors or an
Indemnified Party or any other Person or any other Indemnified Party is otherwise a party thereto.

 
(c)           Access. In addition to the rights and remedies hereunder, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default and during the

continuation thereof, the Administrative Agent shall have the right to enter and remain upon the various premises of the Grantors
without cost or charge to the Administrative Agent, and use the same, together with materials, supplies, books and records of the
Grantors for the purpose of collecting and liquidating the Collateral, or for preparing for sale and conducting the sale of the Collateral,
whether by foreclosure, auction or otherwise. In addition, the Administrative Agent may remove Collateral, or any part thereof, from
such premises and/or any records with respect thereto, in order to effectively collect or liquidate such Collateral.

 
(d)           Nonexclusive Nature of Remedies. Failure by the Administrative Agent or the holders of the Secured Obligations to

exercise any right, remedy or option under this Domestic Security Agreement, any other Loan Document, any other documents
relating to the Secured Obligations, or as provided by law, or any delay by the Administrative Agent or the holders of the Secured
Obligations in exercising the same, shall not operate as a waiver of any such right, remedy or option. No waiver hereunder shall be
effective unless it is in writing, signed by the party against whom such waiver is sought to be enforced and then only to the extent
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specifically stated, which in the case of the Administrative Agent or the holders of the Secured Obligations shall only be granted as
provided herein. To the extent permitted by law, neither the Administrative Agent, the holders of the Secured Obligations, nor any
party acting as attorney for the Administrative Agent or the holders of the Secured Obligations, shall be liable hereunder for any acts
or omissions or for any error of judgment or mistake of fact or law other than their gross negligence or willful misconduct hereunder.
The rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent and the holders of the Secured Obligations under this Domestic Security
Agreement shall be cumulative and not exclusive of any other right or remedy that the Administrative Agent or the holders of the
Secured Obligations may have.

 
(e)           Retention of Collateral. To the extent permitted under applicable law, in addition to the rights and remedies

hereunder, upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default, the Administrative Agent may, after providing the
notices required by Sections 9-620 and 9-621 of the UCC or otherwise complying with the requirements of applicable law of the
relevant jurisdiction, accept or retain all or any portion of the Collateral in satisfaction of the Secured Obligations. Unless and until the
Administrative Agent shall have provided such notices, however, the Administrative Agent shall not be deemed to have accepted or
retained any Collateral in satisfaction of any Secured Obligations for any reason.

 
(f)            Deficiency. In the event that the proceeds of any sale, collection or realization are insufficient to pay all amounts to

which the Administrative Agent or the holders of the Secured Obligations are legally entitled, the Grantors shall be jointly and
severally liable for the deficiency (subject to Section 23 hereof), together with interest thereon at the Default Rate, together with the
costs of collection and Attorney Costs. Any surplus remaining after the full payment and satisfaction of the Secured Obligations shall
be returned to the Grantors or to whomsoever a court of competent jurisdiction shall determine to be entitled thereto.

 
8.             Rights of the Administrative Agent.
 
(a)           Power of Attorney. In addition to other powers of attorney contained herein, each Grantor hereby designates and

appoints the Administrative Agent, on behalf of the holders of the Secured Obligations, and each of its designees or agents, as
attorney-in-fact of such Grantor, irrevocably and with power of substitution, with authority to take any or all of the following actions
upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default:

 
(i)            to demand, collect, settle, compromise and adjust, and give discharges and releases concerning the

Collateral, all as the Administrative Agent may reasonably deem appropriate;
 
(ii)           to commence and prosecute any actions at any court for the purposes of collecting any of the Collateral

and enforcing any other right in respect thereof;
 
(iii)          to defend, settle or compromise any action brought and, in connection therewith, give such discharge or

release as the Administrative Agent may reasonably deem appropriate;
 
(iv)          to receive, open and dispose of mail addressed to a Grantor and endorse checks, notes, drafts, acceptances,

money orders, bills of lading, warehouse receipts or other instruments or documents evidencing payment, shipment or storage
of the goods giving rise to the Collateral on behalf of and in the name of such Grantor, or securing, or relating to such
Collateral;

 
(v)           to pay or discharge taxes, liens, security interests or other encumbrances levied or placed on or threatened

against the Collateral;
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(vi)          to direct any parties liable for any payment in connection with any of the Collateral to make payment of

any and all monies due and to become due thereunder directly to the Administrative Agent or as the Administrative Agent
shall direct;

 
(vii)         to receive payment of and receipt for any and all monies, claims, and other amounts due and to become

due at any time in respect of or arising out of any Collateral;
 
(viii)        to sell, assign, transfer, make any agreement in respect of, or otherwise deal with or exercise rights in

respect of, any Collateral or the goods or services that have given rise thereto, as fully and completely as though the
Administrative Agent were the absolute owner thereof for all purposes;

 
(ix)           to adjust and settle claims under any insurance policy relating thereto;
 
(x)            to execute and deliver all assignments, conveyances, statements, financing statements, renewal financing

statements, security and pledge agreements, affidavits, notices and other agreements, instruments and documents that the
Administrative Agent may reasonably deem appropriate in order to perfect and maintain the security interests and liens
granted in this Domestic Security Agreement and in order to fully consummate all of the transactions contemplated therein;

 
(xi)           to institute any foreclosure proceedings that the Administrative Agent may reasonably deem appropriate;

and
 
(xii)          to do and perform all such other acts and things as the Administrative Agent may reasonably deem

appropriate in connection with the Collateral.
 

This power of attorney is a power coupled with an interest and shall be irrevocable for so long as any of the Secured
Obligations shall remain outstanding and until all of the commitments relating thereto shall have been terminated. The Administrative
Agent shall be under no duty to exercise or withhold the exercise of any of the rights, powers, privileges and options expressly or
implicitly granted to the Administrative Agent in this Domestic Security Agreement, and shall not be liable for any failure to do so or
any delay in doing so. The Administrative Agent shall not be liable for any act or omission or for any error of judgment or any mistake
of fact or law in its individual capacity or its capacity as attorney-in-fact except acts or omissions resulting from its gross negligence
or willful misconduct. This power of attorney is conferred on the Administrative Agent solely to protect, preserve and realize upon its
security interest in the Collateral.

 
(b)           The Administrative Agent’s Duty of Care. Other than the exercise of reasonable care to assure the safe custody of

the Collateral while being held by the Administrative Agent hereunder, the Administrative Agent shall have no duty or liability to
preserve rights pertaining thereto, it being understood and agreed that the Grantors shall be responsible for preservation of all rights in
the Collateral, and the Administrative Agent shall be relieved of all responsibility for the Collateral upon surrendering it or tendering
the surrender of it to the Grantors. The Administrative Agent shall be deemed to have exercised reasonable care in the custody and
preservation of the Collateral in its possession if such Collateral is accorded treatment substantially equal to that which the
Administrative Agent accords its own property, which shall be no less than the treatment employed by a reasonable and prudent agent
in the industry, it being understood that the Administrative Agent shall not have responsibility for taking any necessary steps to
preserve rights against any parties with respect to any of the Collateral. In the event of a public or private sale of Collateral pursuant to
Section 7 hereof, the Administrative Agent shall have no obligation to clean, repair or otherwise prepare the Collateral for sale.
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9.             Rights of Required Lenders. All rights of the Administrative Agent hereunder, if not exercised by the Administrative Agent, may be

exercised by the Required Lenders. If such rights are so exercised by the Required Lenders, then the Required Lenders shall have all of the rights, privileges and
indemnities afforded the Administrative Agent in the exercise of such rights.

 
10.           Application of Proceeds. Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default, any payments in respect of the Secured

Obligations and any proceeds of the Collateral, when received by the Administrative Agent or any of the holders of the Secured Obligations in cash or its
equivalent, will be applied in reduction of the Secured Obligations in the order set forth in the Credit Agreement or other document relating to the Secured
Obligations, and each Grantor irrevocably waives the right to direct the application of such payments and proceeds and acknowledges and agrees that the
Administrative Agent shall have the continuing and exclusive right to apply and reapply any and all such payments and proceeds in the Administrative Agent’s
sole discretion, notwithstanding any entry to the contrary upon any of its books and records.

 
11.           Continuing Agreement.
 
(a)           This Domestic Security Agreement shall be a continuing agreement in every respect and shall remain in full force

and effect so long as any of the Secured Obligations remains outstanding and until all of the commitments relating thereto have been
terminated (other than any obligations with respect to the indemnities set forth in the Loan Documents). Upon such payment and
termination, this Domestic Security Agreement and the liens and security interests of the Administrative Agent hereunder shall be
automatically terminated and the Administrative Agent shall, upon the request and at the expense of the Grantors, execute and deliver
all UCC termination statements and/or other documents reasonably requested by the Grantors evidencing such termination.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, all releases and indemnities provided hereunder shall survive termination of this Domestic Security
Agreement.

 
(b)           This Domestic Security Agreement shall continue to be effective or be automatically reinstated, as the case may be,

if at any time payment, in whole or in part, of any of the Secured Obligations is rescinded or must otherwise be restored or returned by
the Administrative Agent or any holder of the Secured Obligations as a preference, fraudulent conveyance or otherwise under any
bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law, all as though such payment had not been made; provided that in the event payment of all or any
part of the Secured Obligations is rescinded or must be restored or returned, all reasonable costs and expenses (including Attorney
Costs) incurred by the Administrative Agent or any holder of the Secured Obligations in defending and enforcing such reinstatement
shall be deemed to be included as a part of the Secured Obligations.

 
12.           Amendments and Waivers. This Domestic Security Agreement and the provisions hereof may not be amended, waived, modified, changed,

discharged or terminated except as set forth in Section 11.01 of the Credit Agreement.
 
13.           Successors in Interest. This Domestic Security Agreement shall create a continuing security interest in the Collateral and shall be binding

upon each Grantor, its successors and assigns, and shall inure, together with the rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent and the holders of the Secured
Obligations hereunder, to the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the holders of the Secured Obligations and their successors and permitted assigns;
provided, however, none of the Grantors may assign its rights or delegate its duties hereunder without the prior written consent of the requisite Lenders under the
Credit Agreement. To the fullest extent permitted by law, each Grantor hereby releases the Administrative Agent and each holder of the Secured Obligations,
their respective successors and assigns and their respective officers, attorneys, employees and agents, from any liability for any act or omission or any error of
judgment or mistake of fact or of law relating to this Domestic Security Agreement or the Collateral, except for any
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liability arising from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Administrative Agent or such holder, or their respective
officers, attorneys, employees or agents.

 
14.           Notices. All notices required or permitted to be given under this Domestic Security Agreement shall be given as provided in Section 11.02

of the Credit Agreement.
 
15.           Counterparts. This Domestic Security Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which where so executed and

delivered shall be an original, but all of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. It shall not be necessary in making proof of this Domestic Security
Agreement to produce or account for more than one such counterpart.

 
16.           Headings. The headings of the sections and subsections hereof are provided for convenience only and shall not in any way affect the

meaning or construction of any provision of this Domestic Security Agreement.
 
17.           Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Venue.
 
(a)           THIS DOMESTIC SECURITY AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK APPLICABLE TO AGREEMENTS MADE AND TO BE
PERFORMED ENTIRELY WITHIN SUCH STATE; PROVIDED THAT THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND EACH
LENDER SHALL RETAIN ALL RIGHTS ARISING UNDER FEDERAL LAW.

 
(b)           ANY LEGAL ACTION OR PROCEEDING WITH RESPECT TO THIS DOMESTIC SECURITY AGREEMENT

OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT MAY BE BROUGHT IN THE COURTS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK SITTING IN
NEW YORK, NEW YORK OR OF THE UNITED STATES FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF SUCH STATE, AND BY
EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THIS DOMESTIC SECURITY AGREEMENT, EACH GRANTOR AND THE
ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, ON BEHALF OF ITSELF AND EACH LENDER, CONSENTS, FOR ITSELF AND IN RESPECT
OF ITS PROPERTY, TO THE NON-EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THOSE COURTS. EACH GRANTOR AND THE
ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, ON BEHALF OF ITSELF AND EACH LENDER, IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY OBJECTION,
INCLUDING ANY OBJECTION TO THE LAYING OF VENUE OR BASED ON THE GROUNDS OF FORUM NON
CONVENIENS, WHICH IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE BRINGING OF ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN
SUCH JURISDICTION IN RESPECT OF THIS DOMESTIC SECURITY AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT
OR OTHER DOCUMENT RELATED THERETO. EACH GRANTOR AND THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, ON BEHALF OF
ITSELF AND EACH LENDER, WAIVES PERSONAL SERVICE OF ANY SUMMONS, COMPLAINT OR OTHER PROCESS,
WHICH MAY BE MADE BY ANY OTHER MEANS PERMITTED BY THE LAW OF SUCH STATE.

 
18.           Waiver of Right to Trial by Jury.
 

EACH PARTY TO THIS DOMESTIC SECURITY AGREEMENT HEREBY EXPRESSLY WAIVES, TO THE
FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM, DEMAND,
ACTION OR CAUSE OF ACTION ARISING UNDER THIS DOMESTIC SECURITY AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN
DOCUMENT OR IN ANY WAY CONNECTED WITH OR RELATED OR INCIDENTAL TO THE DEALINGS OF THE
PARTIES HERETO OR ANY OF THEM WITH RESPECT TO THIS DOMESTIC SECURITY AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER
LOAN DOCUMENT, OR THE TRANSACTIONS RELATED THERETO, IN EACH CASE WHETHER NOW EXISTING OR
HEREAFTER ARISING, AND WHETHER FOUNDED IN CONTRACT OR TORT OR OTHERWISE;

 
15

Source: GFI Group Inc., 10-K, March 24, 2006



 
AND EACH PARTY HEREBY AGREES AND CONSENTS THAT ANY SUCH CLAIM, DEMAND, ACTION OR CAUSE OF
ACTION SHALL BE DECIDED BY COURT TRIAL WITHOUT A JURY, AND THAT ANY PARTY TO THIS DOMESTIC
SECURITY AGREEMENT MAY FILE AN ORIGINAL COUNTERPART OR A COPY OF THIS SECTION WITH ANY COURT
AS WRITTEN EVIDENCE OF THE CONSENT OF THE SIGNATORIES HERETO TO THE WAIVER OF THEIR RIGHT TO
TRIAL BY JURY. EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY
OTHER PERSON HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PERSON WOULD NOT, IN
THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND
THE OTHER PARTIES HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS DOMESTIC SECURITY AGREEMENT
AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS
IN THIS SECTION.

 
19.           Severability. If any provision of this Domestic Security Agreement is determined to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable, such provision shall

be fully severable and the remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect and shall be construed without giving effect to the illegal, invalid or
unenforceable provisions.

 
20.           Entirety. This Domestic Security Agreement, the other Loan Documents and the other documents relating to the Secured Obligations

represent the entire agreement of the parties hereto and thereto, and supersede all prior agreements and understandings, oral or written, if any, including any
commitment letters or correspondence relating to the Loan Documents, any other documents relating to the Secured Obligations, or the transactions contemplated
herein and therein.

 
21.           Survival. All representations and warranties of the Grantors hereunder shall survive the execution and delivery of this Domestic Security

Agreement, the other Loan Documents and the other documents relating to the Secured Obligations, the delivery of the Notes and the extension of credit
thereunder or in connection therewith.

 
22.           Other Security. To the extent that any of the Secured Obligations are now or hereafter secured by property other than the Collateral

(including, without limitation, real property and securities owned by a Grantor), or by a guarantee, endorsement or property of any other Person, then the
Administrative Agent shall have the right to proceed against such other property, guarantee or endorsement upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, and the
Administrative Agent shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to determine which rights, security, liens, security interests or remedies the Administrative Agent
shall at any time pursue, relinquish, subordinate, modify or take with respect thereto, without in any way modifying or affecting any of them or the Secured
Obligations or any of the rights of the Administrative Agent or the holders of the Secured Obligations under this Domestic Security Agreement, under any of the
other Loan Documents or under any other document relating to the Secured Obligations.

 
23.           Joint and Several Obligations of Grantors.
 
(a)           Subject to subsection (c) of this Section 23, each of the Grantors is accepting joint and several liability hereunder in

consideration of the financial accommodation to be provided by the holders of the Secured Obligations, for the mutual benefit, directly
and indirectly, of each of the Grantors and in consideration of the undertakings of each of the Grantors to accept joint and several
liability for the obligations of each of them.

 
(b)           Subject to subsection (c) of this Section 23, each of the Grantors jointly and severally hereby irrevocably and

unconditionally accepts, not merely as a surety but also as a co-debtor, joint and several liability with the other Grantors with respect
to the payment and performance of all of the Secured Obligations arising under this Domestic Security Agreement, the other Loan
Documents and any other
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documents relating to the Secured Obligations, it being the intention of the parties hereto that all the Secured Obligations shall be the
joint and several obligations of each of the Grantors without preferences or distinction among them.

 
(c)           Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary contained herein, in any other of the Loan Documents or in any other

documents relating to the Secured Obligations, the obligations of each Grantor under the Credit Agreement, the other Loan
Documents and the other documents relating to the Secured Obligations shall be limited to an aggregate amount equal to the largest
amount that would not render such obligations subject to avoidance under Section 548 of the United States Bankruptcy Code or any
comparable provisions of any applicable state law.

 
[Signature Pages Follow]
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Each of the parties hereto has caused a counterpart of this Domestic Security Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as

of the date first above written.
 

GRANTORS: GFI GROUP INC.,
 

a Delaware corporation
   
 

By: /s/ James A. Peers
 

 

Name: James A. Peers
 

Title :Chief Financial Officer
   
 

GFI GROUP LLC,
 

a New York limited liability company
  
 

By: /s/ James A. Peers
 

 

Name: James A. Peers
 

Title :Chief Financial Officer
   
 

GFINET INC.,
 

a Delaware corporation
   
 

By: /s/ James A. Peers
 

 

Name: James A. Peers
 

Title :Chief Financial Officer
   
 

GFI BROKERS LLC,
 

a Delaware limited liability company
  
 

By: /s/ James A. Peers
 

 

Name: James A. Peers
 

Title :Chief Financial Officer
   
 

INTERACTIVE VENTURES LLC,
 

a Delaware limited liability company
  
  
 

By: /s/ James A. Peers
 

 

Name: James A. Peers
 

Title :Chief Financial Officer
  
 

FENICS SOFTWARE INC.,
 

a Delaware corporation
   
 

By: /s/ James A. Peers
 

 

Name: James A. Peers
 

Title :Chief Financial Officer
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Accepted and agreed to as of the date first above written.
 
Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent
 

By: /s/ Sean Cassidy
 

Name: Sean Cassidy
Title: Senior Vice President
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COMMERCIAL TORT CLAIMS
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SCHEDULE 4(a)

 
LEGAL NAME, STATE OF FORMATION, TAXPAYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER, ORGANIZATION IDENTIFICATION

NUMBER AND CERTAIN STRUCTURAL CHANGES
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EXHIBIT 5(d)(i)

 
NOTICE

 
OF

 
GRANT OF SECURITY INTEREST

 
IN
 

COPYRIGHTS
 

United States Copyright Office
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:
 

Please be advised that pursuant to the Amended and Restated Domestic Security Agreement dated as of February 24, 2006
(as the same may be amended, modified, extended or restated from time to time, the “Domestic Security Agreement”) by and among
the Grantors from time to time party thereto (each an “Grantor” and collectively, the “Grantors”) and Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent (the “Administrative Agent”) for the holders of the Secured Obligations referenced therein, the undersigned
Grantor has granted a continuing security interest in and continuing lien upon, the copyrights and copyright applications shown on
Schedule 1 attached hereto to the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the holders of the Secured Obligations.

 
The undersigned Grantor and the Administrative Agent, on behalf of the holders of the Secured Obligations, hereby

acknowledge and agree that the security interest in the copyrights and copyright applications set forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto
(i) may only be terminated in accordance with the terms of the Domestic Security Agreement and (ii) is not to be construed as an
assignment of any copyright or copyright application.
 

 

Very truly yours,
  
   
 

[Grantor]
  
 

By:
  

 

Name:
 

Title:
 
 
Acknowledged and Accepted:
 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Administrative Agent
 
By:

  

Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT 5(d)(ii)

 
NOTICE

 
OF

 
GRANT OF SECURITY INTEREST

 
IN
 

PATENTS
 

United States Patent and Trademark Office
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:
 

Please be advised that pursuant to the Amended and Restated Domestic Security Agreement dated as of February 24, 2006
(as the same may be amended, modified, extended or restated from time to time, the “Domestic Security Agreement”) by and among
the Grantors from time to time party thereto (each an “Grantor” and collectively, the “Grantors”) and Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent (the “Administrative Agent”) for the holders of the Secured Obligations referenced therein, the undersigned
Grantor has granted a continuing security interest in and continuing lien upon, the patents and patent applications set forth on
Schedule 1 attached hereto to the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the holders of the Secured Obligations.

 
The undersigned Grantor and the Administrative Agent, on behalf of the holders of the Secured Obligations, hereby

acknowledge and agree that the security interest in the patents and patent applications set forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto (i) may
only be terminated in accordance with the terms of the Domestic Security Agreement and (ii) is not to be construed as an assignment
of any patent or patent application.

 
 

Very truly yours,
  
   
 

[Grantor]
  
 

By:
  

 

Name:
 

Title:
 
 
Acknowledged and Accepted:
 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Administrative Agent
 
By:

  

Name:
Title:
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EXHIBIT 5(d)(iii)

 
NOTICE

 
OF

 
GRANT OF SECURITY INTEREST

 
IN
 

TRADEMARKS
 

United States Patent and Trademark Office
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:
 

Please be advised that pursuant to the Amended and Restated Domestic Security Agreement dated as of February 24, 2006
(as the same may be amended, modified, extended or restated from time to time, the “Domestic Security Agreement”) by and among
the Grantors from time to time party thereto (each an “Grantor” and collectively, the “Grantors”) and Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent (the “Administrative Agent”) for the holders of the Secured Obligations referenced therein, the undersigned
Grantor has granted a continuing security interest in and continuing lien upon, the trademarks and trademark applications set forth on
Schedule 1 attached hereto to the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the holders of the Secured Obligations.

 
The undersigned Grantor and the Administrative Agent, on behalf of the holders of the Secured Obligations, hereby

acknowledge and agree that the security interest in the trademarks and trademark applications set forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto
(i) may only be terminated in accordance with the terms of the Domestic Security Agreement and (ii) is not to be construed as an
assignment of any trademark or trademark application.

 
 

Very truly yours,
  
   
 

[Grantor]
  
 

By:
  

 

Name:
 

Title:
 
 
Acknowledged and Accepted:
 

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Administrative Agent
 
By:

  

Name:
Title:
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Exhibit 10.3.2
 
Supplemental Debenture
 
 
Dated     February 24, 2006
 
 
GFI Holdings Limited
(and others as Chargors)
 
Bank of America, N.A.
(as Administrative Agent)

 

Source: GFI Group Inc., 10-K, March 24, 2006
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Deed
 
Dated February 24, 2006
 
Between
 
(1)                                 The companies identified in Schedule 1 (each a Chargor and together the Chargors); and
 
(2)                                 Bank of America, N.A. as agent and trustee for the Secured Parties (the Administrative Agent) which expression shall

include all successor Administrative Agents appointed from time to time.
 
Recitals
 
A                                     This Deed is supplemental to a debenture dated 23 August 2004 (the Debenture) between the Chargors and the

Administrative Agent.
 
B                                       This Deed is a Foreign Security Agreement as defined in that certain credit agreement entered into as of 23 August 2004 as

amended and restated pursuant to the amended and restated credit agreement dated on or about the date of this Deed (the
Credit Agreement) among GFI Group, Inc., a Delaware corporation, GFI Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in
England and Wales, the Guarantors identified therein, the Lenders identified therein and Bank of America, N.A. as
Administrative Agent.

 
It is agreed
 

1                                       Definitions

 
Words and expressions defined in the Debenture shall have the same meanings in this Deed unless they are expressly defined
in it and, in addition, in this Deed:
 
Further Group Shares means the shares referred to in Schedule 2 (Further Group Shares) not otherwise mortgaged or
charged pursuant to the Debenture.
 
Further Related Rights means all dividends and other distributions paid or payable after today’s date in respect of all or any
Further Group Shares or Investments and all stocks, shares, securities (and the dividends or interest on them), rights, money
or property accruing or offered at any time by way of redemption, bonus, preference, option rights or otherwise to or in
respect of them or in substitution or exchange for any of them.
 
Further Security Shares means the Further Group Shares and the Investments (in each case) together with their Further
Related Rights and, in the case of a particular Chargor, means such of the Further Group Shares and Investments as are held
by it at the relevant time together with their Further Related Rights.
 
Investments all or any stocks, shares (other than any Group Shares or Further Group Shares), bonds and securities of any
kind (marketable or otherwise), negotiable instruments and warrants and any other financial instruments (as defined in the
Regulations).
 
Regulations means the Financial Collateral Arrangements (No 2) Regulations 2003 (S.I. 2003/3226) or equivalent legislation
in any applicable jurisdiction bringing into effect Directive 2002/47/EC on financial collateral arrangements, and Regulation
means any of them.
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2                                       Creation of security

 

2.1                              Further Group Shares

 
The Chargors mortgage or (if or to the extent that this Deed does not take effect as a mortgage) charge by way of fixed
charge:
 
(a)           the Further Group Shares; and
 
(b)           all related Further Related Rights,
 
PROVIDED THAT:
 

(i)                                    until the occurrence of an Enforcement Event, all dividends and other distributions paid or payable as referred to
in paragraph (b) above may be paid directly to the relevant Chargor (in which case the Administrative Agent or its
nominee shall execute any necessary dividend mandate) and, if paid directly to the Administrative Agent shall be paid
promptly by it to the relevant Chargor; and

 

(ii)                                 subject to clause 5.4.3 of the Debenture until the occurrence of an Enforcement Event, all voting rights attaching
to the relevant Further Group Shares may be exercised by the relevant Chargor or, where the shares have been
registered in the name of the Administrative Agent or its nominee, as the relevant Chargor may direct in writing, and the
Administrative Agent and any nominee of the Administrative Agent in whose name such Further Group Shares are
registered shall execute any form of proxy or other document reasonably required in order for the relevant Chargor to do
so.

 

2.2                              Investments

 
The Chargors mortgage or (if or to the extent that this Deed does not take effect as a mortgage) charge by way of fixed
charge:
 

(a)                                  the Investments; and

 

(b)                                 all related Further Related Rights,

 
PROVIDED THAT:
 

(i)                                    until the occurrence of an Enforcement Event, all dividends and other distributions paid or payable as referred to
in paragraph (b) above may be paid directly to the relevant Chargor (in which case the Administrative Agent or its
nominee shall execute any necessary dividend mandate) and, if paid directly to the Administrative Agent shall be paid
promptly by it to the relevant Chargor; and

 

(ii)                                 subject to clause 5.4.3 of the Debenture until the occurrence of an Enforcement Event, all voting rights attaching
to the relevant Investments may be exercised by the relevant Chargor or, where the shares have been registered in the
name of the Administrative Agent or its nominee, as the relevant Chargor may direct in writing, and the Administrative
Agent and any nominee of the Administrative Agent in whose name such Investments are registered shall execute any
form of proxy or other document reasonably required in order for the relevant Chargor to do so.
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3                                       Security to be included in Debenture

 
For the purposes of this Deed and the Debenture and with effect from the date of this Deed, the property and assets of the
Chargors mortgaged, charged or assigned to the Administrative Agent (whether by way of legal mortgage, assignment or
fixed or floating charge) by or pursuant to this Deed shall form part of the Security Assets and references in the Debenture to
the security constituted or created by or pursuant to the Debenture shall be deemed to include the security created by or
pursuant to this Deed.
 

4                                       Further assurances

 

4.1                                Clauses 13 (Further Assurances) of the Debenture shall apply in relation to this Deed as if the reference in that clause to the
Debenture were a reference to this Deed.

 

4.2                                Clause 4.5 (Security Shares) and Clause 5.4 (Security Shares) of the Debenture shall apply in relation to this Deed as if the
references in those clauses to the Security Shares were a reference to the Further Security Shares and references in those clauses to the
Related Rights were a reference to the Further Related Rights.

 

5                                       Continuing Debenture

 
The Debenture shall continue in full force and effect as supplemented by this Deed.
 

6                                       Effect as a Deed

 
This Deed shall take effect as a deed even if it is signed under hand on behalf of the Administrative Agent.
 

7                                       Counterparts

 
This Deed may be executed in any number of counterparts, and this has the same effect as if the signatures on the
counterparts were on a single copy of this Deed.
 

8                                       Provisions severable

 
If, at any time, any provision of this Deed is or becomes invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any law, the
validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions will not in any way be affected or impaired.
 

9                                       Further provisions

 
The provisions of clauses 1.2 (Construction), 11 (Expenses and Indemnity), 15 (Continuing security), 19 (Notices) and 20
(Governing Law and Jurisdiction) of the Debenture shall apply to this Deed as they apply to the Debenture.
 

Executed as a deed and delivered on the date appearing at the beginning of this Deed.
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Schedule 1 – The Chargors
 

GFI Holdings Limited
 

 

   
Registered Number:

 
3405222

Jurisdiction of Incorporation:
 

England and Wales
   
Fenics Limited

 

 

   
Registered Number:

 
3027028

Jurisdiction of Incorporation:
 

England and Wales
   
Fenics Software Limited

 

 

   
Registered Number:

 
3108922

Jurisdiction of Incorporation:
 

England and Wales
   
GFINet Europe Limited

 

 

   
Registered Number:

 
3996781

Jurisdiction of Incorporation:
 

England and Wales
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Schedule 2 – Further Group Shares
 

Chargor
 

Company Name
 

Type of
Share

 
Number of Shares

 

GFI Holdings Limited
 

GFINet Europe Limited
 

Ordinary
 

4,000,201
 

GFI Holdings Limited
 

GFI Securities Limited
 

Ordinary
 

750,000
 

GFI Holdings Limited
 

GFI Brokers Limited
 

Ordinary
 

100
 

GFINet Europe Limited
 

GFINet UK Limited
 

Ordinary
 

101
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The Chargors
 

Executed as a deed by
 

GFI Holdings Limited
 

acting by two of its directors
 

or one director and its secretary /s/ Andy Herrtage
 

 

Director
  
 

/s/ Steve McMillan
 

 

Director
  
Executed as a deed by

 

Fenics Limited
 

acting by two of its directors
 

or one director and its secretary /s/ Andy Herrtage
 

 

Director
  
 

/s/ Steve McMillan
 

 

Director
  
Executed as a deed by

 

Fenics Software Limited
 

acting by two of its directors
 

or one director and its secretary /s/ Andy Herrtage
 

 

Director
  
 

/s/ Steve McMillan
 

 

Director
  
Executed as a deed by

 

GFINET Europe Limited
 

acting by two of its directors
 

or one director and its secretary /s/ Andy Herrtage
 

 

Director
  
 

/s/ Steve McMillan
 

 

Director
 
 
The Administrative Agent
 
Bank of America, N.A. as Administrative Agent
 

By: /s/ Sean W. Cassidy
 

   
Name: Sean W. Cassidy
 
Title: Senior Vice President
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Exhibit 23.1

Independent Auditor’s Consent

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-122905 on Form S-8 of our reports dated
March 22, 2006, relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule of GFI Group Inc., appearing in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K of GFI Group Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2005.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

New York, New York
March 22, 2006

Source: GFI Group Inc., 10-K, March 24, 2006



Exhibit 31.1

Certification

I, Michael Gooch, certify that:

1.                 I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of GFI Group Inc.;

2.                 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.                 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;

4.                 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a)               designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)              evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

c)               disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5.                 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a)               all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b)              any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: 
March 23,
2006
/s/ MICHAEL
GOOCH
Michael
Gooch
Chairman of
the Board,
Chief
Executive
Officer 
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Exhibit 31.2

Certification

I, James A. Peers, certify that:

1.                 I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of GFI Group Inc.;

2.                 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.                 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented
in this report;

4.                 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a)               designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)              evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on
such evaluation; and

c)               disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5.                 The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a)               all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b)              any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date:
March 23,
2006
/s/ JAMES
A. PEERS
James A.
Peers
Chief
Financial
Officer 
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Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of GFI Group Inc.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,  as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of GFI Group Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2005 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Michael Gooch, Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to the 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1.                The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.                The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date:
March 23,
2006
/s/ MICHAEL
GOOCH
Michael
Gooch
Chairman of
the Board
Chief
Executive
Officer 
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Exhibit 32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of GFI Group Inc.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,  as Adopted Pursuant to

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of GFI Group Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2005 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, James A. Peers, Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to the 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1.                The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2.                The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date:
March 23,
2006
/s/ JAMES
A. PEERS
James A.
Peers
Chief
Financial
Officer 

_______________________________________________
Created by 10KWizard     www.10KWizard.com
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